Jacqui Sinnott-Lacey
Chief Operating Officer
52 Derby Street
Ormskirk
West Lancashire
L39 2DF

Wednesday, 16 September 2020
TO: COUNCILLORS

D WEST, M NIXON, I ASHCROFT, R COOPER, S EVANS,
M MILLS, G OWEN, A OWENS, A SUTTON, D WESTLEY AND
D WHITTINGTON

Dear Councillor,
A meeting of the EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE will be held
VIRTUALLY on THURSDAY, 24 SEPTEMBER 2020 at 7.00 PM at which your attendance
is requested. A Skype meeting request will be sent to individual Members of the Executive
Overview & Scrutiny Committee. The meeting will also be available to view for members
of the public via a Webcast on the Council's website.
Yours faithfully

Jacqui Sinnott-Lacey
Chief Operating Officer
AGENDA
(Open to the Public)
1.

APOLOGIES

2.

MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE
To be apprised of any changes to the membership of the Committee in
accordance with Council Procedure Rule 4.

3.

URGENT BUSINESS, IF ANY, INTRODUCED BY THE CHAIRMAN
Note: No other business is permitted unless, by reason of special
circumstances, which shall be specified at the meeting, the Chairman
is of the opinion that the item(s) should be considered as a matter of
urgency.

4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
If a member requires advice on Declarations of Interest, he/she is
advised to contact the Legal and Democratic Services Manager in
advance of the meeting. (For the assistance of members a checklist
for use in considering their position on any particular item is included at
the end of this agenda sheet.)

5.

DECLARATIONS OF PARTY WHIP
In accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Committee Procedure Rule
16, Members must declare the existence of any Party Whip, and the
nature of it, when considering any matter in the following categories:
-

79 - 80

The review of any decision of the Cabinet or
The performance of any Member of the Cabinet

N.B. The Secretary of State believes whipping is incompatible with
Overview and Scrutiny.
6.

MINUTES
To receive as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 25
June 2020.

81 - 86

7.

PUBLIC SPEAKING
Residents of West Lancashire on giving notice, may address the
meeting to make representations on any item on the agenda except
where the public and press are to be excluded during consideration of
the item. The deadline for submissions is 10.00am on Friday 18
September 2020. A copy of the public speaking protocol and form to
be completed is attached.

87 - 92

8.

CALL IN ITEMS
There are no items under this heading.

9.

RELEVANT MINUTES OF CABINET
To scrutinise the following Minutes of Cabinet:
22 July 2020 (Extraordinary)
8 September 2020

9a

Extraordinary Cabinet - Minutes of the meeting held on 22 July 2020

93 - 98

9b

Cabinet - Minutes of the meeting held on 8 September 2020

99 - 104

10.

MEMBER DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION - REVIEW OF
MEMBERSHIP
To review and approve the revised membership of the Member
Development Commission to reflect the inclusion of a representative
from Our West Lancashire:(7 Members)
Labour:

(Chairman) Councillor C Dereli

(Vice Chairman) Councillor G Dowling
Councillor Y Gagen and I Moran
Conservative:

Councillors Mrs J Marshall and D O’Toole

Our West Lancashire: Councillor A Owens
11.

COUNCIL VISION & PLAN 2020/21 – 2022/23
To consider the report of the Corporate Director Transformation and
Resources.

105 - 136

12.

CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY AND ACTION PLAN 2030
To consider the report of the Corporate Director of Place and
Community.

137 - 192

13.

RISK MANAGEMENT
To consider the report of the Corporate Director of Transformation and
Resources.

193 - 212

14.

PLANNING FOR THE FUTURE WHITE PAPER AND
CONSULTATION ON CHANGES TO THE PLANNING SYSTEM
To consider the report of the Corporate Director of Place and
Community.

213 - 242

We can provide this document, upon request, on audiotape, in large print, in Braille
and in other languages.
MOBILE PHONES: These should be switched off or to ‘silent’ at all meetings.
For further information, please contact:Julia Brown on 01695 585065
Or email julia.brown@westlancs.gov.uk

REMOTE MEETINGS – GUIDANCE
This guidance is designed to assist members when attending remote
meetings.
The guidance should be read in conjunction with the Council's Remote
Meetings Protocol and Procedures Rules
General
1. If members wish to speak on a particular item it will assist the smooth
running of the remote meeting if they indicate to the Chairman their wish
to speak in advance of the meeting.
2. Please join the meeting no later than 15 minutes before the start of the
meeting to ensure that the technology is working correctly.
3. It is a requirement of the remote meetings regulations that any member
participating in a remote meeting must be able to be heard (and if
practicable also be seen) by all other members, officers and public
speakers participating in the meeting and, in turn, be able to hear (and if
practicable see) those persons.
4. It is also a requirement that the meeting be live broadcast and so any
camera (video-feed) should show a non-descript background and
members should take care to ensure that no exempt or confidential
papers can be seen in the video-feed.
5. At the start of the meeting please ensure that your microphone is muted
and your video feed (if available on your device) is paused. Please
remember to unmute your microphone (and unpause your video feed if
available) when invited to speak by the Chairman!
6. At the start of the meeting the Member Services Officer will read out which
Members and Officers are present. The attendance of members will be
recorded.
7. Please remember to mute your mic/pause your video feed when you’re
not talking.

8. Only speak when invited to by the Chair.
9. Please state your name before you make an address.
10. If you’re referring to a specific page or slide mention the page or slide
number.
11. In the event of failure of the live broadcast then the Chairman will
immediately adjourn the meeting until such time as the live broadcast is
restored.
12. In the event that a member's individual remote connection should fail, the
Chairman will call a short adjournment to determine whether the
connection can be re-established (either by video technology or
telephone connection). If connection cannot be restored after a
reasonable period of time then the presumption is that the meeting
should continue, providing the meeting remains quorate.
13. If connection to a member is lost during discussion of an item of business
at a regulatory meeting (planning and licensing committees) that member
will not be able to vote on that item (unless that part of the discussion
during which connection was lost is, in the view of the Chairman, capable
of being repeated for the benefit of the member concerned).
Public speaking
14. Any member of the public participating in a meeting remotely in exercise
of their right to speak must be able to be heard (and if practicable also be
seen) by members, officers and public speakers participating in the same
item of business and, in turn, be able to hear (and if practicable see)
those persons.
15. The Member Services Officer will mute the member of the public once
they have spoken and remove them from the remote meeting on the
instruction of the Chairman once the relevant item of business has been
dealt with. Note: members of the public will be able to view/listen to the
remainder of the meeting via the live broadcast.
Voting
16. Unless a recorded vote is called by a member, the method of voting will
be, at the discretion of the Chairman, by:




General assent by the meeting (where there is no dissent); or
By the Member Services Officer calling out the name of each member
present with members stating "for", "against" or "abstain" to indicate their
vote when their name is called. The Member Services Officer will then
clearly state the result of the vote (to be confirmed by the Chairman)

17. Details of how members voted will not be minuted, unless a recorded
vote is called for prior to the vote taking place.
Declarations of Interest
18. Any member participating in a remote meeting who declares a
disclosable pecuniary interest, or pecuniary interest that would normally
require them to leave the room in which the meeting is taking place must
leave the remote meeting. Their departure will be confirmed by the
Member Services Officer who will invite the relevant member to re-join
the meeting at the appropriate time.
Exclusion of the Press and Public
19. There are times when council meetings are not open to the public when
confidential, or “exempt” items (as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local
Government Act 1972) are under consideration. The Member Services
Officer will ensure that there are no members of the public in remote
attendance and the live broadcast is ended, once the exclusion has been
agreed by the meeting for that item(s).
20. Every Member in remote attendance must ensure there are no other
persons present in their remote location who are able to hear, see or
record the proceedings (unless those such persons are also entitled to
be so present). Members must declare to the meeting, if at any point
during discussion of the item, this requirement is not met.

Agenda Item 4

MEMBERS INTERESTS 2012
A Member with a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter considered at a meeting must disclose the interest to
the meeting at which they are present, except where it has been entered on the Register.
A Member with a non pecuniary or pecuniary interest in any business of the Council must disclose the existence and
nature of that interest at commencement of consideration or when the interest becomes apparent.
Where sensitive information relating to an interest is not registered in the register, you must indicate that you have an
interest, but need not disclose the sensitive information.

Notes

Please tick relevant boxes

General
1.

I have a disclosable pecuniary interest.



You cannot speak or vote and must
withdraw unless you have also
ticked 5 below

2.

I have a non-pecuniary interest.



You may speak and vote

3.

I have a pecuniary interest because
it affects my financial position or the financial position of a
connected person or, a body described in 10.1(1)(i) and (ii)
and the interest is one which a member of the public with
knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard as
so significant that it is likely to prejudice my judgement of the
public interest



You cannot speak or vote and must
withdraw unless you have also
ticked 5 or 6 below

or

it relates to the determining of any approval consent,
licence, permission or registration in relation to me or a
connected person or, a body described in 10.1(1)(i) and (ii)
and the interest is one which a member of the public with
knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard as
so significant that it is likely to prejudice my judgement of the
public interest
4.

I have a disclosable pecuniary interest (Dispensation
20/09/16) or a pecuniary interest but it relates to the
functions of my Council in respect of:

(i)

Housing where I am a tenant of the Council, and those
functions do not relate particularly to my tenancy or lease.

(ii)

school meals, or school transport and travelling expenses
where I am a parent or guardian of a child in full time
education, or are a parent governor of a school, and it does
not relate particularly to the school which the child attends.



You cannot speak or vote and must
withdraw unless you have also
ticked 5 or 6 below



You may speak and vote



You may speak and vote

(iii)

Statutory sick pay where I am in receipt or entitled to receipt
of such pay.



You may speak and vote

(iv)

An allowance, payment or indemnity given to Members



You may speak and vote

(v)

Any ceremonial honour given to Members



You may speak and vote

(vi)

Setting Council tax or a precept under the LGFA 1992



You may speak and vote

5.

A Standards Committee dispensation applies (relevant lines
in the budget – Dispensation 15/09/20 – 14/09/24)



See the terms of the dispensation

6.

I have a pecuniary interest in the business but I can attend
to make representations, answer questions or give evidence
as the public are also allowed to attend the meeting for the
same purpose



You may speak but must leave the
room once you have finished and
cannot vote

‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ (DPI) means an interest of a description specified below which is your
interest, your spouse’s or civil partner’s or the interest of somebody who you are living with as a husband
or wife, or as if you were civil partners and you are aware that that other person has the interest.
Interest
Prescribed description
Employment, office,
Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain.
trade, profession or
vocation
Sponsorship
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the relevant
authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expenses
incurred by M in carrying out duties as a member, or towards the election expenses of
M.
Page 79

Contracts

Land
Licences
Corporate tenancies

Securities

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning
of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.
Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a body in which the
relevant person has a beneficial interest) and the relevant authority—
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.
Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the relevant authority.
Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the relevant
authority for a month or longer.
Any tenancy where (to M's knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest.
Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where—
(a) that body (to M's knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the
relevant authority; and
(b) either—
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the
total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of
the shares of any one class in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest
exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.

“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which the relevant person is a partner or a body
corporate of which the relevant person is a director, or in the securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest;
“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident society;
“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry with it a right for the relevant
person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to receive income; “M” means a member of a relevant authority;
“member” includes a co-opted member; “relevant authority” means the authority of which M is a member;
“relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which M gives notice to the Monitoring Officer of a DPI;
“relevant person” means M or M’s spouse or civil partner, a person with whom M is living as husband or wife or a person with
whom M is living as if they were civil partners;
“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the
meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited
with a building society.

‘non pecuniary interest’ means interests falling within the following descriptions:
10.1(1)(i) Any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management and
to which you are appointed or nominated by your authority;
(ii)
Any body (a) exercising functions of a public nature; (b) directed to charitable purposes; or (c)
one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy
(including any political party or trade union), of which you are a member or in a position of
general control or management;
(iii) Any easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry with it a right
for you (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to receive income.
10.2(2)
A decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting your wellbeing or financial position or the well-being or financial position of a connected person to a
greater extent than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the
ward, as the case may be, affected by the decision.
‘a connected person’ means
(a) a member of your family or any person with whom you have a close association, or
(b) any person or body who employs or has appointed such persons, any firm in which they are a
partner, or any company of which they are directors;
(c)
any person or body in whom such persons have a beneficial interest in a class of securities
exceeding the nominal value of £25,000; or
(d) any body of a type described in sub-paragraph 10.1(1)(i) or (ii).
‘body exercising functions of a public nature’ means
Regional and local development agencies, other government agencies, other Councils, public health
bodies, council-owned companies exercising public functions, arms length management organisations
carrying out housing functions on behalf of your authority, school governing bodies.
A Member with a personal interest who has made an executive decision in relation to that matter must
ensure any written statement of that decision records the existence and nature of that interest.
NB Section 21(13) of the LGA 2000 overrides any Code provisions to oblige an executive member to
attend an overview and scrutiny meeting to answer questions.

Page 80

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

Agenda Item 6

HELD:

Thursday, 25 June 2020

Start:
Finish:

7.00 pm
8.06 pm

PRESENT:
Councillor:

D West (Chair)

Councillors:

M Nixon (Vice-Chair)
R Cooper
M Mills
A Owens
D Westley

In attendance:

D Evans, Portfolio Holder for Planning (Agenda Item 13)

Officers:

Heidi McDougall, Corporate Director of Place & Community
Mike Kostrzewski, Deputy Borough Treasurer
Ian Gill, Head of Growth and Development Services
Peter Richards, Strategic Planning & Implementation Manager
Adam Spicer, Assistant Solicitor
Jacky Denning, Democratic Services Manager
Julia Brown, Member Services/Civic Officer

1

I Ashcroft
S Evans
G Owen
A Sutton
D Whittington

APOLOGIES
There were no apologies for absence received.

2

MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE
There were no changes to Membership of the Committee.

3

URGENT BUSINESS, IF ANY, INTRODUCED BY THE CHAIRMAN
There were no items of urgent business.

4

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.

5

DECLARATIONS OF PARTY WHIP
There were no declarations of Party Whip.

6

MINUTES
RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the meeting held on 30 January 2020 be received
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

Page 81

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE
7

HELD:

Thursday, 25 June 2020

PUBLIC SPEAKING
There were no items under this heading.

8

CALL IN ITEMS
There were no items under this heading.

9

RELEVANT MINUTES OF CABINET
Consideration was given to the Minutes of Cabinet held on 10 March 2020 and 9
June 2020 as contained on pages 13 to 24 of the Book of Reports.

a

Cabinet - Minutes of the meeting held on 10 March 2020
RESOLVED: That the Minutes of Cabinet held on 10 March 2020 be noted.

b

Cabinet - Minutes of the meeting held on 9 June 2020
RESOLVED: That the Minutes of Cabinet held on 9 June 2020 be noted.

10

DRAFT COUNCIL VISION AND PLAN 2020/21 - 2022/23
Consideration was given to the report of the Corporate Director of Transformation
and Resources as contained on pages 25 to 30 and 77 to 78 of the Book of Reports
which was to consider the revised Draft Council Vision and Plan and endorse the
proposed process for approving the final Plan.
The Corporate Director of Place and Community outlined the report and explained
that the Draft Council Vision and Plan identified seven priorities to take forward.
Members raised several comments in respect of the Draft Council Vision and Plan,
in which the Corporate Director of Place and Community noted, and explained that
Members will have the opportunity to raise comments and feedback at the proposed
Scrutiny Workshop. She also explained that the Draft Council Vision and Plan will
undergo stakeholder consultation by residents and partner agencies which will be
presented to Cabinet in September.
RESOLVED: A. That the Draft revised Vision and Council Plan at Appendix One to
the report be noted.
B. That the proposed process outlined in paragraph 3.3 of the report
for approving the final Plan be endorsed.
C. That the Workshop Session be held virtually on Tuesday 14 July
2020 at 6.00pm with the Leader, Deputy Leader and Members of the
Executive Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Corporate and
Environmental Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Page 82

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE
11

HELD:

Thursday, 25 June 2020

MINUTES OF MEMBER DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION
Consideration was given to the Minutes of the Member Development Commission
held on 4 February 2020 and 12 March 2020 as contained on pages 31 to 38 of the
Book of Reports.

a

Minutes of Member Development Commission - 4 February 2020
RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the Member Development Commission held on 4
February 2020 be noted.

b

Minutes of Member Development Commission - 12 March 2020
A question was raised in respect of Minute 30 – SORP Member Development
Project, in relation to the revised Draft Questionnaire which was due to be circulated
to all Members in April 2020.
The Democratic Services Manager explained that there had been a delay with the
circulation of the questionnaires due to the Covid–19 pandemic, however it would be
circulated to members in due course.
RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the Member Development Commission held 12
March 2020 be noted.

12

HRA REVENUE AND CAPITAL MONITORING
Consideration was given to the report of the Corporate Director of Place and
Community as contained on pages 39 to 44 of the Book of Reports which provided
an update on the current position in respect of the 2019/20 Housing Revenue
Account (HRA) and Council Housing Capital Investment Programme. The report
had previously been considered by Cabinet on 10 March 2020.
The Deputy Borough Treasurer attended the meeting and provided an overview of
the report referring to details set down in the report and appendices.
RESOLVED: That the financial position in respect of the 2019/20 HRA and Council
Housing Capital Programme be noted.

13

USE OF CAPITAL FUNDING FOR PUBLIC REALM IMPROVEMENTS AT
WHEATSHEAF WALK
Consideration was given to the report of the Corporate Director of Place and
Communities, as contained on pages 45 to 70 of the Book of Reports, which was
referred to the Committee from the Cabinet meeting held on 9 June 2020. The
report sought the Committee's agreed comments regarding the use of capital
funding for urgent public realm improvements at Wheatsheaf Walk, to include the
removal of the pagoda and planters to create a more open and functional space to
aid social distancing and the re-opening of businesses during the current COVID-19
Page 83

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

HELD:

Thursday, 25 June 2020

outbreak, which would then be considered by the Director in consultation with the
relevant Portfolio Holder.
A comment was moved and seconded in the following terms:
"The Executive Overview and Scrutiny have concerns about the proposals for the
following reasons:
Given the recent relaxation of the Lockdown Regulations, including the opening of
shops and the planned opening of bars, cafes and restaurants on the 4 July, the
time window for the urgent removal of the Pagoda and Planters has now passed.
The necessary closure of public access to Wheatsheaf Walks while the proposed
demolition work is undertaken, is likely to have a detrimental impact on the newly
opened businesses.
In Paragraph 4.9 of the Report, mention is made of the possible use of "Small
Square" for delivery vehicles to park or turn around yet the illustrations provided
show that this would not be possible due to proposed installation of a concrete
bench.
The Committee is also mindful that the responses from the Public Consultation
undertaken by the Council does not provide strong support for the proposals and
that there appears to be considerable opposition on social media.
Consequently, the Executive Overview & Scrutiny Committee recommend to the
Cabinet that it adopt the alternative approach detailed in Paragraph 4.12 of the
Report i.e. to retain the Pagoda and Planters and consider their removal or long term
retention at a later date with the wider public realm improvements at Wheatsheaf
Walk and that once these have been formulated they be subject to a full Public
Consultation."
A vote was taken on the 'comment' and at the request of a Member, was recorded
as follows:
FOR:

Councillors I Ashcroft, A Owens, A Sutton, D Westley and D
Whittington (FIVE)

AGAINST:

Councillors R Cooper, S Evans, M Mills, M Nixon, G Owen and D West
(SIX)

The 'comment' was NOT AGREED.
The Portfolio Holder, who was in attendance for this item only, advised the
Committee that given the close result of the vote, he would consider this item further
with Cabinet colleagues at an informal meeting being held on Friday, 26 June 2020,
prior to any decision being taken in respect of the removal of the pagoda and
planters.
The following Motion was moved and seconded in the following terms:
Page 84

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

HELD:

Thursday, 25 June 2020

A.

That the consultation feedback on Wheatsheaf Walk public realm improvement
proposals provided at Appendix 2 to the report be noted.

B.

That the Committee agree with the content of the report in relation to the
potential removal of the pagoda and planters at Wheatsheaf Walk, however it
be noted that the Portfolio Holder for Planning would consider this item further
with Cabinet colleagues at their informal meeting being held on Friday 26 June
2020, taking into account the close result of the vote taken on the 'comment'
above (not agreed), prior to a decision being taken by the Director of Place and
Community.

A vote was taken on the Motion and at the request of a Member, was recorded as
follows:
FOR:

Councillors R Cooper, S Evans, M Mills, M Nixon, G Owen and D West
(SIX)

AGAINST:

Councillors I Ashcroft, A Owens, A Sutton, D Westley and D
Whittington (FIVE)

RESOLVED: A. That the consultation feedback on Wheatsheaf Walk public realm
improvement proposals provided at Appendix 2 to the report be
noted.
B. That the Committee agree with the content of the report in relation
to the potential removal of the pagoda and planters at
Wheatsheaf Walk, however it be noted that the Portfolio Holder
for Planning would consider this item further with Cabinet
colleagues at their informal meeting being held on Friday 26 June
2020, taking into account the close result of the vote taken on the
'comment' above (not agreed) and the Motion, prior to a decision
being taken by the Director of Place and Community.

……….………………………..
Chairman

Page 85

Agenda Item 7
PUBLIC SPEAKING – PROTOCOL
(For meetings of Cabinet, Overview & Scrutiny Committees, Audit &
Governance Committee and Standards Committee)
1.0

Public Speaking

1.1

Residents of West Lancashire may, on giving notice, address any of the
above meetings to make representations on any item on the agenda for those
meetings, except where the public and press are to be excluded from the
meeting during consideration of the item.

1.2

A Parish Council Representative may, on giving notice, address any of the
above meetings to make representations on any item on the agenda for those
meetings, except where the public and press are to be excluded from the
meeting during consideration of the item.

1.3

The form attached as an Appendix to this Protocol should be used for
submitting requests.

2.0

Deadline for submission

2.1

The prescribed form should be received by Member Services by 10.00 am on
the Friday of the week preceding the meeting. This can be submitted by email to member.services@westlancs.gov.uk or by sending to:
Member Services
West Lancashire Borough Council
52 Derby Street
Ormskirk
West Lancashire
L39 2DF

2.2

Completed forms will be collated by Member Services and circulated via email to relevant Members and officers and published on the Council website
via Modgov. Only the name of the speaker (and representative) and details of
the issue to be raised will be published.

2.3

Groups of persons with similar views should elect a spokesperson to speak
on their behalf to avoid undue repetition of similar points. Spokespersons
should identify in writing on whose behalf they are speaking.

3.0

Scope

3.1

Any matters raised must be relevant to an item on the agenda for the meeting.

3.2

The Legal & Democratic Services Manager may reject a submission if it:
(i)
is defamatory, frivolous or offensive;
(ii)
is substantially the same as representations which have already been
submitted at a previous meeting; or

Page 87

(iii)

discloses or requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt
information.

4.0

Number of items

4.1

A maximum of one form per resident will be accepted for each Agenda Item.

4.2

There will be a maximum of 10 speakers per meeting. Where there are more
than 10 forms submitted by residents, the Legal & Democratic Services
Manager will prioritise the list of those allowed to speak. This will be
considered having regard to all relevant matters including:
a. The order in which forms were received.
b. If one resident has asked to speak on a number of items, priority will be
given to other residents who also wish to speak
c. Whether a request has been submitted in relation to the same issue.
No amendments will be made to the list of speakers once it has been
compiled (regardless of withdrawal of a request to speak).

4.3

All submissions received will be published on the Council's website and
circulated to Members of the relevant body and officers for consideration.

5.0

At the Meeting

5.1

Speakers will be shown to their seats.
At the commencement of
consideration of each agenda item the Leader/Chairman will invite the
speakers to make their representations. Speakers will have up to 3 minutes
to address the meeting. The address must reflect the issue included on the
prescribed form submitted in advance.

5.2

Members may discuss what the speaker/s have said, along with any other
information/representations submitted under this protocol, when all speakers
on that item have finished and will then make a decision. Speakers should
not circulate any supporting documentation at the meeting and should not
enter into a debate with Councillors.

5.4

If residents feel nervous or uncomfortable speaking in public, then they can
ask someone else to do it for them, including a Parish or Borough Councillor
representative. They can also bring an interpreter if they need one. They
should be aware there may be others speaking as well.
(Note: If a Resident wishes to have their Borough Councillor speak on their
behalf, the Borough Councillor is not a member of the body considering the
item.)

Page 88

5.5

Speakers may leave the meeting at any time, taking care not to disturb the
meeting.

(Please see attached form.)

Page 89

REQUEST FOR PUBLIC SPEAKING AT MEETINGS

MEETING & DATE …………………………………………………………………
NAME

………………………………………………………………………….

ADDRESS

………………………………………………………………………….
………………………………………………………………………….
Post Code ………………………………………….

PHONE

………………………………………………………

Email

………………………………………………………

Please indicate if you will be in attendance at the
meeting

Please indicate if someone will be speaking on your behalf
at the meeting

YES/NO*
*delete as applicable

YES/NO*
*delete as applicable

If someone is speaking on your behalf please provide their contact details:
NAME

………………………………………………………………………….

PHONE

………………………………………………………

Email

………………………………………………………

Note: This page will not be published.
(P.T.O.)

Page 91

PLEASE PROVIDE DETAILS OF THE MATTER YOU WISH TO RAISE
Agenda Item

Number ………………….
Title ……………………………………………………..

Details

…………………………………………………………….

…………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………
………………………………………………………………………………….
Name …………………………………

Dated ………………………

Completed forms to be submitted by 10.00am on the Friday of the week
preceding the meeting to:Member Services, West Lancashire Borough Council, 52 Derby Street,
Ormskirk, Lancashire, L39 2DF or
Email: member.services@westlancs.gov.uk
If you require any assistance regarding your attendance at a meeting
(including access) or if you have any queries regarding your submission
please contact Member Services on 01695 585065
Note: This page will be circulated to Members of the Committee and published.

Page 92

Agenda Item 9a
CABINET

HELD:

Wednesday, 22 July 2020

PRESENT:
Councillors:

Portfolio
Councillor Ian Moran
Councillor Yvonne Gagen

Councillor Vickie Cummins
Councillor Gareth Dowling
Councillor David Evans
Councillor Jenny Wilkie
Councillor Kevin Wilkie
Councillor Kevin Wright
Councillor Adam Yates

Leader of the Council and Portfolio
Holder for Economic Regeneration
Deputy Leader of the Council and
Portfolio Holder for Leisure & Human
Resources
Portfolio Holder for Health and Wellbeing
Portfolio Holder for Communities and
Community Safety
Portfolio Holder for Planning
Portfolio Holder for Housing and
Landlord Services
Portfolio Holder for Street Scene
Portfolio Holder for Emergency Planning,
Preparation and Implementation
Portfolio Holder for Resources &
Transformation

In attendance:

Councillors Blane, Coughlan, Dereli, S Evans, A Sutton, J
Thompson and D Westley.

Officers:

Jacqui Sinnott-Lacey, Chief Operating Officer
Heidi McDougall, Corporate Director of Place & Community
Chris Twomey, Corporate Director of Transformation & Resources
Marc Taylor, Head of Finance, Procurement and Commercial
Services
Ian Gill, Head of Growth & Development Services
Simon Burnett, Head of Wellbeing & Leisure Services
Paul Knight, Interim Head of Housing and Regulatory Services
Matt Jones, Legal & Democratic Services Manager
James Crowley - Leisure Project Development Manager, Leisure
Project Development Manager
Jacky Denning, Member & Executive Services Manager
Jill Ryan, Member Services/Civic Officer

1

APOLOGIES
There were no apologies for absence.

2

SPECIAL URGENCY (RULE 16 ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE
RULES)/URGENT BUSINESS
There were no items of special urgency.

Page 93

CABINET

3

HELD:

Wednesday, 22 July 2020

PUBLIC SPEAKING
There were no items under this heading.

4

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Councillor Coughlan declared a pecuniary interest in relation to Agenda Item 9(a)
'Leisure Contract Extension - Short Term Measures in Response to Covid 19' in
respect of his appointment to West Lancashire Community Leisure and advised that
he would leave the meeting during consideration of this item.

5

MINUTES
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 9 June 2020 be
received as a correct record and signed by the Leader.

6

CONFIRMATION OF PROCEDURAL MATTERS
A Motion by the Leader, which had been circulated prior to the meeting, was moved
and seconded.
A vote was taken the Motion was CARRIED.
RESOLVED: A. That it be noted that the Leader has appointed Cabinet Working
Groups for 2020/21 as circulated at the Annual Meeting on 24
June 2020 with the terms of reference now included in the
Constitution, including the Tawd Valley Developments
Shareholders Cabinet Working Group as follows:
Tawd Valley Developments Shareholders Cabinet Working
Group
Membership
(7 Members -

4 Lab 2 Con 1 OWL)

Labour:

(Chairman) Councillor I Moran
(Vice Chairman) Councillor A Yates
Councillors J Wilkie and …………….

Conservative:

Councillors ………. and ……………

Our West Lancs:

Councillor …………

(Membership to include the Leader, Portfolio Holders for
Transformation & Resources and Housing & Landlord Services.)
Functions

Page 94

CABINET

HELD:

Wednesday, 22 July 2020

(a) To oversee and monitor the delivery of the Business Plan for
the Tawd Valley Development Company and consider
opportunities identified by the Board for future projects.
(b) To act as the consultee and provide recommendations to the
Chief Operating Officer on the exercise of her delegation to
determine all matters, as the Shareholder for the Tawd Valley
Development Company, on behalf of the Council.
B.

7

That the 'Proper Officer Provisions and Scheme of Delegation to
Chief Officers' insofar as they are executive functions and the
Scheme of Delegation to Cabinet Members as set out in
the Constitution, be noted.

MATTERS REQUIRING DECISIONS
Consideration was given to report relating to the following matters requiring
decisions and contained on pages 15 to 84 of the Book of Reports.

8

REVIEW OF THE COMMERCIAL PROPERTY PORTFOLIO
Consideration was given to the report of the Corporate Director of Place &
Communities, which provided details of a review of the Council’s existing
Commercial Property Portfolio advising on current performance and indicating future
trends, demand and investment needs. The report set out the further action that will
be required to successfully manage the portfolio in the medium to longer term and
explained the current statutory framework and background context which councils
seeking to grow their commercial property portfolios need to consider, including a
proposed “Investing in West Lancashire - Commercial Property Strategy”.
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the
report before it and the reasons contained therein.
RESOLVED: A. That the contents of this report, including the future actions
required, be noted.
B. That the “Investing in West Lancashire - Commercial Property
Strategy” set out in Appendix 3 to the report, be endorsed for
approved by Council.
C. That delegated authority be given to the Head of Finance,
Procurement and Commercial Property to make investments in
accordance with the Commercial Property Strategy, subject to
approval of scheme funding of up to £5m by the Strategic Assets
Purchasing Committee and approval by Council of schemes for
over £5m.

Page 95

CABINET

9

HELD:

Wednesday, 22 July 2020

FINANCE UPDATE
Consideration was given to the joint report of the Chief Operating Officer and the
Head of Finance, Procurement and Commercial Property, which provided a
summary of the revenue outturn position for the 2019/20 financial year, an
assessment of the impact of the coronavirus on the Council's finances and updates
to the Housing capital programme, including the business plan for the Council's
Development Company and associated actions.
A Motion, which had been circulated prior to the meeting, was moved and seconded.
A vote was taken, the Motion was carried.
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the
report before it and the reasons contained therein.
RESOLVED: A. That the revenue outturn position for 2019/20 be noted.
B. That the estimated financial impact of the coronavirus be noted
and kept under review during the current financial year.
C. That the proposed amendments to the Housing Revenue Account
(HRA) capital investment programme, the Tawd Valley
Development Limited (TVDL) business plan, and the associated
actions set out in section 10 of the report be endorsed for
approval by Council.
D. That, subject to Council approving paragraph 3.3 of the report,
that the acquisition and development of the Halton Castle site in
Westhead on behalf of the HRA be agreed in principle and
authority be given to the Chief Operating Officer to carry out all
necessary due diligence and thereafter enter into all necessary
arrangements with regard to the proposed purchase and
development of the site for Council housing.
E. That call in is not appropriate for this item as this matter is one
where urgent action is required given the timescales for the
Halton Castle site scheme.
F. That, in accordance with item 6 'Confirmation of Procedural
Matters' on the agenda in relation to the establishment of the
Tawd Valley Development Shareholders Cabinet Working Group,
Council be recommended to amend the existing delegation to the
Chief Operating Officer set out in Constitution 4.2A: Scheme of
Delegation to Chief Officers, to read:
"31. That the Chief Operating Officer, In consultation with the
Tawd Valley Developments Shareholders Cabinet Working
Group, be authorised to determine all matters, as the
Page 96

CABINET

HELD:

Wednesday, 22 July 2020

Shareholder for Tawd Valley Development Company, on
behalf of the Council."

10

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
RESOLVED:

That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the
press and public be excluded from the meeting during consideration
of the following items of business on the grounds that they involve
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3
(financial/business affairs) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of that Act and
as, in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in
maintaining the exemption under Schedule 12A outweighs the public
interest in disclosing the information.

(Note: No representations had been received in relation to the following item being
considered in private)
11

MATTERS REQUIRING DECISIONS
Consideration was given to report relating to the following matters requiring
decisions and contained on pages 71 to 84 of the Book of Reports.

12

LEISURE CONTRACT EXTENSION - SHORT TERM MEASURES IN RESPONSE
TO COVID 19
Consideration was given to the report of the Corporate Director of Place & Communities,
which provided an update on the current position in relation to the Leisure Contract as a
consequence of COVID-19 and sought approval to the proposed approach for the next nine
months (July 2020-March 2021)
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the report
before it and the reasons contained therein.

RESOLVED: A.

That, subject to the approval of Council of the financial and
resource implications as set out in section 9 of the report,
authority be given to the Corporate Director of Place &
Community to enter into all necessary documentation to extend
the leisure contract between the Council, West Lancashire
Community Leisure Trust and Serco to 31 March 2021.

B.

That, following the lifting of Central Government restrictions in
relation to Leisure Centre operations, the West Lancashire
facilities should be reopened using Option 2 as detailed in
section 7.2 of the report.

C.

That call in is not appropriate for this item as this matter is one
where urgent action is required because of the need to avoid a

Page 97

CABINET

HELD:

Wednesday, 22 July 2020

"no contract" situation arising and the risk of Serco walking
away from the contract.
(Note: Councillor Coughlan left the meeting whilst this item was under
consideration.)

……….………………………..
Leader

Page 98

Agenda Item 9b

CABINET

HELD:

Tuesday, 8 September 2020

Start:
Finish:

7.00 pm
7.14 pm

PRESENT:
Councillors:

Portfolio
Councillor Ian Moran
Councillor Yvonne Gagen
Councillor Vickie Cummins
Councillor Gareth Dowling
Councillor David Evans
Councillor Jenny Wilkie
Councillor Kevin Wilkie
Councillor Kevin Wright
Councillor Adam Yates

Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for
Economic Regeneration
Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio
Holder for Leisure & Human Resources
Portfolio Holder for Health and Wellbeing
Portfolio Holder for Communities and
Community Safety
Portfolio Holder for Planning
Portfolio Holder for Housing and Landlord
Services
Portfolio Holder for Street Scene
Portfolio Holder for Emergency Planning,
Preparation and Implementation
Portfolio Holder for Resources &
Transformation

In attendance:

Other Members of the Council were advised to listen to the
meeting via the public webcast.

Officers:

Jacqui Sinnott-Lacey, Chief Operating Officer
Heidi McDougall, Corporate Director of Place & Community
Chris Twomey, Corporate Director of Transformation & Resources
Ian Gill, Head of Growth & Development Services
Simon Burnett, Head of Wellbeing & Leisure Services
Fiona Graham, Head of Housing and Regulatory Services
James Pierce, Head of Finance, Procurement and Commercial
Services
Matt Jones, Legal & Democratic Services Manager
Peter Richards, Strategic Planning & Implementation Manager
Jacky Denning, Democratic Services Manager

13

APOLOGIES
There were no apologies for absence.

14

SPECIAL URGENCY (RULE 16 ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE
RULES)/URGENT BUSINESS
There were no items of special urgency.

Page 99

CABINET

15

HELD:

Tuesday, 8 September 2020

PUBLIC SPEAKING
There were no items under this heading.

16

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Councillor I Moran declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda items 6a Adoption of
the West Lancashire Statement of Community Involvement 2020 and 6b CIL
Funding Programme 2021/22, as a Parish Councillor as did Councillor Y Gagen as
an employee of Lancashire County Council.

17

MINUTES
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the Extraordinary meeting of Cabinet held on
Wednesday 22 July 2020 be received as a correct record and signed
by the Leader.

18

MATTERS REQUIRING DECISIONS
Consideration was given to reports relating to the following matters requiring
decisions and contained on pages 103 to 392 of the Book of Reports:

19

ADOPTION OF THE WEST LANCASHIRE STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY
INVOLVEMENT 2020

Consideration was given to the report of the Corporate Director of Place and
Community, which sought approval for the adoption of the West Lancashire
Statement of Community Involvement 2020 ('SCI') and the Addendum to the West
Lancashire SCI 2020.
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the
report before it and the reasons contained therein.
RESOLVED: A.

That, following consideration of the Consultation Report at
Appendix B to the report and the Adoption Statement at
Appendix C, the West Lancashire Statement of Community
Involvement 2020 (‘SCI’) and its Addendum at Appendix A, be
adopted subject to any amendments made by the Corporate
Director of Place and Community, in consultation with the
Portfolio Holder (and with the tracked changes accepted),
following consideration of the West Lancashire SCI 2020 and its
Addendum by Planning Committee, as per resolution B. below.

B.

That the Corporate Director of Place and Community be
authorised, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder, to make any
necessary amendments to the West Lancashire SCI 2020 and
Page 100

CABINET

HELD:

Tuesday, 8 September 2020

its Addendum in the light of agreed comments from Planning
Committee, before the document is published.
20

CIL FUNDING PROGRAMME 2021/22
Consideration was given to the report of the Corporate Director of Place &
Community and the additional information circulated, which sought authority to
publicly consult on the draft CIL Funding Programme for 2021/22, including options
regarding which infrastructure projects might be prioritised to receive CIL funding in
2021/22.
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the
report before it, the additional information circulated and the reasons contained
therein.

21

RESOLVED: A.

That the public consultation on a Draft CIL funding programme
for 2021/22 be approved, and that the shortlist of infrastructure
projects identified at paragraph 4.5 and 4.6 of the report be
included in that consultation.

B.

That the public consultation on the spending of Neighbourhood
CIL monies in Ormskirk be approved, and that the shortlist
identified at paragraph 4.3 of the report be included in that
consultation.

RISK MANAGEMENT
Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Finance, Procurement and
Commercial Services, which set out details on the Key Risks facing the Council and
how they are being managed.
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the
report before it and the reasons contained therein.
RESOLVED: A.

B.

22

That the progress made in relation to the management of the
risks shown in the Key Risks Register (Appendix A) be noted
and endorsed
That this report and future Risk Management reports be referred
to the Executive Overview & Scrutiny Committee.

COUNCIL VISION & PLAN 2020/21 – 2022/23
Consideration was given to the report of the Corporate Director of Transformation
and Resources, which detailed the results of the draft Council Plan consultation and
sought approval of the proposed amendments to the draft Council Plan and adopt
the document attached at Appendix A to the report, as the “Council Plan 2020/21 –
Page 101

CABINET

HELD:

Tuesday, 8 September 2020

2022/23".
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the
report before it and the reasons contained therein.
RESOLVED: A.

23

That the results of the consultation and responses set out at
Appendix B be noted.

B.

That the revised Council Plan 2020/21 – 2022/23, attached at
Appendix A to the report, be approved to take forward to Council
for adoption.

C.

That Call In is not appropriate for this item as the report is being
submitted to the next meeting of the Executive Overview and
Scrutiny Committee on 24 September 2020.

QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (Q1 2020/21)
Consideration was given to the report of the Corporate Director of Transformation
and Resources, which presented the performance monitoring data for the quarter
ended 30 June 2020.
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the
report before it and the reasons contained therein.

24

RESOLVED: A.

That the Council’s performance against the indicator set for the
quarter ended 30 June 2020 be noted.

B.

That the revised targets, outlined in paragraph 4.6 of the report
and Appendix A, be approved.

C.

That the call-in procedure is not appropriate for this item as the
report will be submitted to the meeting of the Corporate &
Environmental Overview & Scrutiny Committee on 17
September 2020.

USE OF S106 FUNDS ON THE EDGE HILL CYCLE LINK
Consideration was given to the report of the Corporate Director of Place and
Community, which sought authority to spend Section 106 funds on the next phase of
the Edge Hill Cycle Link.
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the
report before it and the reasons contained therein.
RESOLVED: That the use of £103,860 of S106 monies from planning permission
2009/1052/FUL on the improved provision for cycling and walking
access between Ormskirk town centre and Edge Hill University on
Page 102

CABINET

HELD:

Tuesday, 8 September 2020

Ruff Lane and St Helens Road and the junction of these roads with
Park Road as outlined in the report, be approved.
25

ORMSKIRK MARKET AND PAY & DISPLAY CAR PARKS
Consideration was given to the report of the Corporate Director of Place and
Community, which sought approval to re-commence charging on Pay & Display Car
Parks in Ormskirk and to implement a reduced Ormskirk Market capacity (compared
to pre-COVID expectations) for a temporary period until 31st March 2021 or the end
of social distancing restrictions due to COVID-19 (whichever occurs first).
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the
report before it and the reasons contained therein.
RESOLVED: A.

B.

That a reduced capacity, and therefore income, for Ormskirk
Market of 95 stall pitches be approved until 31st March 2021 or
the end of social distancing restrictions due to COVID-19
(whichever occurs first), as per the layout provided at Appendix
A to the report.
That it be agreed to re-commence charging on Pay & Display
Car Parks in Ormskirk from 5th October 2020.

……….………………………..
Leader

Page 103

Agenda Item 11
CABINET: 8 SEPTEMBER 2020
EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW &
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 24 SEPTEMBER
2020
COUNCIL: 14 OCTOBER 2020

Report of:

Corporate Director of Transformation & Resources

Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor Ian Moran
Contact for further information: Chris Twomey (Extn. 5262)
(E-mail: Chris.Twomey@westlancs.gov.uk)

SUBJECT: COUNCIL VISION & PLAN 2020/21-2022/23

Wards affected: Borough wide
1.0

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1

To report the results of the draft Council Plan consultation and agree
amendments to the draft Council Plan.

1.2

To seek approval to adopt the document attached at Appendix A as the “Council
Plan 2020/21 – 2022/23".

2.0

RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET

2.1

That the results of the consultation and responses set out at Appendix B be
noted.

2.2

That the revised Council Plan 2020/21 – 2022/23 attached at Appendix A be
approved to take forward to Council for adoption.

2.3

That Call In is not appropriate for this item as the report is being submitted to the
next meeting of the Executive Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 24
September 2020.

3.0

RECOMMENDATIONS
COMMITTEE

3.1

That the document attached at Appendix A the draft Council Plan 2020/21 –
2022/23 be considered and that agreed comments be referred to Council on 14
October for consideration.

TO

EXECUTIVE

Page 105

OVERVIEW

&

SCRUTINY

4.0 RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL
4.1 That the document attached at Appendix A is approved and adopted as the
“Council Plan 2020/21 – 2022/23".

5.0

BACKGROUND

5.1

In January, a Cabinet strategy session assessed the existing Council Plan,
vision, values and priorities in light of what has been achieved, the operating
environment and Council's new operating model. This resulted in the
development of a draft Council Plan to reflect the strategic ambitions of Cabinet.
The Plan recognised the needs of the communities of West Lancashire focussing
on where the Council can influence and directly realise significant change and
improvement across the Borough.

5.2

At the Cabinet meeting on 10 March Cabinet agreed that consultation would be
undertaken on the draft Council Plan. Due to COVID-19 Executive Overview and
Scrutiny and Council in March and April respectively did not take place. At
Executive Overview and Scrutiny in June a draft revised plan recognising the
impact of COVID-19 on West Lancashire business was considered and a revised
consultation process necessary due to COVID-19 was endorsed.

5.3

A scrutiny workshop was held on 14 July with members of both Corporate &
Environmental and Executive Overview and Scrutiny. In addition, a Consultation
Survey was undertaken with the public, key stakeholders and staff through an
online survey (paper copies available on request). This consultation exercise
focused on the vision, key priorities and high level "We want", outcome
statements and ran from 7 July to 19 August. As well as publicising the online
consultation the Council specifically sought views from key stakeholders
including:
 LCC
 Parish Councils
 West Lancashire CVS
 Citizens Advice Lancashire
 West Lancashire Partnership
 Groups representing those with protected characteristics under equalities
legislation
 Local businesses
 Other local groups and partners.

6.0

CURRENT POSITION

6.1

In total, 484 consultation responses were received and considered in addition to
the feedback from the scrutiny workshop with 17 Councillors. A further 11 emails
were received in response to the consultation. Survey responses comprised of:

Page 106

 297 residents
 24 stakeholders
 163 staff
A summary of the feedback and responses are given in Appendix B.

6.2

The feedback resulted in amendments being made to the draft plan. A revised
Council Plan is attached at Appendix A for approval as the Council Plan 2020/212022/23. A 'tracked changes' version of the draft plan is attached at Appendix C.

6.3

To give an indication of how the Council would achieve the priorities draft "We will"
statements provide an outline of suggested supporting actions to deliver the priorities.
Should Members adopt the proposed revised plan at Appendix A these actions will be
developed and finalised by Officers to give a programme of work and action plan for the
priorities. The "We will" statements will be dynamic and continue to be developed
throughout the 3 year life of the Plan. These statements will form the basis of the
delivery plans to achieve the priorities. A refresh will be considered in April 2021 and
annually thereafter to ensure that the Plan remains relevant and in line with the needs of
the Borough.

6.4

Promoting the survey also resulted in generating general feedback on the
Council and its services beyond the scope of the consultation, this feedback will
be shared with the respective service areas. Comments and feedback on our
services are welcome at any time (in line with our Customer Engagement
Strategy) as they can help us improve services and we encourage customers
and stakeholders to use our Comments and Feedback page on the website.

7.0

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

7.1

There are no significant sustainability impacts associated with this report and, in
particular, no significant impact on crime and disorder. The vision and priorities
or the Council should contribute to the sustainability of services and the borough
as a whole. Sustainability impacts will be considered for individual initiatives
referenced. The information set out in this report aims to help the Council to
improve and sustain service performance. The Plan enables the Council to
communicate its direction and priorities to the public, stakeholders and staff, and
supports transparency and accountability. Having a clear statement of corporate
priorities also assists effective planning and prioritisation of work within services,
informs the development of staff work programmes and annual development
appraisals, and is recognised good practice.

8.0

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

8.1

There are no significant financial or resource implications arising from this report.
The Council Plan appended to this report aims to ensure the Council is able to
continue to pursue its objectives within the resources available and can monitor
and manage use of those resources. An agreed Council Plan will assist in
shaping budget decisions and enable clear priorities to be set for services.

Page 107

Page 108

9.0

RISK ASSESSMENT

9.1

The actions referred to in this report are covered by the scheme of delegation to
officers and any necessary changes have been made in the relevant risk
registers. Having well-defined priorities means that attention and resources can
be effectively focussed on managing, monitoring and achieving the Council's
core objectives and reduces the risk of not doing so.

10.0

HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS

10.1

The proposal will support health and wellbeing within West Lancashire in a
variety of ways. The priority "Everyone to be healthy, happy, safe and
resilient" specifically outlines what we want and what we intend to do to achieve
this. The following refers to the original draft Council Plan used for consultation
and may therefore be subject to change.

Theme
We want
Promote good health and wellbeing
 To design services that help people
and enable people to flourish
stay healthy and independent
 To invest in sports and leisure facilities
Prevent and tackle the causes of ill
health
Empower people in vulnerable,
deprived
and
disadvantaged
communities to realise their full health
potential;
Develop and support effective and
high quality health and wellbeing
services
Encourage and enable all people to
take a role in identifying and
addressing barriers to improve health
and wellbeing
Increase people's independence
throughout their life course and ability
to lead full active lives.

 To invest in sports and leisure facilities
 To design services that help people
stay healthy and independent
 To invest in sports and leisure facilities
 To design services that help people
stay healthy and independent
 To invest in sports and leisure facilities
 To design services that help people
stay healthy and independent
 To invest in sports and leisure facilities
 To design services that help people
stay healthy and independent
 To design services that help people
stay healthy, independent

We will:
 Create a food poverty strategy and action plan
 Develop a fuel poverty strategy and action plan
 Create a Financial Inclusion strategy and plan
 Review health and wellbeing strategy embedding school initiatives
 Work with partners to focus on prevention and reducing health inequalities
 Develop a quality range of leisure services
 Bringing in additional money/services to support most deprived areas
Page 109

In addition, it is anticipated a positive impact on Health & Wellbeing will also be
achieved through the wider work for the other priorities of:
 A clean safe environment with affordable homes to buy or rent for everyone in
West Lancashire
 Create empowered, engaged and inclusive communities

Background Documents
There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local
Government Act 1972) to this Report.

Equality Impact Assessment
There is a direct impact on members of the public, employees, elected members and /
or stakeholders, therefore an Equality Impact Assessment is required. A formal equality
impact assessment is attached as Appendix D to this report, the results of which have
been taken into account in the Recommendations contained within this report

Appendices
A.
B.
C.
D.

Draft Council Plan 2020/21-2022/23
Draft Council Plan Consultation Results
Draft Council Plan 2020/21-2022/23 (tracked changes)
Equality Impact Assessment

Page 110

Vision
West Lancashire together; the place of choice to live, work, visit and invest

Our Priorities
 Create empowered, engaged and inclusive communities
We want:








Healthy resilient and engaged communities that work together to improve the places
they live and work
Everyone to have the same opportunities
Thriving voluntary and community groups that support innovation and collaboration
To work with partners for the good of local people
Our citizens to access the benefits of being digitally engaged
Councillors that are active and knowledgeable and support change at a local level
To improve customer satisfaction

We will:










Build on and develop strengths within local communities
Engage with communities when making key decisions
Use community networks to gain views from hard to reach groups
Create innovative ways to listen to different community views
Use Councillors' existing reach and influence to provide community feedback to shape
decision making
Work with partners to develop a meaningful offer to support citizens to become digitally
included
Adopt a best practice model of consultation
Listen and provide feedback to customers about how their views have improved services
Develop neighbourhood plans with key partnerships committed to meeting the needs of
our communities

 Support businesses to adapt and prosper
We want:






West Lancashire to be the place of choice to locate your business
Our 3 towns to be thriving hubs for their communities
To support our businesses to succeed and grow
A strong rural business economy
A vibrant and modern Ormskirk market that attracts visitors to the town centre

Page 111

We will:









Support the recovery and growth of existing and new businesses
Lead the regeneration of Skelmersdale Town Centre
Develop the market offer and reinvigorate Ormskirk's Eastern gateway
Adopt an inclusive procurement approach which supports local businesses to tender for
opportunities
Promote West Lancashire as a place to invest through the Skelmersdale Place Board &
Ambassadors
Signpost and support businesses to innovate and diversify
Develop a strong web presence which positively promotes West Lancashire
Create enlivened town centres offering diverse leisure opportunities and night time
economy

Become a Greener West Lancashire
We want:







To become a Carbon Neutral Council by 2030
Local business and citizens to embrace the green agenda
Council housing stock to meet high standards of efficiency - insulation, design,
technology
To minimise waste disposal and improve recycling services to meet national targets
To embed green infrastructure into our thinking and planning for West Lancashire’s
future development and regeneration
To safeguard the natural landscape and maintain our green environment

We will:










Be a role model and lead good practice; develop a Climate Change strategy and action
plan
Ensure all council buildings are operating to highest efficiency standards – insulation,
design, and technology
Encourage local businesses and service providers to set their own targets for becoming
carbon neutral and promote their achievements
Commit to maximising Council energy requirements from renewable sources
Maximise the use of solar panels on Council owned buildings and housing stock
Increase the use of environmentally friendly products
Optimise the development of solar/wind farm investment
Use the supply chain to maximise energy efficiency, design out waste and reduce our
carbon footprint
Optimise the Council fleet; increase route efficiency and maximise low emissions

Page 112







Enhance green spaces promoting diverse leisure uses and explore the option of
developing an Eco park
Support the development of green transport
Use green credentials to form part of our procurement selection criteria
Reduce waste and improve recycling, implement a Waste strategy with a focus on
sustainable solutions
Develop a Local Plan policy encouraging green developments – green space, energy
efficiency, sustainable supply chains

 Be a financially sustainable Council by 2023
We want:






To be confident, capable and financially sustainable
To continue to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of service provision
To be able to invest in high priority service areas
To maximise available government funding and generate income to reinvest in West
Lancashire
To provide value for money services

We will:











Make sure our internal financial and decision-making processes continue to be strong
Continue the implementation of the Council's Sustainable Organisation Review
Maximise the returns from Tawd Valley Development Company to reinvest in West
Lancashire.
Optimise inward investment
Review fees and charges across all council services
Continuously develop, find better ways to do things and embrace new technology
Consider the merits of all service options to ensure value for money is achieved
Review existing contract savings and work with suppliers to achieve economies of scale
Maximise commercial investment opportunities through a commercial strategy
Maximise the value from existing assets and focus on value for money

 A clean, safe environment with affordable homes to buy or rent for everyone in West
Lancashire
We want:




To provide a cleaner physical environment to enhance the Borough
West Lancashire to be safe for all citizens
A Local Plan that supports quality growth and infrastructure in the Borough

Page 113



To provide quality and genuinely affordable homes

We will:












Deliver high quality street cleansing services based on demand
Invest resources within services to achieve an improvement to the local environmental
quality
Develop environment ward reports for members
Develop homes to rent/buy/for shared ownership through Tawd Valley Development
Company
Increase the supply of homes to bring cheaper private rents/more choice
Get the right mix of properties for each community
Continue to drive forward the community safety agenda
Review WLBC/public estate land holdings
Lead estate regeneration creating attractive places where people want to live
Review our Housing Strategy
Identify strategic regeneration areas and investment plans

 Everyone to be healthy, happy, safe and resilient
We want:






To help businesses in West Lancashire to thrive, grow and connect
An engaged and motivated Council workforce
To design services that help people stay healthy and independent
To invest in sports and leisure services and facilities
To protect, invest and continue to develop our green leisure spaces

We will:









Deliver our food poverty strategy and action plan
Deliver our fuel poverty strategy and action plan
Deliver our financial inclusion strategy and action plan
Deliver our people strategy with Council staff that results in a continuously improving
culture
Deliver our health and wellbeing strategy embedding school initiatives
Work with partners to focus on prevention and reducing health inequalities
Develop a quality range of health, wellbeing and leisure facilities and services
Bring in additional money/services to support our most deprived areas

 Everyone to be proud of their Council

Page 114

Appendix B

Draft Council Plan
RESULTS

Page 115
1

Appendix B

CONTENTS
1. INTRODUCTION………………………………………………………..

Page 3

2. METHODOLOGY……………………………………………………….

Page 3

3. RESPONSE RATE……………………………………………………..

Page 4

4. RESULTS OVERVIEW……………………………………………….

Page 4

4.1

VISION…………..…..…………………………………..

Page 6

4.2

CREATE EMPOWERED, ENGAGED & INCLUSIVE
COMMUNITIES…………………..……………….

Page 6

4.3

SUPPORT BUSINESS AND TOWN CENTRES TO RECOVER AND
PROSPER…...…………………………………………………..
Page 7

4.4

BECOME A GREEN COUNCIL...……………………………..

4.5

BE A FINANCIALLY SUSTAINABLE COUNCIL BY 2022………Page 9

4.6

A CLEAN SAFE ENVIRONMENT WITH AFFORDABLE HOMES TO
BUY OR RENT FOR EVERYONE IN WEST LANCASHIRE…. Page 9

4.7

EVERYONE TO BE HEALTHY, HAPPY, SAFE AND
RESILIENT…………………………………………………………………………………………..Page 10

4.8

EVERYONE TO BE PROUD OF THEIR COUNCIL……………………..Page 11

4.9

DO YOU THINK THE PRIORITIES OUTLINED IN THE PLAN CLEARLY
SHOW WHAT WE WANT TO ACHIEVE AND WILL ENABLE US TO
ACHIEVE OUR PROPOSED VISION? ……………………..…………………..Page 11

4.10

DO YOU THINK THERE IS ANYTHING ELSE THE COUNCIL SHOULD
BE DOING TO ACHIEVE OUR PROPOSED VISION? …………….. Page 11

Page 8

4.11 DO YOU HAVE ANY FURTHER COMMENTS ABOUT THE COUNCIL'S
PROPOSED VISION AND PRIORITIES? ……………………..……………… Page 11

5. NEXT STEPS……………………………………………………………………Page 12

Page 116
2

Appendix B

1.0

INTRODUCTION

A Council Plan enables the Council to communicate its direction and priorities to the
public,
Stakeholders and staff, and supports transparency and accountability. In January 2020, a
Cabinet strategy session assessed the existing Council Plan, vision, values and priorities
in light of what has been achieved, the operating environment and Council's new
operating model. It was recognised that there had been significant progress towards
achieving the existing Council Plan and a revision to the Plan was appropriate.
Elected Members recognise the importance of the Council Plan reflecting the needs of the
communities, focussing on where the Council will add most value, deliver the best
outcomes and focus its resources. It was therefore agreed that a test of the ambitions of
the draft Plan through consultation with stakeholders including Councillors, staff, residents,
businesses and partner organisations was required.
The survey focused on the top level vision and following key priorities:


Create empowered, engaged & inclusive communities



Support business and town centres to recover and prosper



Become a green council



Be a financially sustainable council by 2022



A clean safe environment with affordable homes to buy or rent for everyone in
West Lancashire

2.0



Everyone to be healthy, happy, safe and resilient



Everyone to be proud of their council

METHODOLOGY

Plans were made to carry out local community based engagement and consultation,
however due to COVID-19 it was not possible to take these options forward.
There are 3 surveys which have been created to capture views of our citizens,
stakeholders and staff. An additional workshop has also been held with Members of
Corporate & Executive Overview & Scrutiny to review and comment on the draft plan.
The consultation was held from 8th July - 19 August via an on-line survey on the Council
website. In order to drive people to the website an advert was placed in the champion
newsletter on 8 July and a social media campaign was used. The contact details for the
customer engagement team were also given out as part of the consultation promotion to
enable people to email comments directly about the plan.
Emails were sent to a stakeholder list to ask them to complete the survey as a stakeholder
but also encouraging any employees to also complete the citizen survey. Partners such
as CVS were also asked to distribute the link via their newsletter.
Page 117
3

Appendix B
In order to encourage business engagement a social media campaign was carried out on
letstalkskelmersdale platforms and also via the Skelmersdale Ambassadors.
As we are aware that not all citizens wish to, or are able to engage via digital methods we
also gave an option for customer to request a postal survey or complete over the
telephone with a member of the customer engagement team.
Members of staff were also given an opportunity to take part in the survey and give their
views. This was supported by a short promotion video about the importance of the
Council Plan and their role in its delivery.

3.0

RESPONSE RATE

The following table shows the response rate to the survey.
Number of replies
Citizens
Stakeholders
Staff
Elected Member workshop
Email feedback
Total

297
24
163
17
11
512

In total, 484 consultation responses were received and considered in addition to the
feedback from the scrutiny workshop with 17 Councillors and 11 emails received. The data
shown below uses a total of 484 data sets. This is due to the fact that the 11 emails
received provided feedback on the council plan but did not reply directly to the questions
asked in the consultation. This same principle applies to the scrutiny workshop held with
members as there was the opportunity to carry out a more detailed consultation. The
comments from the emails have been added to the relevant themes in the consultation
comments. These comments and the workshop feedback has all been used in the
analysis of the themes arising.

4.0

RESULTS OVERVIEW

This section provides an overview of the feedback from the consultation with citizens,
stakeholders and staff.
The feedback strongly endorses the council vision and priorities and this is the consensus
with all three responder groups.
Key headline data shows:
 73% agree or strongly agree with the vision
 88% agree or strongly agree with the priority to Create empowered, engaged &
inclusive communities
 84% agree or strongly agree with the priority to Support business and town centres
to recover and prosper
 88% agree or strongly agree with the priority to Become a Greener Council
Page 118
4

Appendix B
 81% agree or strongly agree with the priority to Be a financially sustainable Council
by 2022
 81% agree or strongly agree with the priority to have a Clean, safe environment
with affordable homes to buy or rent for everyone in West Lancashire
 87% agree or strongly agree with the priority for Everyone to be healthy, happy,
safe and resilient
 86% agree or strongly agree with the priority for Everyone to be proud of their
Council
Throughout the survey there was the opportunity to make comments if respondents had
answered disagree or strongly disagree and where possible these have been grouped
together to highlight some common themes.
Despite attempts to engage with
Stakeholders limited feedback has been received and no specific themes were identified.
Details of all the comments received are shown as appendices to this report.
The consultation with all responder groups has provided feedback which will help to
improve and strengthen the Council Plan and the overall themes should be incorporated
into the revised plan.
The main themes that have emerged from the feedback are:
 Digital inclusion/engagement support
 Emphasis for support for the rural economy
 Role of Council to role model and influence citizens and business to support the
green agenda
 Strengthening the approach community safety
 Strengthening opportunities for engagement
It was clear that all responder groups have an interest in understanding the key actions
the Council will develop to deliver the priorities.
Another clear theme was an importance to recognise the differences in our communities
and that a one size approach will not be appropriate. There was a clear desire from all
groups that the plan encompasses all of the Borough.
Comments have been received about issues which West Lancashire Borough Council is
not responsible for such as flooding, infrastructure and public transport.

Page 119
5

Appendix B
4.1

Vision

Do you agree with our proposed vision for West Lancashire?
West Lancashire is the place of choice to live, work, visit and invest

Proposed vision
300

267

250
200
150
90

100
50

87

29
10

1

0
Strongly disagree

Disagree

Neutral

Agree

Strongly agree

Not Answered

Of the 483 responders to this question, 73% responded that they agree or strongly agree
with the proposed vision. 19% responded that they were neutral to the vison and 8%
stated they disagreed or strongly disagreed.
The citizen survey shows 65% answered agree or strongly which shows support for the
vision. However 23% of citizens responded with a neutral reply only 12% disagree with
the vision.
There is a general agreement with the vision, however a common theme in the comments
is that the improvements need to benefit all of West Lancashire and not a sole focus on
Ormskirk.

4.2

Create empowered, engaged & inclusive communities

Do you agree with this priority

Page 120
6

Appendix B

Create empowered, engaged & inclusive communities
300

272

250
200
150
150
100
50

14

21

Strongly disagree

Disagree

26
1

0
Neutral

Agree

Strongly agree

Not Answered

Of the 483 responders to this question, 88% responded that they agree or strongly agree
with the priority to "create empowered, engaged & inclusive communities". 5% responded
that they were neutral to the priority and a total of 7% stated they disagreed or strongly
disagreed.
83% answered agree or strongly from the Citizen Survey which shows support for this
priority.
Identified themes from the feedback are the role of Elected Members in the community, a
desire for empowered and engaged communities throughout the Borough.

4.3

Support business and town centres to recover and prosper

Do you agree with this priority?

4.3 Support business and town centres to recover and
prosper
250

224
183

200
150
100
50

21

32

22
2

0
Strongly disagree

Disagree

Neutral

Agree

Strongly agree

Not Answered

Of the 482 responders to this question, 84% responded that they agree or strongly agree
with the priority to "support business and town centres to recover and prosper". 5%
responded that they were neutral to the priority and a total of 11% stating they disagreed
or strongly disagreed.
Page 121
7

Appendix B
78% answered agree or strongly from the responders to the Citizen Survey which shows
support for this priority.
Identified themes suggest a need to ensure businesses are supported all over the
Borough and not just a concentration in Ormskirk and also included the agricultural
industry and rural economy. Car parking charges in Ormskirk were also highlighted.

4.4

Become a Green council

Do you agree with this priority?

Become a Green Council
250
206

217

200
150
100
50
12

18

Strongly disagree

Disagree

30
1

0
Neutral

Agree

Strongly agree

Not Answered

Of the 483 responders to this question, 88% responded that they agree or strongly agree
with the priority to "become a green council". 6% responded that they were neutral to the
priority and a total of 6% stating they disagreed or strongly disagreed.
83% of responders from the citizen survey answered agree or strongly agree.
Identified themes are green belt land and wildlife habitat should be protected, support for
an increase in recycling opportunities, including the waste centres and ensuring the
infrastructure to support being green is created.

Page 122
8

Appendix B
4.5
Be a financially sustainable Council by 2022
Do you agree with this priority?

Be a financially sustainable Council by 2022
300
243

250
200

143

150
100
59
50
12

23
4

0
Strongly disagree

Disagree

Neutral

Agree

Strongly agree

Not Answered

Of the 480 responders to this question, 81% responded that they agree or strongly agree
with the priority to "be a financially sustainable Council by 2022". 12% responded that
they were neutral to the priority and a total of 7% stating they disagreed or strongly
disagreed.
72% of responders from the citizen survey answered agree or strongly agree. 10%
answered disagree or strongly disagree with 18% neutral for this question.
Concerns are raised in the comments about the impact of COVID-19 and therefore if this
could still be delivered within timescale. There are also comments that the generation of
income should not come with increases to council tax or at a detriment to other services.

4.6
A clean safe environment with affordable homes to buy or rent for everyone
in West Lancashire
Do you agree with this priority?

Clean safe environment with affordable homes to buy or
rent
250
208
184

200
150
100
50

40

35

16

1

0
Strongly disagree

Disagree

Neutral

Page 123
9

Agree

Strongly agree

Not Answered

Appendix B

Of the 483 responders to this question, 81% responded that they agree or strongly agree
with the priority to "a clean safe environment with affordable homes to buy or rent for
everyone in West Lancashire". 7% responded that they were neutral to the priority and a
total of 12% stating they disagreed or strongly disagreed.
72% of responders from the citizen survey answered agree or strongly agree.
Feedback themes included the needs to have improved infrastructure to cope with new
housing and on the loss of green belt.
4.7

Everyone to be healthy, happy, safe and resilient

Do you agree with this priority?

Everyone to be healthy, happy, safe and resilient
250

222
195

200
150
100
39

50
11

14

Strongly disagree

Disagree

3

0
Neutral

Agree

Strongly agree

Not Answered

Of the 481 responders to this question, 87% responded that they agree or strongly agree
with the priority to "everyone to be healthy, happy, safe and resilient". 8% responded that
they were neutral to the priority and a total of 5% stating they disagreed or strongly
disagreed.
82% of responders from the citizen survey answered agree or strongly agree. 7%
answered disagree or strongly disagree.
The comments for this priority relate to a need for more than just sport facilities including
and increased range of social activities and an improved night-time economy. The
protection and use of green and outdoor areas was also highlighted.

Page 124
10

Appendix B
4.8
Everyone to be proud of their Council
Do you agree with this priority?

Everyone to be proud of their Council
250
213

200

200
150
100
50

24

37

7

3

0
Strongly disagree

Disagree

Neutral

Agree

Strongly agree

Not Answered

Of the 481 responders to this question, 86% responded that they agree or strongly agree
with the priority to "everyone to be proud of their Council". 8% responded that they were
neutral to the priority and a total of 6% stating they disagreed or strongly disagreed.
The citizen survey shows 80% support for this priority.
An identified theme is the importance of further engagement to enable resident's voices to
be heard and to be inclusive.

4.9

Overall do you think the priorities outlined in the plan clearly show what we
want to achieve and will enable us to achieve our proposed vision?

There was a general appreciation that the plan shows what the Council wants to achieve
and support that this will achieve the vision.
Participants have an interest in
understanding the key actions the Council will develop to deliver the priorities.

4.10 Do you think there is anything else the council should be doing to achieve
our proposed vision?
A strong theme shown in the comments was that there should be reference to more
engagement and consultation carried out, overall and at a local level about the work of the
Council. Comments were received about the number of HMO's and requests the need to
improve the range of businesses, events and tourism in the area.
4.11 Do you have any further comments about the council's proposed vision and
priorities?
A number of comments were received which are shown on the appendix to this report.
The comments raised have been covered in the previous themes.
Page 125
11

Appendix B

5.0

NEXT STEPS

We asked participants if they would like to receive a summary of the results and actions
taken as a result of the survey. This is to help evidence our "You Said, We Did" approach
outlined in the Customer Engagement Strategy.
The summary document will also be required to be published on the Council website and
details about next steps. Participants were also asked if they wanted to be contacted
about further consultations and they will be contacted directly when appropriate.

Page 126
12

Vision
West Lancashire together; is the place of choice to live, work, visit and invest

Our Priorities

Commented [TC1]: Based on feedback from Member
scrutiny event. Reflecting the need for the vision to be owned
by everyone in West Lancashire and building on the newly
established partnerships developed through Covid-19.

 Create empowered, engaged and inclusive communities
We want:








Healthy resilient and engaged communities that work together to improve the places they
live and work
Everyone to have the same opportunities regardless of where they live
Thriving voluntary and community groups that support innovation and collaboration
To work with partners for the good of local people
Our citizens to access the benefits of being digitally engaged
Councillors that are active and knowledgeable and are catalysts to support change at a
local level
To improve customer satisfaction

Commented [TC2]: Based on feedback from citizens &
Members: suggestion that we recognise the need for equality
of opportunity and remove reference to geography
Commented [TC3]: Based on feedback from Member
scrutiny event. Recognition of the Council's role is
addressing he digital divide.
Commented [TC4]: Based on feedback from Member
scrutiny session: use plain English

We will:










Build on and develop strengths within local communities
Engage with communities when making key decisions Carry out consultation in high
footfall areas
Use community networks to gain views from hard to reach groupspeople
Create innovative ways to listen to different community views
Use Councillors' existing reach and influence to provide community feedback to shape
decision making
Work with partners to develop a meaningful offer to support citizens to become digitally
included
Adopt a best practice model of consultation
Listen and provide feedback to customers about how their views have improved services
Develop neighbourhood plans with key partnerships committed to meeting the needs of
our communities

 Support businesses and town centres to recover adapt and prosper
We want:




West Lancashire to be the place of choice to locate your business
Our 3 towns centres to be thriving hubs for their communities
To support our businesses to succeed and grow

Page 127

Commented [TC5]: Based on feedback from citizens:
recognise the importance of citizens influencing decision
making

Commented [TC6]: Based on citizen feedback:
recognising the importance of community views influencing
decision making
Commented [TC7]: Based on feedback from Member
scrutiny session

Commented [TC8]: Feedback from citizens; a significant
focus on town centres. Is this right or should our focus be
more widely on economic recovery?
Commented [TC9]: Based on feedback from citizens; this
is recognising that Covid-19 may continue to impact for a
sustained period of time in a number of different ways, e.g.
2nd wave, continued social distancing. Businesses and
Council are needing to innovate. Town centres may be quite
different in the future than pre Covid-19.
Commented [TC10]: Feedback from citizens; there is a
need to reflect all of West Lancs and not just Ormskirk or
Skelmersdale. This wording is more inclusive.




A strong rural business economy
A vibrant and modern Ormskirk market that attracts visitors to the town centre

Commented [TC11]: Feedback from Member Scrutiny and
Citizens; need to reflect all of West Lancs economy &
agriculture being a key part of this.

We will:









Support the recovery and growth of existing and new businesses
Lead the regeneration of Skelmersdale Town Centre
Develop the market offer and reinvigorate Ormskirk's Eastern gateway
Adopt an inclusive procurement approach which supports local businesses to tender for
opportunities
Promote West Lancashire as a place to invest through the Skelmersdale Place Board &
Ambassadors
Signpost and support businesses to innovate and diversify
Develop a strong web presence which positively promotes West Lancashire
Create enlivened town centres offering diverse leisure opportunities and night time
economy

Become a Greener CouncilWest Lancashire

Commented [TC13]: Based on feedback from Member
scrutiny session: suggestion Council ambition should go
beyond just the actions of the Council. Suggestion focus on
the Council's role as an influencer of business & citizen
behaviour.

We want:







Commented [TC12]: Based on Member feedback; in line
with Community Wealth Building approach

To become a Carbon Neutral Council by 2030
Local business and citizens to embrace the green agenda
Council housing stock to meet high standards of efficiency - insulation, design, technology
To minimise waste disposal and improve recycling services to meet national targets
To embed green infrastructure into our thinking and planning for West Lancashire’s future
development and regeneration
To safeguard the natural landscape and maintain our green environment

Commented [TC14]: Based on feedback from Member
scrutiny and citizens. Recognition that to make a real
difference the Council has a wider role.

We will:









Be a role model and lead good practice; develop a Climate Change strategy and action plan
Ensure all council buildings are operating to highest efficiency standards – insulation,
design, and technology
Encourage local businesses and service providers to set their own targets for becoming
carbon neutral and promote their achievements
Commit to maximising Council energy requirements from renewable sources
Create Maximise the use of solar panels on Council owned buildings and housing stock
Increase the use of environmentally friendly products
Optimise the development of solar/wind farm investment
Use the supply chain to maximise energy efficiency, and design out waste and reduce our
carbon footprint

Page 128

Commented [TC15]: Based on feedback from Member
scrutiny and citizens. Recognition of how a long term plan
and commitments will support success.

Commented [TC16]: Based on feedback from Member
scrutiny and citizens.
Commented [TC17]: Based on Member feedback;
suggestion to maximise impact include housing stock
Commented [TC18]: Based on Member feedback;
suggestion to positively impact on our environment








Optimise the Council fleet; increase route efficiency and maximise low emissions
Enhance green spaces promoting diverse leisure uses and explore the option of developing
an Eco park
Support the development of green transport
Use green credentials to form part of our procurement selection criteria., using the supply
chain to reduce our carbon footprint
Reduce waste and improve recycling, implement a Waste strategy with a focus on
sustainable solutions
Develop a Local Plan policy encouraging green developments – green space, energy
efficiency, sustainable supply chains

 Be a financially sustainable Council by 20232

Commented [TC20]: Based on feedback from Member
scrutiny and citizens: Covid-19 has had a significant impact
and timescale should be revised accordingly.

We want:






Commented [TC19]: Based on feedback from Member
scrutiny; recognition of the importance the council's approach
supports sustainable solutions

To be confident, capable and financially sustainable
To continue to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of service provision
To be able to invest in high priority service areas
To maximise available government funding and generate income to reinvest in West
Lancashirereduce our reliance on government grant funding
To provide value for money services

Commented [TC21]: Feedback from citizens and
Members: recognise the importance of maximising Gov
funding and also articulate that all income will be directly
invested back into West Lancashire
Commented [TC22]: Based on Officer feedback: ambition
should be to achieve VFM in all service areas

We will:











Make sure our internal financial and decision-making processes continue to be strong
Continue the implementation of the Council's Sustainable Organisation Review
Maximise the returns from the Tawd Valley Development Company to increase revenueto
reinvest in West Lancashire.
Optimise inward investment
Review fees and charges including the implementation of a charging strategy for garden
wasteacross all council services
Continuously develop, find better ways to do things and embrace new technology
Consider the merits of all service options to ensure value for money is achieved
Review existing contract savings and work with suppliers to achieve economies of scale
Maximise commercial investment opportunities through a commercial strategy
MaximiseSweat the value from existing assets and focus on value for money

 A clean, safe environment with affordable homes to buy or rent for everyone in West
Lancashire
We want:

Page 129

Commented [TC23]: Feedback from Citizens and
Members; recognise that all returns will be reinvested back
into West Lancashire
Commented [TC24]: Feedback from Member scrutiny:
Reflect the need to sustainably manage all fees and charges
not just garden waste.

Commented [TC25]: Feedback from Member Scrutiny &
Members: use plain English






To provide a cleaner physical environment to enhance the Borough
West Lancashire to be kept clean and safe for all citizens
A Local Plan that supports quality growth and infrastructure in the Borough
To provide quality and genuinely affordable homes

Commented [TC26]: Based on Member and citizen
feedback: have a specific commitment in relation to the
environment

We will:













Increase Deliver high qualitythe frequency of street cleansing services based on demand
in residential areas.
Provide a best value service for cleansing, waste and recycling
Invest resources within services to achieve an improvement to the local environmental
quality
Develop environment ward reports forrom members
Develop homes to rent/buy/for shared ownership through Tawd Valley Development
Company
Increase the supply of homes to bring cheaper private rents/more choice
Getting the right mix of properties for each community
Continue to drive forward the community safety agenda
Review WLBC/public estate land holdings
Lead estate regeneration creating attractive places where people want to live
Review our Housing Strategy
Identify strategic regeneration areas and investment plans

Commented [TC27]: Officer recommendation: Propose
we move to a demand led service based on evidence.
Commented [TC28]: Recognition that this should be the
case for all services. This has been moved under finance
section and broadened to cover all services
Commented [TC29]: Based on Member and citizen
feedback: strengthen commitment in relation to quality of the
environment

Commented [TC30]: Based on feedback from citizens;
recognising the importance of community safety and
addressing ASB.

 Everyone to be healthy, happy, safe and resilient
We want:







To help businesses in West Lancashire to thrive, grow and connect
Secure the benefits of high quality growth
An engaged and motivated Council workforce
To design services that help people stay healthy and independent
To invest in sports and leisure services and facilities
To protect, invest and continue to develop our green leisure spaces

We will:









Create aDeliver our food poverty strategy and action plan
Develop aDeliver our fuel poverty strategy and action plan
Create Deliver oura financial inclusion strategy and action plan
DevelopDeliver oura people strategy with Council staff that results in a high performing
culturecontinuously improving culture
Review Deliver our health and wellbeing strategy embedding school initiatives
Work with partners to focus on prevention and reducing health inequalities
Develop a quality range of health, wellbeing and leisure facilities and services
Bring in additional money/services to support our most deprived areas

Page 130

Commented [TC31]: Feedback from staff: this outcome is
not clear
Commented [TC32]: Based on feedback from Member
scrutiny
Commented [TC33]: Based on feedback from staff and
citizens: recognising the use of outdoor space.
Commented [TC34]: Based on citizen and Member
feedback; reflect the Council's commitment to providing high
quality outdoor leisure space for citizens to enjoy. It is noted
the key role this has played for many during Covid-19.

Commented [TC35]: Based on feedback from Member
scrutiny
Commented [TC36]: Based on Member and Officer
feedback; wording amendment to acknowledge the need to
continuous improvement
Commented [TC37]: Based on staff feedback and citizen
feedback;

 Everyone to be proud of their Council

Page 131

Appendix D

Equality Impact Assessment Form
Directorate: Transformation & Resources Service: Partnership & Performance
Completed by: Alison Grimes
Date: 20 August 2020
Subject Title: Council Plan 2020/21-2022/23
1. DESCRIPTION
Is a policy or strategy being produced or
revised:
Is a service being designed, redesigned or
cutback:
Is a commissioning plan or contract
specification being developed:
Is a budget being set or funding allocated:

Yes

Is a programme or project being planned:
Are recommendations being presented to
senior managers and/or Councillors:
Does the activity contribute to meeting our
duties under the Equality Act 2010 and Public
Sector Equality Duty (Eliminating unlawful

No

No
No
No

Yes

Yes

discrimination/harassment, advancing equality of
opportunity, fostering good relations):

Details of the matter under consideration:
The assessment is for the Council Plan 2020/21-2022/23. The Council Plan reflects the Council’s vision and
priorities.
The Council Plan is the overarching strategy for the Council and sets the vision and priorities for the Council.
The Plan sets well-defined priorities to be used when shaping future budget decisions and during service
planning. The plan actions may themselves involve service design, redesign or cutback, or contract specification
development, or require budget considerations. The plan has been developed in line with the new target
operating model for the Council and following public and stakeholder consultation.
If you answered Yes to any of the above go straight to Section 3
If you answered No to all the above please complete Section 2

2. RELEVANCE
Does the work being carried out impact on
service users, staff or Councillors
(stakeholders):
If Yes, provide details of how this impacts on
service users, staff or Councillors
(stakeholders):
If you answered Yes go to Section 3

Yes

Delivery of the vision and priorities is through a
broad range of actions. Specifying priorities assists
with managing resources. Outcomes and outputs
will impact on a variety of customers, service users,
communities, Councillors and employees depending
on the action.

If you answered No to both Sections 1and 2
provide details of why there is no impact on
these three groups:
You do not need to complete the rest of this form.

Page 133

1

Appendix D

3. EVIDENCE COLLECTION
Who does the work being carried out impact on,
i.e. who is/are the stakeholder(s)?

If the work being carried out relates to a
universal service, who needs or uses it most?
(Is there any particular group affected more
than others)?

Which of the protected characteristics are most
relevant to the work being carried out?
Age
Gender
Disability
Race and Culture
Sexual Orientation
Religion or Belief
Gender Reassignment
Marriage and Civil Partnership
Pregnancy and Maternity

Given the wide range of actions included in the
Plan, there is unlikely to be a disproportionate
effect on any single group with protected
characteristics, or on any stakeholder group across
the whole of the plan. The plan directly or indirectly
impacts on all Council services and therefore all
who work for the Council, those who use Council
services or engage with the Council. Any specific
actions covered by the Plan that may impact upon
equality groups should be subject to an individual
EIA by the relevant service.
As above.
The current wide-range of actions included in the
whole plan across many service areas means that
there is unlikely to be ‘most relevant’ protected
characteristics affected, or any particular group
affected more than others. This may change with
content in the lifetime of the plan.

No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No

4. DATA ANALYSIS
In relation to the work being carried out, and the
service/function in question, who is actually or
currently using the service and why?

What will the impact of the work being carried
out be on usage/the stakeholders?

What are people’s views about the services?
Are some customers more satisfied than others,
and if so what are the reasons? Can these be
Page 134

The plan applies borough-wide and beyond and will
include work with partners. Given the strategic
nature of the plan and the wide range of priorities
and actions included, the work outlined will
therefore impact on a broad range of service users
and stakeholders in different ways.
By having a clear statement of priorities through
the Plan, attention and resources can be
effectively focussed on achieving the Council's
core objectives. The overall impact should be
positive since the priorities of the plan aim for a
positive impact on the borough. Negative impact
will be mitigated through individual EIAs
conducted by the relevant service.
A draft Council Plan was developed by Cabinet
working with senior Council management. The Plan
containing the strategic ambitions was subject to

2

Appendix D
Councillor, staff and stakeholder consultation. A
public consultation was held 7 July – 19 August to
gather views on the proposed new Council Plan.
Comments were considered for final refinements to
the plan.

affected by the proposals?

Council priorities are additionally informed by the
Citizen/Stakeholder Survey which gathers views on
a range of issues including the Council’s budget. The
survey results can assist the Council in making plans
to deliver services and make efficiency
improvements.

What sources of data including consultation
results have you used to analyse the impact of
the work being carried out on
users/stakeholders with protected
characteristics?

Views on services are gathered through informal
and formal contacts/consultation throughout the
year to provide a wide range of views to service
managers about Council services. These will inform
planning of services/changes alongside the financial
constraints the Council works within.
As above. Individual projects that may impact upon
equality groups should be the subject of EIAs
themselves by the relevant service with
involvement/consultation as appropriate. The final
proposed Plan has been refined following
consultation feedback.

If any further data/consultation is needed and is
to be gathered, please specify:
5. IMPACT OF DECISIONS
In what way will the changes impact on people
with particular protected characteristics (either
positively or negatively or in terms of
disproportionate impact)?

Outlining the Council’s priorities should provide
reassurance that resources are being carefully
managed. There is unlikely to be a disproportionate
effect on any single group with protected
characteristics, or on any stakeholder group. The
plan can be provided in alternative formats on
request. Impacts of changes resulting from
individual actions will be dealt with by the relevant
service.

6. CONSIDERING THE IMPACT
If there is a negative impact what action can be
taken to mitigate it? (If it is not possible or
desirable to take actions to reduce the impact,
explain why this is the case (e.g. legislative or
financial drivers etc.).
What actions do you plan to take to address
any other issues above?

Any initiatives within the plan that may impact upon
equality groups should be subject to an individual
EIA conducted by the relevant service.

The effectiveness and impact of Council priorities
are assessed through responses to the annual
Citizen/Stakeholder Survey.

7. MONITORING AND REVIEWING
When will this assessment be reviewed and

Page 135

The assessment will be reviewed as part of the

3

Appendix D
annual refresh process. This will include review by
the senior management team.

who will review it?

Page 136

4

Agenda Item 12
EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW &
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:
24 September 2020
CABINET: 10 November 2020

Report of: Corporate Director of Place & Community
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor J. Wilkie
Contact for further information: Tina Iball (Extn.5197)
(E-mail: christina.iball@westlancs.gov.uk)

SUBJECT: CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY AND ACTION PLAN 2030

Wards affected: Borough wide
1.0

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1

To present and seek comments on the draft Climate Change Strategy and Action
Plan (CCS&AP) 2030, intended to assist in the delivery of the Councils aspiration
to be carbon neutral by 2030 and progress towards a low carbon West
Lancashire.

2.0

RECOMMENDATIONS
COMMITTEE

2.1

That the CCS&AP 2030 be approved for presentation to Cabinet.

3.0

RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET

3.1

That it is recognised that this is intended to be a continually evolving document
and delegated authority be given to the Environmental Strategy Officer to update
as required.

3.2

The delegated authority shall be limited to changes that do not have any direct
impact on allocated budgets approved to deliver any part of the CCS&AP 2030.

4.0

BACKGROUND

4.1

The CCS&AP 2030 is intended to supersede the existing Climate Change
Strategy 2020 which the Council adopted back in 2008. The 25% carbon
reduction target set out within this Strategy was achieved in 2014.

TO

EXECUTIVE

Page 137

OVERVIEW

&

SCRUTINY

4.2

The Council, along with a large number of other UK local authorities, declared a
climate emergency in 2019. The declaration pledged to take urgent action to
reduce carbon emissions at a local level. This included a pledge to 'have a vision
of, and aspire to carbon neutrality by 2030 at the latest' and committed to climate
action in other areas to work towards a low carbon West Lancashire. The full
details of the motion can be found in paragraph 1.2 of the CCS&AP 2030.

4.3

Whilst the current focus of the CCS&AP 2030 is inward looking, to get our own
house in order prior to adopting a leadership role, the document also aims to start
developing outward looking actions to aid and encourage delivery of a low
carbon borough.

5.0

CURRENT POSITION

5.1

The CCS&AP 2030 includes two new carbon baselines and associated carbon
reduction targets, which all future annual carbon footprints and progress will be
measured against:




5.2

The primary sources of emissions identified within the two new carbon footprint
baselines have been utilised to identify seven key priority areas for action on
emissions reduction:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

5.3

A 2018/19 baseline carbon footprint for Council operations has been
developed following participation in a Lancashire wide initiative,
working in partnership with One Carbon World. This has resulted in
an increased carbon footprint as additional sources of emissions have
been included i.e. emissions from communal areas of housing (e.g. in
sheltered schemes), waste and water use. The Council carbon
reduction target is to achieve carbon neutrality by 2030, as pledged in
the climate emergency declaration.
A 2017 baseline carbon footprint for the West Lancashire borough has
been included. This originates from emissions data produced by the
Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) and is
considered the most accurate and current data available. A West
Lancashire carbon reduction target for the Borough has been
included, based on a report produced for West Lancashire by The
Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research.

Delivering a Carbon Neutral Council
Sustainable Procurement
Transport and Travel
Residential Buildings
Commercial Activity
Community Action
Natural Environment

Each priority area has specific objectives and a 2020-21 action plan within the
CCS&AP 2030. The action plans are intended to be a live documents that will
continually evolve on our journey to achieving carbon neutrality. They will be
updated annually, or more frequently if required, as new projects are identified
and investigated.

Page 138

5.4

Actions highlighting the importance of a green recovery from the Covid-19
pandemic have also been included, to ensure that we couple coronavirus
recovery plans with climate action.

6.0

ACTION TO DATE

6.1

Progress has been made on some projects detailed within the action plans whilst
this document has been in the development stages. These include:










7.0

An initial feasibility study into the suitability of Council-owned land for
development of a Solar Farm has been undertaken.
LED lighting is being installed at Derby Street as part of on-going
works currently on site.
Participation in the Energy Saving Trusts Fleet Review Programme to
gain recommendations on how best to start decarbonising our fleet.
Investigations into a new Government fund for electric vehicle
infrastructure.
Completion of an 80KW solar PV installation at West Lancashire
Investment Centre.
The Council has committed £15k to the Ribble Rivers Trust's
Lancashire Woodland Connect project to increase tree planting across
the Borough.
Discussions with the Councils energy provider to procure 100%
renewable electricity for all Council sites from April 2021.
Formation of a Climate Change Officer Working Group, which will meet
bi-monthly to progress and report on actions across the different areas
of the Council.
Ongoing negotiations to ensure the new build developments on
redundant garage sites achieve low carbon status.

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

7.1

By its very nature, the sustainability benefits of delivering the CCS&AP 2030 are
numerous. Reduction in the use of dirty energy derived from fossil fuels and
finite resources and an increased use of energy from renewable sources will
reduce carbon emissions, reduce our impact on climate change and help to
improve air quality. Energy efficiency measures undertaken on the Councils
housing stock will improve the quality of housing provided, helping to deliver
affordable warmth, reduce fuel poverty and cold related illnesses and improve
health and well-being, inadvertently reducing demand to local health services in
the long term.

7.2

Sustainable procurement of our goods and services and sustainable
development in the construction industry will improve the economic prosperity of
environmentally conscious businesses and help to enhance a green economy.

8.0

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

8.1

There are no financial implications directly associated with this report, however
implementing the action plans as a whole will require extra financial resources in
addition to those included within current business plans. This will specifically
Page 139

relate to the capital purchase of equipment, for example electric vehicles,
upgrading of the Councils property portfolio (corporate, domestic and
commercial) with energy efficiency measures and installing district heating
systems / renewable energy plant. In some cases the Council may be able to
access central Government funding streams to partially or fully fund some
aspects of the CCS&AP 2030 and this will always be investigated.
8.2

As such it is proposed that the action plans are to be analysed and costed on an
individual point by point item, working in partnership with relevant service
managers and budget holders. This exercise will identify where existing business
plan/ budget provision can be used to facilitate delivery of a project, and where
this is not the case and external funding streams cannot fund, either partially or
wholly, then capital bids should be submitted as part of the annual budget setting
process. This will allow for a more co-ordinated approach to delivering the
CCS&AP2030.

8.3

Delivery of the action plans within the document will require resources and
partnership working across many areas of the Council i.e. Property Services,
Fleet Management and Housing and Commercial Estates teams to name a few.
Consultation with key officers within these teams has already been undertaken
and they are aware of the actions included.

9.0

RISK ASSESSMENT

9.1

The actions referred to in this report are covered by the scheme of delegation to
officers and any necessary changes have been made in the relevant risk
registers.

9.2

There is currently no formal or legal requirement for Councils to adopt carbon
reduction targets, publish carbon footprint reports or take action on carbon
reduction, however there are significant risks attached to taking no action at all.
The changing climate will have impacts on our borough, country and beyond i.e.
flooding and weather related events, fossil fuel derived energy costs will continue
to escalate and fuel poverty implications could see tenants having to make
financial choices between heating their homes and paying their rent.

9.3

Local Authorities have a responsibility to act as community leaders and show the
way to a cleaner, greener future. An aspiration to achieve a carbon neutral
status for the Council is an exciting opportunity to investigate new technologies
and processes to reduce the impact our operations have on the local
environment.

10.0

HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS

10.1

Tackling climate change and enabling a low carbon future has many links to
health and wellbeing:


The impacts of climate change include warming temperatures and
increases in the frequency or intensity of extreme weather events such as
heat waves and flooding. Such events can threaten our health (especially
for the most vulnerable), the food we eat, the water we drink and the air
we breathe.

Page 140






Improving the energy efficiency of homes not only saves energy and
carbon but will reduce fuel poverty, deliver affordable warmth and reduce
ill health/ deaths resulting from living in a cold home.
Warmer temperatures and shifting weather patterns can also worsen air
quality, exacerbating respiratory related illnesses.
Tackling climate change by utilising natural carbon stores from tree
planting offers more local green spaces and encourages healthier
lifestyles e.g. walking or cycling.
Investing in local renewable energy not only reduces fossil fuel
consumption but also provides energy security and independence.

Background Documents
There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local
Government Act 1972) to this Report.
Equality Impact Assessment
There is a direct impact on members of the public, employees, elected members and /
or stakeholders, therefore an Equality Impact Assessment is required. A formal equality
impact assessment is attached as an Appendix to this report, the results of which have
been taken into account in the Recommendations contained within this report
Appendices
1.
2.
3.

Equality Impact Assessment
Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan 2030 (separate document)
Minute of Executive Overview & Scrutiny Committee 24 September 2020
(Cabinet Only)

Page 141

Appendix A

Equality Impact Assessment Form
Directorate: Place and Community
Service: Property Services
Completed by: Tina Iball
Date: 14th September 2020
Subject Title: Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan 2030
1. DESCRIPTION
Is a policy or strategy being produced or
revised:
Is a service being designed, redesigned or
cutback:
Is a commissioning plan or contract
specification being developed:
Is a budget being set or funding allocated:
Is a programme or project being planned:
Are recommendations being presented to
senior managers and/or Councillors:
Does the activity contribute to meeting our
duties under the Equality Act 2010 and Public
Sector Equality Duty (Eliminating unlawful

*delete as appropriate
Yes
No
No
No
Yes
Yes

No

discrimination/harassment, advancing equality of
opportunity, fostering good relations):

Details of the matter under consideration:

Adoption of a Climate Change Strategy and
Action Plan, to achieve a carbon neutral
Council by 2030.

If you answered Yes to any of the above go straight to Section 3
If you answered No to all the above please complete Section 2

2. RELEVANCE
Does the work being carried out impact on
service users, staff or Councillors
(stakeholders):
If Yes, provide details of how this impacts on
service users, staff or Councillors
(stakeholders):
If you answered Yes go to Section 3

Yes

Achievement of the carbon neutrality target
will require support and engagement from
all staff and Councillors.

If you answered No to both Sections 1and 2

Page 142

provide details of why there is no impact on
these three groups:
You do not need to complete the rest of this form.

3. EVIDENCE COLLECTION
Who does the work being carried out impact on,
i.e. who is/are the stakeholder(s)?

If the work being carried out relates to a
universal service, who needs or uses it most?
(Is there any particular group affected more
than others)?
Which of the protected characteristics are most
relevant to the work being carried out?
Age
Gender
Disability
Race and Culture
Sexual Orientation
Religion or Belief
Gender Reassignment
Marriage and Civil Partnership
Pregnancy and Maternity

Council staff
Tenants (domestic and commercial)
Contractors and supply chain providers
Builders and Developers
Actions will have positive affects for staff
and Council tenants.

*delete as appropriate
Yes
No
Yes
No
No
No
No
No
No

4. DATA ANALYSIS
In relation to the work being carried out, and the
service/function in question, who is actually or
currently using the service and why?

Council staff working in energy inefficient
buildings, tenants living in/ working in less
efficient homes/ buildings.
Contractors delivering Council services
What will the impact of the work being carried
Energy efficient homes and buildings for
out be on usage/the stakeholders?
domestic and commercial tenants.
More stringent environmental requirements
for contractors and suppliers.
What are people’s views about the services?
Climate change awareness is growing and
Are some customers more satisfied than others, considered to be an area people want to
and if so what are the reasons? Can these be
see action taken.
affected by the proposals?
What sources of data including consultation
Work undertaken to date, energy and
results have you used to analyse the impact of
carbon emissions consumption data,
the work being carried out on
savings on fuel bills etc.
users/stakeholders with protected
characteristics?
If any further data/consultation is needed and is The feasibility of individual energy projects
to be gathered, please specify:
needs to be investigated.
5. IMPACT OF DECISIONS
In what way will the changes impact on people
with particular protected characteristics (either
positively or negatively or in terms of
disproportionate impact)?

Affordable warmth in homes, especially for
those with limited mobility.

Page 143

6. CONSIDERING THE IMPACT
If there is a negative impact what action can be
taken to mitigate it? (If it is not possible or
desirable to take actions to reduce the impact,
explain why this is the case (e.g. legislative or
financial drivers etc.).

There will be an element of risk attached to
any investment in renewable energy
projects. Research and specialist
consultation will be used to minimise this
risk.

What actions do you plan to take to address
any other issues above?

Negative impacts are minimal, no action
required.

7. MONITORING AND REVIEWING
When will this assessment be reviewed and
who will review it?

The action plans within the Plan will be
continually reviewed and revised. A
progress report will also be produced
annually.

Page 144

West Lancashire Borough Council
Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan
2020 – 2030

1

Page 145

Contents
1.0

Introduction……………………………………………………………………….. 3

2.0

Action on Climate Change ……………………………………………………… 5

3.0

Achievements to date……. …………………………………………………….. 7

4.0

Carbon Emissions Baselines ………………………………………………….. 10

5.0

Carbon Reduction Targets …………………………………………………….. 14

6.0

Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan 2030 ……………………………. 16

7.0

Priority 1: Delivering a Carbon Neutral Council ……………………………… 18

8.0

Priority 2: Sustainable Procurement ………………………………………….. 23

9.0

Priority 3: Transport and Travel ……………………………………………….. 25

10.0

Priority 4: The Domestic Sector………………………………………………… 28

11.0

Priority 5: The Commercial Sector…………………………………………….. 32

12.0

Priority 6: Community Action ………………………………………………….. 35

13.0

Priority 7: The Natural Environment …………………………………………… 37

14.0

Implementation, Monitoring and Review ……………………………………… 40

15.0

Conclusions ……………………………………………………………………… 40

16.0

Appendix A: Glossary of Terms ……………………………………………….. 41

17.0

Appendix B: West Lancashire Borough Carbon Footprint Breakdown…….. 43

18.0

Appendix C: Corporate Buildings Operational Energy Policy……………….. 44

19.0

Appendix D: Guide to Sustainable Procurement……………………………... 46

2

Page 146

1.0

Introduction

The need to reduce the impact that human activity is having on the environment is not a new
concept. The impact greenhouse gas emissions are having on our climate and the risks this
presents have been well documented for over thirty years. However, a report released by the
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) in late 2018 highlighted that efforts
already undertaken to reduce these impacts are not enough.
More ambitious goals are required if we are to dramatically reduce greenhouse gases and cap
further temperature rises at 1.5oC, an identified threshold for dangerous climate change. This
has been strongly supported by the Governments advisory Committee on Climate Change
(CCC) who subsequently recommended an ambitious target to reduce UK greenhouse gas
emissions to zero by 2050.
This target is considered achievable with considerable retro-fitting, known renewable
technologies and behavioural change and is considered deliverable within the economic cost
originally accepted with the Climate Change Act in 2008.
There are numerous additional benefits associated with achieving a low carbon future, for
example, improved health and wellbeing, improved air quality, tackling fuel poverty, changes
in land use and reduced noise. The advances in low carbon technologies, energy storage and
low carbon vehicles also offer significant opportunities for our economy and employment
sector.
This is a crucial time in the global effort to reduce climate change, but greater action must start
locally and it must start immediately, if we are to achieve the target to reduce UK greenhouse
gas emissions to zero by 2050. As a Local Authority, service provider and estate manager,
we should be leading the way in achieving carbon reductions and reducing our impact on the
environment.

1.1

A Local Focus on a Global Problem

The vision of West Lancashire Borough Council is to be ambitious for West Lancashire - our
Economy, Environment and for Health and Wellbeing.
'We are ambitious for our economy, and for inclusive growth in West Lancashire, retaining and
growing good quality jobs, increasing skills levels and encouraging business and wealth
generation. This is matched by our ambitions for a good quality, clean, built and physical
environment, and for ensuring the conditions are in place for people in West Lancashire to live
healthy and fulfilling lives'.
Tackling climate change isn’t a stand-alone issue and has wider strategic importance to the
Councils Plan. Delivering a low carbon future should not only be embedded in every part of
the Councils vision, it should also be a key delivery vehicle to achieving it:
-

-

Low carbon goods and services are a rapidly growing market and provide significant
growth opportunities for a low carbon economy.
Supporting the development and take up of new technologies and innovation will
promote sustainable economic growth.
New, skilled job opportunities will come from renewable energy and energy efficiency
retrofitting markets.
Businesses will need to meet increasing customer expectations on their sustainability
credentials to thrive.
Investment in local energy networks and renewable energy improves energy security.
Community energy projects will engage and empower our local communities.
3

Page 147

-

-

1.2

Good air quality will come from decarbonising transport and utilising greener travel
choices.
Good quality, energy efficient housing will increase affordable warmth and reduce
fuel poverty.
Improved health and well-being will come from less people living in cold and damp
housing.
Good access to green spaces will encourage more sustainable travel and healthier
lifestyles.
Tree planting delivers excellent biodiversity and habitat benefits, as well as being
excellent carbon stores and providing protection from climate change impacts such
as flooding and heatwaves.

Climate Change Emergency Declaration

In July 2019, West Lancashire Borough Council joined many other Councils in acknowledging
the IPCC report findings and declaring a Climate Emergency.
In signing up to this declaration, the Council pledged to:









1.3

Have a vision of, and aspire to be a carbon neutral Council by 2030, at the latest.
Continue to call on Westminster to provide the necessary powers and resources to
make local action on climate change easier.
Work to explore the expansion of community energy to keep the benefits of local
energy generation in our local economy.
Continue to work with partners anchored in West Lancashire to deliver carbon
reductions and grow the local economy.
Encourage local Councillors to take action in their communities, with a view to
establishing a citizen's assembly.
Encourage climate change action through new Local Plan policies, including both
domestic and commercial new build requirements and additional planting of
woodlands.
Consider initiating a multi-year programme of insulation and other energy efficiency
measures to the Councils housing stock.

Single-Use Plastics

A further motion was also passed in December 2019 in relation to the elimination of Single
Use Plastics (SUPs) and inclusion of the following actions:






The development of a robust Strategy to make West Lancashire Borough Council a
'single-use plastic free' authority by the end of 2020, including an end to the purchase
and procurement of SUPs through the Council supply chain and a transition to the use
of compostable bags for litter collection by the Councils Clean and Green teams.
End the provision of SUP products such as cups and cutlery in Council buildings and
at Council run events.
Work with tenants and operators in commercial properties owned by the Council, to
encourage the phasing out of SUP cups, bottles, cutlery and straws.
Encourage the Boroughs businesses, organisations and residents to go SUP free,
working with best practise partners to provide business support, practical guidelines
and advice to help local businesses transition from SUPs to sustainable alternatives.

4

Page 148

2.0

Action on Climate Change

Whilst declaring a climate emergency is an important first step in demonstrating our
commitment to the challenge ahead, the really crucial part is the action that follows. The
Council recognises that action is required now and that we need to provide leadership in this
climate crisis. This will fall into two main areas:
1. Reducing the Carbon Footprint of Council Operations
Reducing the impact the Councils operations have on the environment is a crucial starting
point to tackling the climate crisis. Whist it is appreciated that, in comparison to the carbon
footprint of the Borough, emissions from Council operations are relatively small, we also
recognise the importance of getting our own house in order prior to adopting a leadership role
to others.
The Councils carbon footprint is quantifiable and we have an emissions baseline which is
within our control and we can work to reduce. Achieving a carbon neutral status for the Council
is therefore identified as our first challenge. Notwithstanding this, the importance of
community and borough-wide action is recognised and will be progressed.
2. The Carbon Footprint of the Boroughs Operations
Identifying carbon targets and delivering quantifiable reductions for the Borough is by far a
bigger challenge. Whilst the Council already support some work in this area, and will continue
to do so, we recognise more work is required to have a greater understanding of how best to
use Council resources to have the biggest impact on greenhouse gas emissions across the
Borough. Work in this area will continue to develop and be incorporated into the Climate
Change Strategy as it evolves and develops over coming years.
It is also recognised that any zero/ low carbon targets proposed will need to be adopted by all
who live, work and visit the borough to make any real impact. The Council will look to engage
with our local communities to identify areas and projects they would like to see delivered
across West Lancashire.

2.1

A Green Recovery to the Covid-19 Pandemic

Recovery from the recent Coronavirus pandemic will no doubt be challenging, but it's
imperative that the climate change emergency isn’t forgotten and that we couple coronavirus
recovery plans with climate action. There are financial, environmental and social benefits to
ensuring a low carbon and climate resilient recovery, taking effective and lasting climate action
which will build sustainable and resilient communities.
Coronavirus recovery plans offer a window of opportunity to retain and build on the
environmental benefits we have witnessed during the period of lockdown across the Country.
Lifestyles have no doubt become greener and Coronavirus related travel restrictions have
seen traffic levels fall dramatically, cutting harmful air quality pollutants and CO2 emissions
significantly. Less commuting and increased video-conferencing and working from home will
reduce transport emissions. More people walking and cycling will have benefits to both the
environment and people's health and wellbeing. More people enjoying local green spaces,
with reduced noise levels and increased biodiversity all have many environmental benefits.
However, there has been many warnings to not assume this drop in pollution levels will lead
to any significant and sustained climate action progress. Avoiding warming of more than 1.5oC
above the pre-industrial temperatures will require an unrelenting reduction year on year for
the next decade.
5

Page 149

The International Renewable Energy Agency has encouraged Councils to accelerate
investment in renewable energy to generate economic benefits and tackle the climate crisis.
Energy efficiency and retrofit work is also an area that has been highlighted in Government
proposals to rescue the post-Coronavirus economy. Leading economists have highlighted
green measures as amongst the highest rated Coronavirus recovery polices for factors such
as speed of implementation, long term economic benefit and climate impact.
Recommended actions for Councils, that need to be considered and prioritised within this plan
include:









Improve and maintain cycle and walking routes around the Borough and look to
increase provisions where possible, to help make it easier for residents to make active
and sustainable travel choices.
Capitalise on the momentum and support for active travel and the appreciation for
parks and green spaces and consider how these can be enhanced for environmental
and social benefit.
Maintain our green space provisions and invest in more tree planting schemes.
Identify investment opportunities from renewable energy that could generate huge
economic benefits while helping to tackle the climate crisis.
Enable staff to work from home where possible and investigate the potential changes
in office accommodation this could facilitate.
Focus on energy efficiency across the corporate building estate to meet climate
targets.

It is recognised that time is of the essence and these actions will be investigated and built into
the relevant action plans.

6

Page 150

3.0

Achievements to Date

This chapter reflects on our achievements over the last decade to reduce the impact our
operations have on the environment.
3.1

Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan 2008 - 2020

The Council adopted a Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan back in 2008. This Strategy
aimed to reduce greenhouse gases, whilst maintaining and improving the quality of services
provided. The Strategy set a target to reduce emissions of greenhouse gases directly
associated with Council operations by at least 25% by 2020, against a 2006/07 baseline.
The baseline carbon footprint included gas consumption in corporate buildings and fleet
transport (scope 1 emissions), electricity consumption in corporate buildings (scope 2
emissions), electricity transmission and distribution and staff/Member business travel (scope
3 emissions). It was calculated and reported annually in line with DEFRA guidance on how to
measure and report greenhouse gas emissions.
The Council achieved year on year reductions in emissions, reaching a 26% reduction in
emissions and achieving the Strategy target in 2013/14. Further work over more recent years
continued to build on this achievement, with the Council reporting a 40% reduction in our
2018/19 carbon footprint, against the 2006/07 baseline.
A full breakdown of our annual achievements can be seen in Graph 2.1 below.

Reduction on CO2e Emissions
4000
3500

Tonnes of CO2e

3000

10%

10%
19%

2500

24%

26%

30%

2000

35%

37%

42%

40%

1500
1000
500
0
2006/07 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Year
Scope 1

Scope 2

Scope 3

Graph 3.1: Annual Reduction in WLBC Corporate Carbon Footprint
This Strategy aims to build on the success of work completed to date and will supersede the
Climate Change Strategy 2008 – 2020 and the Sustainable Energy Strategy 2012- 2020.

7

Page 151

3.2

West Lancashire Local Authority Area Emissions

The Department of Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) publishes UK local
authority and regional estimates of CO2 emissions on a yearly basis. With the most recent
data detailing emissions from 2017, this data is a few years behind but is the best currently
available.

CO2 Emission Estimates 2005- 2017 (kt CO2)
1,200.0
1,100.0
1,000.0
900.0
800.0
700.0
600.0
500.0
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Figure 2.3: UK Local Authority CO2 Emissions for West Lancashire
Source: BEIS data, National Statistics
Emissions across the West Lancashire area have fallen by 354ktCO2 (31%) between 2005
and 2017. This is a good start but far more needs to be done if we are to contribute towards
meeting UK emissions targets by 2050.
3.3

Improving the energy efficiency of our Housing Stock

Over recent years, the Council have significantly invested in making its homes more energy
efficient, delivering basic measures including:





Loft and cavity wall insulation programmes
Annual A-rated gas boiler replacement programme
Window and external door replacement programmes
External wall insulation projects

We have also invested in various renewable energy installations to benefit our tenants, help
reduce their energy bills, deliver affordable warmth, reduce fuel poverty and improve the EPC
ratings of our homes.
Installation of these technologies has also led to significant savings for the Council. By
maximising opportunities from external funding pots such as Carbon Emissions Reduction
Target (CERT), Community Energy Saving Programme (CESP) Green Deal, and (Energy
Company Obligations (ECO) over recent years, as well as generating new income streams for
the future from Feed-in tariffs (FITs) and Renewable Heat Incentives (RHI).

8

Page 152

These measures include:










Installation of Air Source Heat Pump (ASHP) heating systems in over 150 properties,
providing a reliable, efficient and low carbon source of heating and hot water to homes
located off the gas-grid. These installations also receive Domestic Renewable Heat
Incentive (RHI) payments which achieve a return on investment in around 7 years.
A communal biomass pellet boiler which supplies a sheltered housing scheme with low
carbon heating and hot water for 42 dwellings. This system also receives payments
from the non-domestic RHI scheme.
A large-scale domestic solar photovoltaics (PV) project installing solar panels on 588
properties. This provides free electricity for the tenant, reducing energy bills and
helping reduce fuel poverty. The systems also generate income for the Council from
the FIT scheme over a 20 year period from the date of installation.
A Combined Heat and Power (CHP) system on a sheltered housing scheme containing
over 40 dwellings. This boiler generates renewable electricity from the gas boiler,
resulting in savings on the landlord energy bills.
Plus, eight corporate solar PV schemes generating renewable electricity for two office
buildings, the Investment Centre and five sheltered housing schemes, along with a
solar thermal system generating hot water at another sheltered housing scheme.

9

Page 153

4.0

Carbon Emission Baselines

The monitoring and reporting of carbon emissions in West Lancashire, both corporately by the
Council and nationally by relevant Government bodies, has been happening for well over a
decade, so progress to this point is largely well documented.
Following the climate emergency declaration, new baseline data is required to:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Set out the current position.
Identify the largest sources of emissions and identify priority areas to tackle.
Act as a new marker which all future progress will be measured against.
Evidence the achievements and accomplishments in the future.

In accordance with the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol Corporate Standard, emissions have
been calculated under three scopes, as illustrated in Figure 4.0 below. These include direct
emissions, indirect emissions and other indirect emissions:






Scope 1 (direct) emissions are those occurring from sources owned or controlled by
the Council (e.g. fleet fuel and gas consumption) or located within the boundary of
West Lancashire.
Scope 2 (indirect) emissions are those released into the atmosphere as a result of the
consumption of purchased grid electricity, heat, steam and cooling. These indirect
emissions are a consequence of both the Councils and Boroughs energy use, but
occur at sources not owned or controlled within the Borough.
Scope 3 (other indirect) emissions are all other greenhouse gases that occur at
sources not owned or controlled and not classed as Scope 2 emissions e.g. waste and
water disposal, materials consumption and business travel that occur outside the
Council or the Borough boundary.

Figure 4.0: Definition of Scope 1, 2 and 3 Emissions

10

Page 154

4.1

West Lancashire Borough Council 2018-19 Carbon Footprint

West Lancashire Borough Councils 2008 carbon footprint utilised a 2006/07 baseline,
specifically related to corporate buildings. The footprint excluded energy consumed through
landlord supplies in other Council run buildings such as community sports pavilions, public
toilets and sheltered and communal housing. It was also a footprint solely based on energy
consumption in corporate buildings and didn’t extend to emissions from other sources such
as water consumption, waste and paper usage. However, it is recognised that if the Council
is to achieve complete carbon neutrality, it will need to include emissions from all possible
aspects of our operations.
In March 2020 the Council partnered with One Carbon World to undertake new a baseline
carbon footprint of the Council’s estate and operations. One Carbon World is a not for profit,
carbon neutral organisation and global resource partner of the United Nations Climate Neutral
Now initiative. They are recognised for offering advice and support on measuring and
reducing greenhouse gas emissions around the world.
One Carbon World have provided an externally verified carbon footprint measurement for the
2018/19 financial year, utilising approved DEFRA GHG emissions conversion factors. The
footprint boundary incorporates all activities under the Councils operational control (where
possible) covered under Scopes 1, 2 and 3 of the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol Corporate
Standard and is compatible with international standards ISO 14064 and PASA 2060.
Activities and emissions included in the footprint include all fuel use, materials use, bioenergy
use, UK electricity use, business travel (land), waste disposal, water supply and treatment.
This includes a well-to-tank (WTT) emissions factor, to capture the average indirect emissions
released into the atmosphere from the production, processing and delivery of a fuel or energy.
There have been some omissions, due to data availability and the Council will look to put
measures in place to start collating this data for inclusion going forward. Emissions currently
not included in our carbon footprint include those from:








Air conditioning units
Business travel by train
Overnight hotel stays
Water use within sheltered housing schemes (currently unmetered)
Waste from all other buildings except corporate offices
Total ink cartridge consumption (data only partially complete)
Staff commuting to work

The total carbon footprint of West Lancashire Borough
Council activities in 2018/19 is:
5,102.89 tonnes CO2e.
This equates to 10.39 tonnes CO2e per member of staff per year.
A breakdown of the carbon footprint by sector can be found in Figure 4.1 overleaf.

11

Page 155

Material Use
Water

Biomass

Waste

Gas
Electricity

Business Travel
Gas Oil
Petrol

Diesel

Figure 4.1: WLBC Carbon Footprint by Emission Type
The report concludes that the most significant sources of CO2e emissions originate from:


4.3

Gas consumption in buildings
Diesel consumption from Council fleet
West Lancashire Borough Carbon Footprint

There are a number of resources available to Local Authorities to help establish our current
position and the action required to tackle the climate crisis.
To establish a carbon footprint for the Borough as a whole, we have utilised the newly
developed SCATTER tool, funded and endorsed by The Department for Business, Energy
and Industrial Strategy (BEIS). Setting City Area Targets and Trajectories for Emission
Reduction (SCATTER) is a local authority focussed emissions tool, built to help create low
carbon local authorities. Utilising a range of national and public datasets, it can generate a
quantified greenhouse gas emissions inventory, following the Global Protocol for City-Wide
Greenhouse Gas Emissions, for West Lancashire.
The GHG inventory tool provides the most recent, freely available emissions data, currently
presenting 2017 greenhouse gas emissions data within the local authority boundary,
calculated in tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2e) which includes gases CO2, N2O and
CH4, reported in CO2-equivalent.
SCATTER data indicates that West Lancashire's carbon footprint
for 2017amounts to a total of 949,954 tonnes of CO2e.
A full breakdown of this figure, by scope, sector and subsector, can be found in Appendix B.
SCATTER can be utilsed to break down these figures further, by subsector and scope to help
us identify the key priority areas to tackle.
Figures 4.3.1 overleaf provides a breakdown of the total GHG emissions in West Lancashire
across all scopes. It highlights that over 50% of West Lancashire's total greenhouse gas
emissions originate from stationary energy in buildings, followed by transport accounting for
34% of emissions.
12

Page 156

Figure 4.3.1: Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions for West Lancashire in 2017 by Sector
Figure 4.3.2 below breaks this down even further and illustrates Scope 1 Emissions (direct
emissions from within West Lancs) by subsector.

Figure 4.3.2: Direct Emissions (Scope 1) Greenhouse Gas Emissions for West
Lancashire by Subsector
This SCATTER baseline shows that the two largest sources of emissions in West Lancashire
originate from:




Stationary energy in buildings, primarily from:
o residential dwellings
o industrial and institutional buildings and facilities
Transport, primarily from:
o road transport

Action to reduce emissions from these sources will be paramount if we are to reduce the
impact our Borough is having on climate change.

13

Page 157

5.0

Carbon Reduction Targets

In June 2019 the UK amended the 2008 Climate Change Act, requiring the reduction of all
greenhouse gas emissions to net zero by 2050. This is an increase in the level of emissions
reduction required relative to the previous target of an 80% reduction by 2050, as a result of
the IPCC report published in 2018.
5.1

West Lancashire Borough Council Carbon Reduction Target

A carbon reduction target for West Lancashire Borough Council was included within the
climate emergency declaration agreed in 2019.
To reduce greenhouse gas emissions directly associated with
the operations of West Lancashire Borough Council, to achieve
carbon neutrality by 2030.
The One Carbon World report identified the most significant sources of CO2e emissions are
arising from fuel use, primarily gas and diesel.
To reduce these emissions, One Carbon World recommend that we consider the following
actions:


The amount of natural gas used is reviewed and if possible reduced. As natural gas is
primarily used for heating purposes, there could be some very quick wins with a
thorough audit of the system. On the back of the audit and identification of energy use
over time, there could be better/more efficient methods to insulate buildings, improve
heating systems, or supply alternative/renewable energy sources for heating e.g.
infrared panel heaters, air source heat pumps (ASHPs) ground source heat pumps
(GSHPs), solar thermal, solar PV plus others.



The amount of diesel used in West Lancashire Borough Council fleet is reviewed and
if possible reduced. The number of employee journeys can be reduced through better
planning and/or alternative modes of transport for journeys can be found. The number
of journeys can be reduced through encouraging car sharing or home working/flexitime
schemes for example. Alternative modes of transport such as public transport, hybrid
or electric vehicles, or bicycles, can be used that have lower or no emissions. Also,
where possible, technology should be employed to reduce/remove the need for
business, for example using Skype, FaceTime etc. for meetings.

These actions will be built into the relevant action plans and progressed as soon as possible.
5.2

West Lancashire Borough Carbon Targets

The Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research has produced a report for each Local
Authority area, informed by the latest science on climate change and carbon setting. The
report uses the SCATTER methodology with revised global carbon budgets and updated CO2
emissions datasets, to downscale global carbon budgets. The UK budget is then split between
subnational areas using different allocation regimes.

14

Page 158

The recommended West Lancashire carbon targets to be adopted include:
1. Stay within a maximum cumulative carbon dioxide emissions
budget of 4.0 million tonnes (MtCO2) for the period of 2020 to
2100.
2. Initiate an immediate programme of CO2 mitigation to deliver
cuts in emissions averaging a minimum of -14.0% per year.
3. Reach a zero or near zero carbon Borough no later than 2040.

The recommended energy only CO2 carbon budget for the West Lancashire area for the period
of 2020 to 2100 is 4.0 MtCO2. To put this in perspective, at 2017 CO2 emission levels, West
Lancashire would use this entire budget within 6 years from 2020, hence the requirement for
immediate action.
The carbon budgets presented apply to CO2 emissions from the energy system only. Although
all greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, such as methane and other forcing agents, such as
aircraft contrails, affect the rate of climate change, long term warming is mainly driven by CO2
emissions.
To translate this into near to long term commitments a CO2 reduction pathway within the 4.0
MtCO2 is proposed. A consistent emissions reduction rate of -14.0% out to the end of the
century is applied. In 2040 95% of the recommended carbon budget is emitted and low level
CO2 emissions continue at a diminishing level to 2100.
Table 5.2 below presents the West Lancashire energy CO2 only budget in the format of the 5year carbon budget periods in the UK Climate Change Act. To align the 2020 to 2100 carbon
budget with the budget periods in the Climate Change Act, estimated CO2 emissions for West
Lancashire for 2018 and 2019 have been included, based on BEIS provisional national
emissions data for 2018 and assuming the same year on year reduction rate applied to 2019.
The combined carbon budget for 2018 to 2100 is therefore 5.3 MtCO2.
Year

Reduction
In Annual
Emissions

Carbon
Budget
Period

2020
2025
2030
2035
2040
2045
2050

21.0%
62.8%
82.5%
91.8%
96.1%
98.2%
99.1%

2018 - 2022
2023 - 2027
2028 - 2032
2033 - 2037
2038 - 2042
2043 - 2047
2048 - 2100

Recommended
Carbon
Budget
(Mt/CO2)
2.7
1.3
0.6
0.3
0.1
0.1
0.1

Table 5.2 – West Lancashire's Percentage Reduction in Annual Emissions and
Recommended 5-Year Carbon Budgets

15

Page 159

6.0

Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan 2030

6.1

Aims and Key Priorities

This document aims to act as a route map to achieving the climate emergency declaration
commitments and carbon reduction targets.
Utilising the information we have to date on our current position and the identified key
contributors of GHG emissions both from Council operations and Borough-wide activities,
seven key priorities have been identified.

Figure 6.1: The Seven Key Prioritiy Areas for Carbon Reduction
One area of importance that will play a significant part in delivering many of the priorities is
development of the new Local Plan. This overarching document will be a key part to ensuring
climate change mitigation and adaptation policies are embedded in all future development to
deliver a climate resilient and low carbon West Lancashire, whether this is the sustainability
credentials of new build developments, the creation of cycle-ways or the protection of green
space.
6.2

Action Plans

The action plans within this Strategy are intended to be continually evolving documents and
will be updated and published annually, or more frequently if required, as our work progresses.
We recognise that we don’t have all the answers or solutions and that combating climate
change needs system wide change that involves communities, business, individuals and
stakeholders across all sectors of the Borough.
16

Page 160

Effective development and implementation of continually evolving action plans will be crucial
and will act a route map to identifying and delivering achievable short, medium and long term
projects. They are intended to be a live documents that will continually evolve on our journey
to achieving a low carbon future, as we identify, investigate and implement new projects.
Initially some projects on the action plans will require various feasibility and exploratory
investigations. This will put us in a good position to utilise funding pots and pilot expected
advances in emerging technologies, as and when they become available, delivering long term
economic and environmental benefits.

17

Page 161

7.0

PRIORITY 1: Delivering a Carbon Neutral Council

7.1

Background

By definition, becoming a carbon neutral Council requires the organisation to achieve net zero
carbon emissions by balancing a measured amount of carbon released with an equivalent
amount sequestered, or offset.
This can be achieved in three ways;




Reduce energy consumption as far as possible across the corporate estate
Generate renewable energy equal to what is consumed
Offset carbon emissions utilising green energy tariffs, or other means.
Good energy management, in keeping with the energy
hierarchy, is key to delivering a carbon neutral estate.
This needs to be embedded in all relevant decision
making processes and service provisions across the
Council.
By facing the risks relating to both the supply and
demand for energy and investigating ways in which we
can remove our reliance on fossil fuels, we can identify
the environmental, economic and social benefits offered
by smarter, local, green energy.

7.2

Objectives

The key objectives of this priority are as follows:



7.3

To achieve a sustainable and energy efficient corporate estate.
To integrate energy management across all relevant decision making processes, by
applying the energy hierarchy to all areas of energy consumption.
To investigate and utilise renewable energy opportunities, on both buildings and
Council- owned land, where feasible.
Considerations

Decarbonising the Council will require significant investment in energy efficiency and
renewable energy projects, which will require thorough investigation of the business case, to
demonstrate value for money and explore the return on investment. With regards to energy
efficiency measures that significantly reduce energy consumption, this is often an easy
decision. Financing future renewable energy generation schemes may be more challenging
and potential new income streams and finance options will need to be investigated.
Additional considerations that should be given significant weight in the decision making
process when considering energy efficiency and renewable energy projects include:




Energy security and affordability - Generating green energy from local renewable
technologies will provide protection against increasing costs of energy from the grid.
Prices of grid energy have continually increased over recent years and the trend is
forecast to continue in the future. Renewable energy can provide a local, reliable
supply of affordable energy.
Carbon taxes – Carbon intensive fuels will also see increased taxes, adding to rising
energy prices. The increased cost and volatility of energy prices will increase the costs
18

Page 162






of delivering Council services. Generation or procurement of low carbon energy will
become increasingly important.
Demand side response (DSR) opportunities – Financial incentives to help balance
demand on the grid can be investigated. Investigating the best use of various income
opportunities will be a priority.
Energy storage – Battery technology will play an important part in future energy
supplies but it is currently in its infancy, adding an element of risk to any investment.
Decarbonised heat – decarbonising the gas grid will be crucial in action to tackle
climate change. Investing in local renewable heating now, utilising the renewable heat
incentive payments is an urgent action.

The outcome of an accommodation review currently being undertaken, to investigate the best
use of office space for Council staff in future years, is expected imminently. Once complete
this will identify buildings to focus on when considering energy reduction projects in corporate
buildings. At the time of writing, the Covid-19 outbreak has also presented further
considerations and options with regards to utilising remote and home working in the future,
but this will take some time to consider.
The Council is currently at early feasibility stages of investigating the suitability of Council
owned land for a solar farm development. We are keen to investigate the commercial and
environmental opportunities that investment in this area could provide, in terms of long term
income generation that supports the Councils financial stability and low carbon aspirations.
Investigations into grid connection, financial return on investments and planning
considerations will all need to be investigated to establish the feasibility of the project.
Initial investigations indicate an identified area of Council land could accommodate a 7MW
solar PV installation. This would have the potential to generate over 6.1million KWh of
renewable electricity per year, giving annual savings of 1,462 tonnes of CO2e. This would be
a significant investment for the Council which could deliver many benefits:







Community leadership
Energy security
Carbon reduction, tacking climate change
Income generation
Local economic benefits
Encourage a green recovery from Covid-19 Pandemic

Should the Council decide to go ahead with this project, it would be a significant undertaking,
demonstrating commitment and leadership to tackling climate change and preparing for a low
carbon future.
The Council also recognises that decarbonisation of the Councils fleet will play a large part in
achieving our carbon neutrality aspirations. Initial actions towards achieving this are set out
in Priority 3: Reducing Emissions from Transport.

19

Page 163

7.4

PRIORITY 1: Delivering a Carbon Neutral Council - Action Plan 2019-2021
Action

Lead
responsibility

Energy Monitoring and
Management

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Partners

Resources/
Conditional
Upon

Milestone Progress

Overall
Anticipated
Outcomes

 Regular analysis of
energy
consumption
patterns.
 Regularly
investigate spikes
and unusual
consumption
 Develop template
Communications
Plan
 Deliver regular
communications to
budget holders and
building managers.

 Reduced energy
consumption

 Improved
knowledge and
awareness of
energy usage by
budget holders
and building
managers.

Biannually
(April and
October)

 Approval of the
Corporate
Buildings
Operational Energy
Policy (Appendix
C)
 Actions
implemented
 Behaviour change
campaign delivered
to Council staff.
 Officer time
 Undertake energy
audits in corporate
 Accommodation
buildings.
review
 Investigate
installation of

 Buildings running
more efficiently
through
implementation of
good practise.
 Increased staff
awareness of
energy efficiency
in buildings

March 2021

 Officer time

 Officer time

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Corporate Buildings
Operational Energy
Policy

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Facilities
Manager

Building Energy Audits

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Facilities
Manager

Page 164

Energy
Communications Plan

 Officer time

20

Funding/
Income
Generation
Opportunities

Timescale

Biannually
(April and
October)

 Reduced energy
bills

 Energy reduction
across corporate
estate.
 Decarbonisation
of heating and

 Renewable
energy
incentive
schemes

March 2021

 Business case
of identified
measures

Page 165

Planned Maintenance
Programmes

Facilities
Manager

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Renewable energy
opportunities

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Water Efficiency

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Facilities
Manager

Renewable energy
tariffs

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Procurement
and Contracts
Manager

energy efficiency
measures
 Audit all heating
systems with a
view to
decarbonising
heating to all
buildings.
 Ensure energy and
carbon reduction
are considered a
priority when
undertaking
planned
maintenance and
refurbishment
works.
 Consider/ review
the feasibility of
renewable energy
alternatives (both
electricity and heat)
and investigate
battery storage
opportunities.
 Investigate the use
of water efficiency
measures,
including feasibility
of rainwater
harvesting and leak
detection analysis.
 Investigate
sourcing the
Councils electricity
supply from
renewable energy
sources.

 Feasibility
investigations

 Feasibility
investigations

 Officer time
 Feasibility
investigations

21

reduced gas
consumption

 All works deliver
the most
sustainable
option from
procurement to
installation.

 Dependant on
technology
installed.

March 2021
- ongoing

 Low carbon
renewable
technologies
utilised where
viable.

Dependant on
technology
installed.

March 2021

 Measures
implemented to
save water and
associated costs.

March 2021

 Council energy
contract supplied
from 100%
renewable
energy

September
2020

Homeworking

Human
Resources
Manager

Council-wide

Single-use Plastics

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Procurement
and Contracts
Manager

Solar Farm

Estates and
Valuation
Manager

Council-wide
Environmental
Strategy
Officer

 Officer time

 Outcome of
feasibility study
 Financial
business case

 Consider increased  Increased home
home working and
working and use
technology use i.e.
of E-meetings.
Skype to reduce
 Reduced
travel.
business travel
and commuting.
 Remove the
 Achieve single–
procurement and
use plastic free
use of Single-use
status.
plastics across the
Council.
 Feasibility study
 Council
into Council solar
investment in
farm installation
solar farm
with battery
installation
storage.

December
2020

December
2020





Page 166


Formation of a Climate
Change Officers
Working Group

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Key Officers
within each
priority area.

 Officer time

 Officers have
 Climate action
bimonthly meetings
remains an
to progress action
ongoing priority
plans.

22

September
PPAs
2020
Sleeving/
arrangements
Private wire
opportunities
Demand-side
Response
September
2020

8.0

PRIORITY 2: Sustainable Procurement

8.1

Background

There are two main strands to sustainable procurement for the Council; to make sure the
goods and services we procure are as sustainable as possible and that we encourage our
supply chains to do the same.
Good procurement practices not only ensure value for money and compliance with relevant
legislation, they can also offer an opportunity to encourage and facilitate the achievement of
social and environmental benefits for the area.
The Council recognise that an organisation also can't be fully carbon neutral if it imports goods
from supply chains that are carbon intensive. We have a vital role to play in furthering
sustainable development through our procurement of buildings, goods and services.
The Councils procurement decisions can have major environmental implications, both locally
and nationally. We should therefore be committed to ensuring that all goods and services
procured are manufactured, delivered, used and disposed of in an environmentally
responsible manner. We will look to adopt an approach that will ensure natural resources are
used wisely and that there is effective protection of the environment, whilst ensuring value for
money.
8.2

Objectives

The main objectives of sustainable procurement are as follows:




8.3

To ensure due consideration is given to the environmental impacts and carbon
intensity of the products being purchased; the materials they are made of, how they
are produced/ manufactured, life expectancy and disposal at end of life.
To ensure that the transportation and installation of goods is as sustainable as
possible.
To ensure that suppliers and contractors working on behalf of the Council are actively
working to reduce the carbon footprint of their organisation.
Considerations

In essence, every procurement action that sources and implements the most sustainable
option is likely to result in greater carbon savings than an option that may have been taken
without due consideration to the resulting impacts on the environment, however this would be
nearly impossible to quantify.
Development of a 'Guide to Sustainable Procurement for Council staff, found in Appendix D,
will raise awareness and give due consideration to this area when tendering for goods and
services. This could result in carbon savings being achieved through every project we deliver
and throughout the life of the goods or services procured.
The Councils forthcoming Housing and Inclusion Asset Management Strategy 2019-2024
considers the social value that contractors and suppliers can deliver when awarding contracts.
This will include, but not be limited to, items such as local investment, use of local supply
chains, where possible, and utilising local labour. This is a key opportunity to introduce
energy, carbon reduction and other environmental considerations into the Councils
procurement processes.

23

Page 167

8.4

PRIORITY 2: Sustainable Procurement- Action Plan 2019-2021
Action

Lead
responsibility

Partners

Resources/
Conditional
Upon

A Guide to Sustainable
Procurement.

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Procurement
and
Contracts
Manager

 Officer
time

Sustainable
Procurement Processes

Procurement
and Contracts
Manager

Council-wide

 Officer
education
and time

Page 168

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Member Training

Environmental
Strategy
Officer
Procurement
and Contracts
Manager

Officer time

Milestone Progress

Targets/ Anticipated
Outcomes

 Adopt the Guide to
 Staff become more
Sustainable
aware and consider
Procurement in
environmental
Appendix D.
sustainability of good
and services being
 Circulate and raise
procured.
awareness to staff.
 Embed sustainability
 Carbon savings from
considerations
all procurement
throughout the
exercises
procurement cycle,
undertaken.
including specifications,
PQQ's and award
processes etc.
 Monitor delivery
through contract
management.
 Deliver Member
 Members give
training to educate on
significant weight to
environmental
environmental
sustainability
considerations of
considerations when
projects prior to
deliberating Cabinet
approval.
reports for project
approval.

24

Funding/
Income
Generation
Opportunities

Timescale

March 2021

March 2021ongoing

March 2021

9.0

Priority 3: Reducing GHG Emissions from Transport and Travel

9.1

Background

Emissions from fleet transport make up the largest sector of the Councils carbon footprint.
29% of West Lancashire Councils GHG emissions originate from fleet fuel consumption. At
the current time, the Councils fleet of vehicles is primarily made up of diesel engines.
Decarbonisation of our fleet will therefore be a key area for the Council to focus on to reduce
our carbon footprint as far as possible. Mileage done by Council staff in private cars
contributes a far smaller 2% of the Councils carbon footprint but will also be an area to tackle
when possible.
On-road emissions from transport make up 34% of greenhouse gas emissions across West
Lancashire and this is the single largest source of total emissions across the Borough.
Reducing emissions from this source is therefore paramount if our fight to reduce our carbon
footprint and tackle climate change.
9.2

Objectives

The key objectives of this priority are as follows:





9.3

To decarbonise the Councils fleet and increase the number of electric vehicles being
utilised.
To install electric vehicle charging infrastructure to enable the electrification of Council
fleet vehicles.
To investigate alternative, low carbon fuels compatible with Council fleet vehicles.
To expand the electric vehicle charging infrastructure across the Borough, utilising
local planning policy to support EV charge points in all new developments.
To encourage, enable and promote active travel choices such as walking and cycling.
Considerations

The actions within the below action plan are primarily Council focussed as we prioritise getting
our own house in order and look to provide leadership in low carbon travel. This doesn’t take
away from the importance of reducing road transport emissions across the Borough and work
in this area is also underway.
The Council installed two electric vehicle charge points in Ormskirk and Burscough back in
2015. Use of these charge points has increased in more recent years, as the shift to electric
vehicles increases. Further charge points have also been installed by various other
organisations in the Borough but we recognise this infrastructure will need further roll out in
the future as demand continues to rise.
It is recognised that actions to increase the use of public transport and walking and cycling will
also play a part in reducing emission from this sector. This is a cross-cutting theme that will
link with actions already embedded within other Council plans including the Councils Local
Plan, Health and Wellbeing Strategy and Air Quality Action Plans.

25

Page 169

9.4

PRIORITY 3: Transport and Travel - Action Plan 2019-2021
Action

Page 170

Lead
responsibility

Partners

Resources/
Conditional
Upon

Council Fleet Review

Fleet Services
Manager

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

 Officer time

Corporate Electric
Vehicle (EV) Charging
Network

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Fleet Services
Manager

 Officer time

Electric Vehicle Trials

Fleet Services
Manager

Alternative Fuels

Fleet Services
Manager

Fleet fuel consumption
and Route Optimisation

Fleet Services
Manager

Milestone Progress Targets/ Anticipated
Outcomes
 Participate in the
Energy Saving
Trusts Fleet
Review

 Install EV
charging
infrastructure at all
Council offices,
including the
Robert Hodge
Centre for fleet
use.
 Feasibility
 Trial various
investigations
electric vehicles
within the Council
 Pilot trials
fleet to gain
confidence in their
abilities.
 Feasibility
 Investigate
investigations
alternative low
carbon vehicles/
 Pilot trials
fuels e.g.
hydrogen vehicles
and hydro-treated
vegetable oil fuel.
 Officer time
 Review outcomes
from the 2019
route optimisation
works

26

 Receipt of
professional advice
on the
decarbonisation of
Council fleet
 Electric vehicle
charging
infrastructure
encourages staff to
explore the electric
vehicle market.

Funding/
Timescale
Income
Generation
Opportunities
September
2020

 OLEV Grant
Funding
available

March 2021

 Alternative low
carbon vehicles and
fuels introduced into
Council fleet

March 2021ongoing

 Decarbonisation of
Council fleet

March 2021

 Reduction in fleet
mileage and
associated fuel
consumption

December
2020

Page 171

Cycle to Work Scheme

Human
Resources
Business
Partner

 Officer time

Electric Vehicle (EV)
Lease Scheme

Human
Resources
Manager

 Officer time

Corporate Electric
Vehicle Charging
Infrastructure

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Property
Services
Manager

Borough Electric
Vehicle Charging
Infrastructure

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Strategic
Planning,
Regeneration
and
Implementation
Manager

Local Planning Policies

Strategic
Planning,
Regeneration
and
Implementation
Manager

 Budgets
 Officer time

27

 Continue to
deliver the Cycle
to Work salary
sacrifice scheme
for Council staff
 Investigate
implementation of
a Council salary
sacrifice lease
scheme for
electric and hybrid
vehicles
 Provision of
electric vehicle
charging points at
Councils
corporate sites.
 Consider further
roll out of electric
vehicle charging
infrastructure at
Council car parks
and other
locations.
 Enable
sustainable travel
choices with
accessible cycle
and walk ways.
 Support EVCPs
infrastructure.
 Use car park
standards to
encourage
sustainable
transport choices.

 Increased take up of
the scheme and
reduced car
journeys.

Ongoing

 Staff encouraged
and supported in
transition to electric
vehicles.

March 2021
 OLEV
funding
contributions
towards EV
installations

 Staff able to charge
electric vehicles at
the workplace

March 2021

 Support for the
movement towards
decarbonised travel.

 Reduced car travel
in the Borough.
 Facilitate electric
vehicle usage.

ORCS
Funding

March 2021

March 2021
- ongoing

10.0

PRIORITY 4: Reducing GHG Emissions from the Residential Sector

10.1

Background

Residential buildings account for approximately 20% of greenhouse gas emissions both
nationally and locally. Not only do inefficient homes enlarge our carbon footprint, they have a
negative effect on quality of life. Fuel poverty and the negative health impacts of living in a
cold home are also major considerations that need to be addressed.
The Council has a housing stock of circa 5,880 properties located across the borough,
predominantly in Skelmersdale and Ormskirk. Whist much work has been done over the last
decade to improve the energy efficiency of these homes, there is still far more to be done.
Similar to our corporate work, this will be a primary focus for us, to get our own homes in order
and lead by example, whilst also supporting home owners and the private rented sector to do
the same.
10.2

Objectives

The key objectives of this priority are as follows:





10.3

To deliver energy efficiency in Council owned housing and support housing retro-fit
opportunities.
Decarbonise home heating by supporting local energy and district heating networks,
where viable.
To lead by example and increase renewable energy generation in the housing sector.
To utilise available funding streams to deliver energy efficiency measures to privately
owned and rented housing stock.
To advocate high standards of design and environmental performance in new build
housing developments.
Considerations

Improvements in home energy efficiency ratings will become more challenging as the easier,
low cost energy efficiency measures have already been completed. Continued delivery of an
energy efficiency retrofit programme over future years, informed by a long term (30 year)
Asset Management Strategy, will investigate business case options for the Councils housing
stock.
A key strand of the strategy is environmental sustainability which will focus on the energy
efficiency and performance of the housing stock, recognising that such indicators have direct
links to affordable warmth and home comfort levels, health and well-being and fuel poverty
indicators, which have a direct impact on property affordability and duration of tenancies. This
emerging document also proposes new delivery mechanisms for property maintenance.
Longer maintenance and programmed works contract periods will provide an ideal opportunity
to strengthen sustainable procurement requirements and develop ongoing sustainable
partnerships with suppliers and contractors.
With regards to new build housing, the UK Green Building Council encourages local authorities
delivering new homes to act as trailblazers for high standards of energy efficiency, where
possible, and this Plan aims to cement our commitment to delivering this aspiration.
Sustainable construction and development is key if we are to build for the future and ensure
homes are designed to minimise energy demand during the whole life cycle of properties from
construction, operation and ultimately disposal through demolition at end of life.

28

Page 172

When aspiring to build a zero carbon home, there are two main considerations; the embodied
carbon within the materials used to build the home, through production and manufacture, and
the operational carbon emissions that will be released through running the home once
occupied.
Whilst it is recognised that the embodied carbon of any new housing is of utmost importance
and needs to be kept as low as possible, over the life of a home, the operational carbon
emissions have far more environmental impact than the embodied carbon within the material
utilised to build it. It is therefore essential that energy consumption during the buildings life
cycle is taken into account when evaluating design, construction and internal furnishings of a
property. The operational net zero carbon emissions target includes all energy used for
heating, cooling, lighting, hot water use and small power/ appliances.
The Council has plans for 8 new build properties, to be built and retained by the Council for
rent on an affordable basis. The Council has committed to achieving operational zero carbon
status for these properties. This represents a major leap forward and will require a significant
concerted effort to achieve but Local Authorities should lead by example and be a flagship to
the construction industry.
To achieve this target, the properties will need to be highly energy efficient buildings. Energy
demand will need to be reduced as far as practically possible, utilising a fabric first approach.
All remaining operational energy demand will need to be provided from renewable energy
sources, preferably on-site, to achieve net zero carbon emissions annually. Over time
investigations should look to progress this target to include embodied carbon in the future
during the whole life cycle of properties.
The Council need to provide leadership in this area, whilst also ensuring others are following
closely behind. Building sustainability into emerging Local Plan documents is paramount to a
low carbon future. Planning policy requirements on all new build developments, not just
housing, need to ensure delivery of climate resilient, low carbon buildings that will play an
important part in achieving zero/ low carbon aspirations. Work in this area, to lobby Central
Government and respond to relevant consultation documents such as the Future Homes
Standard will also continue, to support strong requirements that deliver low carbon
developments.

29

Page 173

10.4

PRIORITY 4: The Residential Sector - Action Plan 2019-21
Action

Lead
responsibility

Partners

Resources
Milestone Progress
/
Conditiona
l Upon
 Officer
 Continued delivery of
time
energy efficiency
improvements through
Programmed Works.

Page 174

Energy efficiency
improvements on
Council housing stock

Investment
Manager

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Communal Housing

Compliance
Manager

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

 Officer
time

Heat Network
Decarbonisation

Investment
Manager

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

 Budgets

 Officer
time

Compliance
Manager

Renewable Energy

Environmental
Strategy Officer

Property
Services
Manager

Council New Build
Housing

Investment
Manager

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

 Investigate the installation
of energy efficiency
measures in sheltered
housing schemes and
communal stairwells.
 Continued roll-out of LED
lighting programmes.
 Support the phase out of
gas heating in communal
boilers.
 Investigate renewable
heating options and
undertake feasibility
investigations.
 Investigate feasibility of
renewable energy
opportunities for all
suitable housing projects.
 Pilot Solar PV with battery
storage project on
communal blocks
delivered.
 Delivery of eight new
homes that achieve
operational zero carbon
status.

30

Targets/
Anticipated
Outcomes
 Achieve year-onyear improvements
on the average
SAP rating for
Council housing
stock.
 Reduced energy
consumption in
communal areas of
housing.

 Decarbonisation of
heating on
communal heat
networks.

Funding/
Timescale
Income
Generation
Opportunities
March
2021 ongoing

March
2021 ongoing

RHI Funding

 Increased
renewable energy
capacity installed
on Council housing
stock.

 All new build
housing delivered
by the Council to
aspire to achieve

March
2021

March
2021

 RHI Funding

March
2021 ongoing

 Officer
time

Page 175

Tawd Valley
Developments

Environmental
Strategy Officer

Local Planning Policy

Strategic
Planning,
regeneration
and
Implementation
Manager

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Cosy Homes in
Lancashire (CHiL)
scheme.

Private Sector
Housing Team
Leader

Lancashire
Energy Group

 Officer
time

Environmental
Strategy
Officer
External Wall
Insulation (EWI)
Scheme

Environmental
Strategy Officer

 Officer
time

Minimum Energy
Efficiency Standards
(MEES)

Private Sector
Housing Team
Leader

 Officer
time

 On-going monitoring to
validate performance.
 Inclusion of electric
vehicle charge points.
 Establish a
communication link with
Tawd Valley
Developments Ltd

operational zero
carbon status and
be climate resilient.
 Adoption of zero
carbon build
targets, in line with
those adopted by
the Council.
 Future housing
developments will
be low carbon in
build and
operation.

 Deliver low carbon policy
for new build housing
developments.
 Require new residential
developments to adopt
low carbon and renewable
technologies, and energy
and resource efficient
design.
 Continue to participate,
 Improved energy
contribute and promote
efficiency of
the Cosy Homes in
privately owned
Lancashire (CHiL)
homes in West
scheme.
Lancashire.
 Investigate available
funding streams to help
homeowners invest in
external wall insulation
(EWI)
 Continue to enforce the
Energy Efficiency (Private
Rented Property)
Regulations 2015

31

 Large-scale
delivery of EWI
project across
Skelmersdale.
 All privately rented
properties meet a
minimum standard
of EPC Band E or
above.

December
2020

March
2021 ongoing

ECO Flex
Funding

Ongoing

ECO3/ Flex
Funding

March
2021ongoing
Ongoing

11.0

PRIORITY 5: Reducing GHG Emissions from Commercial Activities

11.1

Background

Emissions from commercial sources account for approximately 28% of greenhouse gas
emissions in West Lancashire. Emissions data available from BEIS on the SCATTER
emissions tool provide a breakdown of these emissions showing 14% originate from
institutional buildings and facilities, 9% from industrial building and facilities and 5% from other
commercial buildings and facilities.
11.2

Objectives

The key objectives of this priority are as follows:





11.3

To improve the energy efficiency of the Councils commercial properties available to
rent.
To provide support and leadership to West Lancashire's commercial sector, with
regards to both energy efficiency and renewable energy generation.
To pursue alternative funding opportunities to assist the Council to financially support
energy saving and renewable energy opportunities i.e. partnerships and shared
savings schemes.
To advocate high standards of design and environmental performance in commercial
new build developments.
Considerations

The Energy Efficiency Regulations have prevented landlords from letting premises with an
EPC rating of F or G since 2018. This legislation also requires all rented properties in England
and Wales, even where there has been no change in tenancy arrangements, to meet this
standard from 1 April 2023 for non-domestic properties, unless the property meets one of the
exemptions. This is a challenging target and will require a significant amount of investment
from the Council as landlord and co-operation from the tenants.
The Council owns an extensive commercial property portfolio. This includes various types of
premises including industrial, warehouses, office and retail units, ranging from 200ft2 to
27,500ft2 in size. At present when a Council unit becomes vacant an EPC is commissioned
and if the indications show that it will not achieve the required rating, works are commissioned
to reduce the rating to an acceptable level e.g. an LED lighting upgrade.
The Council is currently working on plans to create new leisure and wellbeing hubs in Ormskirk
and Skelmersdale. Initial proposals for both facilities include swimming pools and will be
significant energy consumers. The Council are committed to ensuring that environmental and
sustainability considerations are a key element within the design, construction and operation
of the new facilities.
The Council are actively investing in renewable energy projects. The most recent installation
was completed in February 2020, comprising an 80KWp Solar PV installation installed on the
West Lancashire Investment Centre. The system will supply the Centre with around
62,500KWh of renewable energy a year, saving around 28,800kg/CO2 a year. Expected
payback in under eight years.

32

Page 176

11.4

PRIORITY 5: Commercial Activity - Action Plan 2019-21
Action

Lead
responsibility
Estates and
Valuation
Manager

Refurbishment Projects

Estates and
Valuation
Manager

Local Planning Policy

Strategic
Planning,
Regeneration
and
Implementation
Manager
Head of
Leisure and
Well-Being

Environmental
Strategy Officer

Resources/
Conditional
Upon

Milestone Progress

 Budget
restrictions
 Officer time

 Continued delivery
of energy efficiency
improvements.
 Replace all
inefficient lighting
with LED upgrades.
 Ensure energy
efficiency and
renewable energy
alternatives are
investigated and,
where possible
integrated, into all
suitable
refurbishment
projects.
 Deliver low carbon
policy for new build
commercial
developments

 Officer time

Page 177

Energy efficiency
improvements on
Councils Commercial
stock

Partners

New Build Leisure
Centre Project

 Feasibility
investigations
 Development
partners

33

 Ensure the design,
construction and
operation of new
leisure centre
developments are
as sustainable and
low carbon as
possible.

Targets/ Anticipated
Outcomes

Funding/
Income
Generation
Opportunities

 All vacant stock to 
have an EPC rating
E or better.

 Improved energy
efficiency of
Councils
commercial
portfolio.

March
2021ongoing



Ongoing

 Future
developments will
be low carbon in
build and
operation.
 All new build
developments to be
low carbon
buildings.

Timescale

March
2021ongoing

 Income from
renewable
energy/heat
generation

March 2021

Low Carbon
Businesses

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Digital
Communications
Manager

 Officer time

Environmental
Strategy Officer

 Officer time

Business
Engagement
Officer
Signposting

Business
Engagement
Officer

Strengthened
Partnership Working

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

 Officer time

Page 178
34

 Provide leadership
 Increased
and encourage
awareness and
businesses to
action from the
measure and
commercial sector
actively work to
to reduce
reduce their carbon
emissions from
footprint and
their operations.
improve resilience
to climate hazards.
 Identify and
 Increased take up
signpost businesses
of support and
to available climate
action across the
action support.
Borough.
 Participation and
 Effective
active contribution
partnership working
to the new Edge Hill
to share knowledge
Sustainability
and successful
Network.
projects
 Communication with
Skelmersdale
Ambassadors
Forum.

March 2021
- ongoing

March 2021
- ongoing
January
2021

12.0 Priority 6: Community Action
12.1

Background

Councils can play an important role to encourage community action and along with our
partners, residents and businesses we all need to work together to achieve a low carbon
future.
Community energy projects are becoming increasing successful with groups of people coming
together to take action and use local resources to reduce, manage or generate their own
energy.
12.2

Objectives

The key objectives for this priority are as follows:



12.3

To identify stakeholders, partners and interested parties.
Hold a citizens assembly to encourage stakeholder engagement and identify targets
and key areas for action.
Encourage community climate action in our communities.
Considerations

The involvement of local people that represent the make-up of the Borough, in terms of age,
gender, disability, geography, occupation etc. will be crucial to developing a plan that will be
relatable to everyone and help to develop recommendations that will contribute to a
sustainable future.
By establishing a Citizens Assembly we hope to seek a broadly representative group of local
people who will reflect the population, to discuss and make recommendations on how best to
address the climate change crisis.
This could involve action in many areas, some already prioritised by this Strategy, and some
which the assembly feel are relatable to and achievable for our Borough.
Community energy projects are becoming increasingly common and successful. They involve
a group of people coming together, taking action and using local resources to reduce, manage
or generate their own energy. They can involve anything from installing solar PV on a public
building to running a local energy efficiency awareness campaign. Support for communities
to develop such projects is available and links with these delivery experts will be explored to
help support community projects across West Lancashire.
Council involvement in this area has been limited to date. We will look to identify already
established community energy groups in West Lancashire and provide support where
possible. Through establishing a citizen's assembly we hope to gain ideas and identify the
types of projects there is an appetite to deliver in West Lancashire.

35

Page 179

12.4

PRIORITY 6: Community Action - Action Plan 2019-21
Action

Lead
responsibility

Partners

Resources/
Conditional
Upon

Page 180

Climate Action Groups

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Energy Saving
Trust

Officer time

Member Involvement

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Councillors

Officer time

Citizens Assembly

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

External Support

Officer time

Establish a West
Lancashire Climate
Action Group

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Digital
Communications
Manager

Officer time

Milestone Progress

 Strengthen existing  Strong working
partnerships with
relationships and
local climate action sharing best practise.
groups.
 Encourage local
 Councillors actively
involved in
Councillors to take
promoting and
action in their
delivering climate
communities.
action.
 Establish a
 Establish low
Citizens Assembly
carbon targets and
and hold an initial
actions
workshop.
 Identify a diverse  New climate action
range of new
group is formed.
partners,
stakeholders and
interested parties
across the
Borough.


36

Targets/ Anticipated
Outcomes

Funding/
Income
Generation
Opportunities

Timescale

December
2020
March 2021

March 2021

March 2021

13.0 Priority 7: Natural Environment
13.1

Background

West Lancashire Borough Council are committed to preserving, protecting and promoting our
natural environment, which we recognise provides a vital route to carbon reduction. The use
of green space for walking and cycling helps to encourage more sustainable lifestyles, while
tree planting schemes offer carbon offsetting through sequestration and storage, helping to
reduce emissions and meet carbon targets. However, it should be stressed that carbon
offsetting, through any means, will not be actively promoted above actions to directly reduce
carbon.
13.2

Objectives

The key objectives for this priority are as follows:




13.3

Preserve, maintain and promote the use of Council owned green space across the
Borough.
Prioritise the development of a high quality cycling and walking network and
associated cycle parking.
Tree planting schemes, delivering the right trees in the right places.
Consider the benefits of blue infrastructure (e.g. rivers canals etc.) for delivering
renewable technology opportunities, sustainable travel and biodiversity benefits.
Considerations

Trees and woodlands play a huge role in absorbing and locking up carbon, however they also
play an important part in fighting the effects of the changing climate. Trees can also help to
prevent flooding, reduce temperatures and provide shade during heatwaves, reduce pollution
and help to keep soil nutrient rich.
The Council have recently joined other Lancashire Councils in working in partnership with the
Ribble Rivers Trust to deliver the Lancashire Woodland Connect project. This is a decade
long campaign to double the area of woodland across Lancashire to fight climate change,
improve air quality and reduce flooding. The project will plant more than half a million trees,
with a focus on planting the right trees in the right places, removing 100,000 tonnes of CO2
from the atmosphere. The project is in early phases of development but the Council is
committed to participating in the project and aiding planting within West Lancashire.

37

Page 181

13.4

Carbon Offsetting: Action Plan 2019-2
Action

Lead
responsibility

Access management
to provide high quality
walking and cycling
routes

Head Ranger

Protect and promote
green infrastructure

Head Ranger

Partners

Resources/
Conditional
Upon






Page 182

Carbon Offsetting
opportunities from
Parks and Open
Spaces

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Officer time



Head Ranger
Lancashire Woodlands
Connect Project

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Ribble Rivers
Trust



Head Ranger
Investigate the
opportunities for an
Eco-Park at Beacon
Park.

Head of
Leisure and
Well-Being

Local Planning Policies

Strategic
Planning,
Regeneration
and

Environmental
Strategy
Officer

Milestone Progress

Targets/ Anticipated
Outcomes

Maintain existing
routes and investigate
expansion/ creation of
new routes.

 Sustainable travel
options encourage
greener lifestyles.

March
2021ongoing

Community
involvement
Habitat and wildlife
conservation
Tree planting
schemes
Investigate the use of
parks and open
spaces to offset
carbon for individuals
and local businesses

 Community parks
are well maintained
and appreciated/
supported locally.

March
2021ongoing

Timescale

 Deliver a Carbon
Offsetting Fund
directly linked to
local planting
schemes.

March 2021

Council participation in  Tree planting
the Woodland connect
schemes double
project.
the area of
woodland across
Lancashire.

March 2021

Feasibility
Investigate creation of an  Delivery of an Eco investigations Eco-park to various green Park providing
initiatives: renewable
education links with
energy, recycling, local
schools and
food allotments, etc.
communities.
Protect, provide and
 Enhanced
enhance green and blue
environment
infrastructure.
 Improved air quality

38

Funding/
Income
Generation
Opportunities

March 2021
- ongoing

Implementation
Manager

Protect trees and the
natural environment.
Protection and
improvement of
biodiversity and habitats.
Protection of parks and
natural open spaces.

Page 183
39

 Reduced GHG
emissions
 Sustainable travel.

14.0

Implementation, Monitoring and Review

As previously highlighted, the Action Plans within this document aim to be a starting point
towards achieving carbon neutrality for the Council as an organisation and kick starting work
to reduce emissions across the Borough. They will be a continually evolving, as we identify
areas and projects to tackle.
The Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan 2030 will be reviewed and progress reported
annually. The action plans will be updated more frequently if required, as new projects are
identified and investigated. The reviews will include:






15.0

annual monitoring of energy consumption, savings and generation
achievements in carbon emission reduction
updates on progress against priority action plans
income generation or funding contributions
technology developments and new opportunities

Conclusions

It has never been more important than now to take action to mitigate against climate change.
There are many opportunities and positive outcomes from delivery of this Plan, with the
potential to bring real benefits to the Council and wider communities. We must act now to
tackle the climate emergency we all face. A pro-active approach, working with partners and
industry leaders, is required to deliver action on the ground and lead by example.

40

Page 184

16.0

Appendix A: Glossary of Terms

Adaptation to climate change
ASHP/ GSHP
BEIS
Biodiversity
Carbon budget
Carbon Footprint
Carbon Neutral
Carbon Offsetting
CCC
CHP
Citizens assembly
Climate Emergency
Climate resilience
CO2
DEFRA
Demand side response (DSR)
Emissions conversion factors

Energy Security
EV
Fuel poverty

GHG Emissions
IPPC
KWp
Local Plan
Local Energy Network

The process of adjustment to actual or expected climate
and its effects
Air Source Heat Pump/ Ground Source Heat Pump –
renewable heating technologies
UK government department of Business, Energy and
Industrial Strategy
The variety of animal and plant life on Earth
The maximum amount of carbon dioxide that can be
emitted, to be in line with keeping temperatures well below
2oC and pursue a 1.5oC limit to rising temperatures
The total greenhouse gas emissions caused by an
individual, event, organisation, service, or product
Having no net release of carbon dioxide into the
atmosphere
Practices and technologies to neutralise remaining
emissions that cannot be removed entirely
The Committee on Climate Change
Combined Heat and Power.
A representative group of citizens who are selected at
random from the population to learn about, deliberate upon,
and make recommendations in relation to a particular issue
Climate change presents the greatest threat to life: on the
economy, social well-being and the natural environment
The ability to anticipate, absorb, accommodate, or recover
from the effects of a hazardous climate related event in a
timely and efficient manner
A key greenhouse gas with a long-lifetime in the
atmosphere and both natural and human sources
Department of Environment, Farming and Rural Affairs
Utilising opportunities to earn revenue by supporting
National Grid in times of peak electricity demand or system
stress
A number used to derive GHG emissions from their sources
whether it is fuel or energy use (for example electricity,
petrol, gas) or non-energy sources (e.g. cattle,
deforestation)
The ability to secure sufficient, affordable and consistent
energy supplies
Electric Vehicles: a generic term covering all vehicles
powered by electricity
Defined by the Warm Homes and Energy Conservation Act
as: “a person is to be regarded as living "in fuel poverty" if
he/she is a member of a household living on a lower income
in a home which cannot be kept warm at reasonable cost”
Greenhouse Gas Emissions
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
The peak power of a system
Local planning policies which set out the long-term spatial
vision for the Borough
A renewable energy project involving public, private or
community groups, for the benefit of local consumers within
a defined area
41

Page 185

Mitigation
OLEV
Retro-fitting
RHI
ROI
SCATTER
Single-use Plastics
Solar PV
Sustainability
tCO2e
WLBC

Actions to limit the magnitude or rate of long-term global
warming and its related effects
Office for Low Emission Vehicles
The addition of new technology or features to an older
system/ building
Renewable Heat Incentive – a government scheme that
provides financial incentives for installing renewable heat
technologies
Return on Investment
Setting City Area Targets and Trajectories for Emissions
Reduction: A Local authority greenhouse gas reporting and
modelling tool
Disposable plastics that are used only once before they are
thrown away or recycled
Solar Photovoltaics
Meeting the needs of current generations, without
compromising future generations or the natural
environment
Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalence; this includes all
greenhouse gases (CO2, N2O and CH4) converted into the
equivalent amount of carbon dioxide
West Lancashire Borough Council

42

Page 186

17.0

Appendix B: West Lancashire Carbon Footprint Breakdown

Summary Greenhouse Gas Emissions (tonnes CO2e)
Sector
Stationary energy

Sub-s ector

Scope 1
Total tCO2e

Scope 2
Total tCO2e

Scope 3
Total tCO2e

Total tCO2e

Total tCO2e

DIRECT

INDIRECT

OTHER

TOTAL

By Sector

123,787.71

67,370.57

Commerci al bui ldi ngs & fa ci l i ti es

28,051.74

12,593.68

7,327.69

47,973.10

Ins ti tutiona l bui l di ngs & fa ci l i ties

57,544.57

63,638.49

18,043.33

139,226.40

Indus tri a l bui l di ngs & fa ci l i ties

35,609.43

36,890.06

12,636.24

85,135.73

990.87

5,140.73

Res i denti al bui ldi ngs

4,147.84

Agricul ture

-

Fugi ti ve emi s s i ons
Transportation

206,736.05

On-road

260,155.48

IE

398.39

2,069.26

NO

-

2,044.01

IE

59,882.12

59,882.12

Off-roa d
Sol id wa s te di s pos a l

2,067.36

IE

-

2,067.36

18,683.50

n/a

-

18,683.50

Biol ogica l trea tment

-

n/a

NE

-

Incinera ti on a nd open burni ng

-

n/a

NE

-

Indus tri a l proces s
Li ves tock

-

La nd us e
Generation of grid-supplied energy

53,419.43

2,044.01
NO

500,753

-

IE

1,670.87

7,064.55

n/a

NE

7,064.55

33,629.54

n/a

NE

33,629.54

0.00

n/a

NE

0.00

84,245.83

n/a

NE

20,641.24

n/a

NE

-

n/a

NE

-

Indus tri a l product us e
AFOLU

NE

Wa terborne na vi ga ti on

Wa s tewa ter
IPPU

223,277.23

Rai l
Avi a ti on
Waste

2.03
n/a

32,118.95

326,218

25,748

33,630

84,245.83
-

20,641.24

Other AFOLU
El ectri ci ty-onl y genera ti on

NO

n/a

NE

-

CHP genera ti on

NO

n/a

NE

-

Hea t/col d generation

NO

n/a

NE

-

Loca l renewabl e genera ti on

NE

n/a

NE

-

63,605

949,954

Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions for West Lancashire in 2017
Source: SCATTER Cities Tool
Notation keys:
Not Occuring
Integrated
Elsewhere
Not Estimated
Confidential
Combination of
notation keys
N/A
Required
Optional

43

Page 187

18.0

Appendix C: Corporate Buildings Operational Energy Policy

Corporate Buildings
Operational Energy Policy
West Lancashire Borough Council is committed to responsible energy management and
ensuring greenhouse gas emissions arising from our operations are reduced as far as
possible. Whilst maintaining operational goals and providing an acceptable working
environment for our staff, we aim to minimise our energy and water consumption, and
associated costs, to reduce our impact on the environment.
This Policy sets out operating procedures that will ensure buildings and staff adhere to good
energy management. It outlines essential energy efficiency measures that will assist in
making our buildings run as efficiently as possible.
Heating
1. Heating or cooling functions within office areas will be operational in line with
working hours (7am till 7pm) Monday to Friday, with systems running to achieve
optimum temperatures during peak occupancy hours (8am till 5pm), unless
otherwise required.
The heating schedule for non-office areas at Derby Street i.e. the Council Chamber
and Registrars department will have optional extended operational hours, available by
special arrangement.
2. During peak occupancy hours, Council offices will aim to maintain an optimum
temperature of 22oC.
The Workplace (Health, Safety and Welfare) Regulations 1992 place a legal obligation
on employers to provide a 'reasonable' temperature and level of thermal comfort in the
workplace. In accordance with guidance published by The Carbon Trust, the
recommended temperature for offices and sedentary work is 21oC to 23oC.
Buildings will aim to achieve a target temperature of 22oC and will be cooled down
when temperatures exceed 24oC, where applicable. Thermostats will be set to achieve
such temperatures and locked to remove control from individual staff members.
3. Buildings will not be heated during holiday periods and should be programmed
within the Boiler Management Systems (BMS), where possible.
Boilers that are not controlled via BMS should be programmed, where available, or
switched off on the last working day prior to the holiday period.

44

Page 188

4. Conflict of mechanical heating and cooling equipment will be reduced as far as
practical.
Utilising more than one heating and/or cooling system within one area will cause
conflict between the systems. Ideally such systems should be linked but, where this
isn’t the case, systems will be programmed not to run simultaneously through the use
of 'dead-bands' and ensuring cooling systems are not accessible during the heating
season.
5. Heating control systems will be locked and tamperproof to prevent staff altering
pre-set target temperatures.
Open use and alteration of target temperatures for heating systems by staff should be
prevented wherever possible.
Allowing staff to increase and decrease office
temperatures not only causes conflict in the office but can often result in inefficient
overheating.
6. Windows and outside doors should not be opened when mechanical heating or
cooling systems are operational.
If an office is feeling stuffy, windows should be opened for no longer than 10 minutes,
then promptly closed. Also, ensure radiators are not blocked by heat absorbing
furniture or files.
7. All electrical items i.e. PCs, printers, TVs, photocopiers etc. and lighting, where
applicable, should be fully switched off at the end of each working day.
Whilst some items will have sleep mode functions, they still consume unnecessary
energy when left on and not in use. It is the responsibility of all staff to switch off
electrical items, especially the last person leaving the office each day.

45

Page 189

19.0

Appendix D: A Guide to Sustainable Procurement

A Guide to Sustainable Procurement
West Lancashire Borough Council is committed to taking responsibility for its impact on the
environment. We recognise that our purchasing of goods and services have environmental
implications and we are actively working towards reducing the negative impacts, by
embedding the principles of sustainability throughout our procurement activities.
Before undertaking any procurement activity, the environmental aspects of the project should
fully considered and viewed as an integral part of the procurement process. This will include
specification development, appropriate tender evaluation criteria and negotiated contract
conditions that deliver an environmentally sustainable project. This will require a whole-life
costings approach, especially for major purchases, to give a clear understanding of the full
impact of purchasing decisions.
Working in partnership with our suppliers is key to delivering sustainable procurement. We will
encourage them to conduct their operations in line with the Council commitments and work
together to achieve a more sustainable borough, whilst ensuring value for money.
Key Objectives
West Lancashire Borough Council will take the following into account when purchasing goods
and services:





Apply a whole life costing approach to major purchases to consider the full impact
of procurement decisions.
Consider the products used, conserve raw materials and select sustainably sourced
products with low embodied energy.
Consider emissions from transportation, use locally sourced goods where possible
and reduce the need to travel.
Consider the environmental performance of all suppliers/ contractors and encourage
them to operate in a sustainable manner.

Sustainable Considerations
The key objectives will be delivered by giving due consideration to the following:
Procurement






Promote the use of E-procurement, to reduce the use of paper in procurement projects.
Include sustainability questions in Council tender selection processes.
Require suppliers to demonstrate they are minimising the environmental impacts of
their supply chain, choosing more sustainable and high quality products and services
Encourage contactors to minimise the negative impact of their transport operations.
Consider a requirement for CO2 reduction into the specification of contracts, where
appropriate.

46

Page 190

Goods












Consider the expected life span and durability of products and how often they will need
to be replaced.
Minimise the use of natural resources.
Specify products that contain fewer hazardous or toxic materials.
Maximise the use of recycled products and products derived from reclaimed materials.
Specify sustainable timber products.
Encourage reduced use of packaging with a product, utilising recycled and recyclable
materials.
Avoid the use of single use plastics by finding sustainable alternatives.
Consider the embodied energy of a product (the energy used to extract, process and
manufacture materials) and level of pollution through manufacture, usage or disposal.
Specify energy efficient appliances and utilise renewable/ green energy options,
where possible.
Commission and procure A-rated energy efficient products.
Consider products which can easily be recycled, repaired or reused and investigate
ways in which waste can be diverted from landfill.

Services




Require suppliers to demonstrate and provide evidence of how they are reducing the
impact their operations have on the environment, including transport and travel at local,
national and international levels.
As far as is permissible under EU procurement Regulations, look to specify products
which haven’t been transported over long distances. Utilise local products and
contractors, where possible.

Monitoring
Ensure sustainability related promises from suppliers and contractors are built into contract
management and monitoring, to ensure they are delivered upon through the lifetime of the
contract.

47

Page 191

Agenda Item 13

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW &
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:
24 September 2020

Report of:

Corporate Director Place and Community

Contact for further information: Mrs Julia Brown (Extn.5065)
(E-mail:Julia.brown@westlancs.gov.uk)

SUBJECT: RISK MANAGEMENT
Wards affected: Borough wide
1.0

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1

To present Members with details of the Key Risks facing the Council and how
they are being managed.

2.0

RECOMMENDATIONS
COMMITTEE

2.1

That it be noted future Risk Management reports will be referred to the Executive
Overview & Scrutiny Committee.

2.2

That the progress made in relation to the management of the risks shown in the
Key Risks Register at (Appendix A) be noted and any comments referred to the
Corporate Director Place and Community and relevant Portfolio Holder.

3.0

BACKGROUND

3.1

It was agreed at the Cabinet Meeting held on 8 September 2020 that this and
future Risk Management Reports be referred to the Executive Overview &
Scrutiny Committee for consideration.

4.0

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

4.1

There are no significant sustainability impacts associated with this report and, in
particular, no significant impact on crime and disorder.

5.0

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

5.1

There are no significant financial or resource implications arising from this report.

TO

EXECUTIVE

Page 193

OVERVIEW

&

SCRUTINY

6.0

RISK ASSESSMENT

6.1

The continued identification and review of Key Risks is essential to ensure the
management and mitigation of those risks, the successful achievement of the
Authority's objectives, and the maximisation of opportunities. By continually
monitoring and reviewing the risks and the Risk Management Framework we will
ensure that it continues to improve, develop and meet best practice
requirements.

Background Documents
There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local
Government Act 1972) to this Report.
Equality Impact Assessment
The decision does not have any direct impact on members of the public, employees,
elected members and / or stakeholders. Therefore no Equality Impact Assessment is
required.
Appendices
1. Minute of Cabinet 8 September 2020
2. Risk Management Report & (Appendix A)

Page 194

APPENDIX 1
MINUTE OF CABINET 8 SEPTEMBER 2020
RISK MANAGEMENT
Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Finance, Procurement and
Commercial Services, which set out details on the Key Risks facing the Council and
how they are being managed.
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details as set out in the report
before it and the reasons contained therein.
RESOLVED: A.

That the progress made in relation to the management of the risks
shown in the Key Risks Register (Appendix A) be noted and
endorsed

B.

That this report and future Risk Management reports be referred to
the Executive Overview & Scrutiny Committee.

Page 195

CABINET: 8th September 2020

Report of:

Head of Finance, Procurement & Commercial Property
Services

Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor A Yates
Contact for further information: Rebecca Spicer (Extn. 5098)
(E-mail: rebecca.spicer@westlancs.gov.uk)

SUBJECT: RISK MANAGEMENT

Borough Wide Interest
1.0

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1

To set out details on the Key Risks facing the Council and how they are being
managed.

2.0

RECOMMENDATION

2.1

That the progress made in relation to the management of the risks shown in the
Key Risks Register (Appendix A) be noted and endorsed.

3.0

BACKGROUND

3.1

Risk management is not about being 'risk averse' – it is about being 'risk aware'.
Risk is ever present and some amount of risk taking is inevitable if the Council is
to achieve its objectives. Risk Management is about effectively managing risks
that could affect the Council and the community. It is also about making the most
of opportunities and achieving objectives. By being 'risk aware' the Council is in
a better position to avoid threats and take advantage of opportunities.

3.2

It is a best practice requirement that the Risk Management Policy and the Key
Risks Register are reviewed and reported to Members on a regular basis.
Consequently it is our standard practice to report on Key Risk Register issues to
Cabinet every 6 months.

Page 197

3.3

Risk Management covers the whole spectrum of risks and not just those
associated with finance, business continuity, insurance and health and safety. It
also considers risks associated with service provision, compliance with
legislation, public image (reputation) and environment. Key Risks are defined as
the highest priority risks that may prevent the Council from achieving its
objectives, or may result in the failure of a service, or the failure to comply with
legislation. The Key Risks Register gives a summary of these risks and the work
that is being undertaken to mitigate them, although many of these risks will have
already been the subject of separate committee reports. In addition each Service
maintains its own Service Risk Register of the specific risks that they face.

4.0

KEY RISK REGISTER

4.1

The Key Risk Register attached (Appendix A) shows the current Key Risks and
the measures in place to manage those risks. The regular reporting of the
Register provides Members with an opportunity to scrutinise Key Risks and
provides assurance that these risks are being effectively controlled.

4.2

The risk relating to an EU Exit has been downgraded from 'concerned' to
'uneasy' as recently tested, robust Business Continuity Plans are in place.

4.3

The risk "Covid-19" has been downgraded from 'very concerned' to 'concerned'
as Business Continuity Plans have all been updated and externally audited.

4.4

The risk entitled "West Lancashire Development Company" has moved from the
'content' to the 'uneasy' category as the market will have been impacted by
COVID-19 and the business plan needs to be reconsidered in this light.

4.5

A new risk has been entered onto the register entitled "Leisure Contract" and has
been scored in the uneasy category. Controls are in place to manage this risk
as weekly review meetings are being held with Serco along with formal monthly
reviews. A Cabinet Working Group has been established and is kept informed in
relation to progress.

4.6

A new risk in relation to preparation of the new local plan has also been added to
the register and falls within the uneasy category however several controls are in
place to efficiently manage this risk.

4.7

There are no risks that currently fall into the very concerned category.

5.0

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

5.1

There are no significant sustainability impacts associated with this report and, in
particular, no significant impact on crime and disorder.

Page 198

6.0

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

6.1

The successful management of the Key Risks facing the Council will ensure that
resources are used effectively and efficiently.

7.0

RISK ASSESSMENT

7.1

The continued identification and review of Key Risks is essential to ensure the
management and mitigation of those risks, the successful achievement of the
Authority’s objectives, and the maximisation of opportunities. By continually
monitoring and reviewing the risks and the Risk Management Framework we will
ensure that it continues to improve, develop and meet best practice
requirements.

Background Documents
There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local
Government Act 1972) to this Report.

Appendices
Appendix A – Key Risks Register

Equality Impact Assessment
The decision does not have any direct impact on members of the public, employees,
elected members and / or stakeholders. Therefore no Equality Impact Assessment is
required.

Page 199

Appendix A Key Risk Register

Service Area

Title

Page 201

Finance, Procurement Potential Treasury
& Commercial
Management
Property
Investment Losses.

Achieving a balanced
Finance, Procurement
General Revenue
& Commercial
Account budget
Property
position

Potential Effect

Internal Controls

Volatility in financial
markets can create
risks on investments,
which means there is
the potential that
significant sums of
money could be lost.

There is a treasury
management policy and
strategy in place. Well
trained staff make
investments with the
guidance of brokers
and treasury advisors.
Investments can only
be made in top rated
UK based institutions or
other local Authorities.
The medium term
financial forecasting
and Sustainable
Organisation Review
processes will set out
how this financial
challenge will be met.

On-going reductions in
Government funding
and other financial
pressures, COVID for
example, will need to
be addressed to meet
the statutory
requirement to set a
balanced budget.

Responsible Officer Latest Note

1

Current Risk Matrix

Current Risk
Assessment and Score

Head of Finance
Procurement &
Commercial
Property

Operational
arrangements continue
to be reviewed and
monitored in the light
of current market
conditions. A Prudential
Indicators and Treasury
Management Report
was presented to
Council in February
2020.

10 Concerned

Head of Finance
Procurement &
Commercial
Property

The Sustainable
Organisation Review
was agreed at Council
in July 2019, The main
implementation is due
to take place in April
2020.

10 Concerned

Service Area

Title

Potential Effect

Internal Controls

Responsible Officer Latest Note

A SORP Board
consisting of the
Corporate Management
This project is designed Team and other
to improve economy,
relevant officers meets
efficiency and
on a regular basis to
Implementing a
Head of Finance
Finance, Procurement
effectiveness across all ensure good progress is
successful Sustainable
Procurement &
& Commercial
Council Services as well made with the project.
Organisation Review
Commercial
Property
as addressing the
Project (SORP).
Property
financial challenges
A detailed risk register
facing the General
is in place to ensure the
Revenue Account.
effective mitigation of
the main risks
associated with the
project.

Page 202
Place & Community
Directorate

Covid-19

Business continuity,
staff and supplier
disruption.

Corporate Director
of Place &
Community

Business continuity
plans.

2

Current Risk Matrix

Current Risk
Assessment and Score

The project is now in
the implementation
phase.

10 Concerned

Corporate Incident
Management Team & a
tactical group meeting
weekly. Risk based
operational groups also
in place. Regular
teleconferencing with
all Local Resilience
Forum Groups.
Business Continuity
plans all updated &
externally audited by
LFRS. Service re-start
work now in progress in
line with national
guidance. Cabinet
briefings held monthly.
Staff updates provided
weekly from Chief
Operating Officer.

10 Concerned

Service Area

Place & Community
Directorate

Place & Community
Directorate

Title

Potential Effect

Internal Controls

Business Continuity Potential for
disruption

Lack of Business
Continuity planning
could have a severe
impact on service
provision across critical
Service Areas.

Key Service areas have
been identified and
individual plans put in
Corporate Director
place. These plans are of Place &
tested on a regular
Community
basis and updated
accordingly.

All plans were updated
in readiness for EU Exit
and then again at the
start of COVID-19.

Business Control Plans
strategic leadership
input internal working
group.

No Government
guidance being issued
at present in relation to
the leave date in Dec
2020.
All preparations made
for Jan 20 are still in
place, Business
Continuity plans are up
to date and third party
providers were
contacted to ensure
they had no issues

EU Exit

Potential widespread
disruption of Council
services.

Responsible Officer Latest Note

Corporate Director
of Place &
Community

Page 203
Housing & Regulatory Balancing the HRA
Services
Budget

Revised management
structure implemented
Income management
and financial inclusion
supplemented with
Mitigating the potential additional resource
impact of the pandemic Partnership
whilst ensuring
arrangement with DWP
appropriate investment 100% Stock condition
Head of Housing &
in assets based on
survey completed,
Regulatory Services
regulatory compliance
Asset Management
and robust stock
Strategy approved and
condition data.
being implemented
New Repairs &
Maintenance contract
implemented
Review of HRA Business
Plan to be concluded

3

Notwithstanding the
current challenges in
responding to the
pandemic agile financial
management ensures
the HRA remains
healthy.

Current Risk Matrix

Current Risk
Assessment and Score

8 Uneasy

6 Uneasy

4 Content

Service Area

Title

Potential Effect

Injury or death to
Landlord Compliance
tenants, resident or
Housing & Regulatory & Regulatory
visitors. Significant
Services
Requirements (Health
adverse publicity.
& Safety)
Regulatory impact.

Page 204
Failure to provide
suitable storage
Transformation &
arrangements for the
Resources Directorate
Council's electronic
information

Internal Controls

Responsible Officer Latest Note

There are robust
processes in place to
ensure the required
inspection cycles are
met relating to the 5
key risk areas for
statutory compliance
relating to;
Gas Safety / Fire
Safety/ Asbestos
Management / Water
Management and
Electrical Safety.

Current Risk
Assessment and Score

Compliance is
monitored and reported
to the Head of Service
on a weekly basis and
reported quarterly.
Property Services
Manager has reviewed
the current risk
assessment score and
Head of Housing &
while robust procedures
Regulatory Services are in place, they are
yet to be fully
embedded and tested
via Internal Audit.

Review of the
processes and
procedures is
incorporated into the
internal audit
programme.
Migration to system
driven management is
underway.

Inefficient business
processes. Failure to
meet statutory and best
practice requirements,
e.g. in relation to FOIA,
DPA, GDPR, EIR and
other information
handling legislation
(including record
retention and
destruction
arrangements). Staff
time wasted / diverted.
Potential legal
challenges. Criticism by
Audit and negative
press. Increased
electronic storage costs.

Current Risk Matrix

Project concluded in
October 2019 delivered
a more coherent
corporate structure for
electronic records on
the Council's network
with appropriate
management
Corporate Director
arrangements,
of Transformation &
including access
Resources
permissions appropriate
to job role. Work
planned (RFP33180) to
move databases,
applications and scripts
to a separate drive (in
line with best practice).
Staff guidance has

4

10 Concerned

In addition, the current
pandemic has inhibited
property access for
gas/electric inspections
however this is a sector
wide issue.

Information governance
to be further reviewed
by an Information
Governance unit
provided through the
SORP process. The risk
matrix reflects the need
to keep the constant
increase in creation and
storage of all electronic
data storage under
review.

8 Uneasy

Service Area

Title

Potential Effect

Page 205

The GDPR and Data
Protection Act 2018
brought considerable
changes to the current
data protection
framework and the
Council must deliver its
services in accordance
Significant failure to
with it. There are
comply with General
substantial
Transformation &
Data Protection
enhancements to the
Resources Directorate Regulation (GDPR and current requirements as
Data Protection Act
well as some new
2018).
elements. Compliance
had significant resource
implications in terms of
budget, IT, Governance
and communications.
There are a range of
sanctions for breaches
including fines and
damages. Failure to

Internal Controls

Responsible Officer Latest Note

Current Risk Matrix

Current Risk
Assessment and Score

been provided but will
be further reviewed and
enhanced by an
Information
Governance Manager
through the SORP
process to include
periodic training /
dissemination of
information e.g.
Retention & Disposal
schedule, Corporate
Catalogue/ROPA and
ICT Data and Security
Policy for Link Officers,
IAOs and staff in
services to ensure up to
date with current
policy, legislation and
best practice.
An action plan is in
place and being
managed requiring
Services to review their
existing policies and
procedures and
technical methods in
line with the new
requirements and work
is continuing. A report
Corporate Director
has been taken to
of Transformation &
Senior Management to
Resources
highlight the
requirements to be
imposed. This is being
supplemented with
more detail and
guidance provided. The
Action Plan to ensure
compliance is in place
with training organised
and being delivered.

5

An Internal Audit
review found shortfalls
in GDPR. Subsequently
an action plan is in
place and is being
managed.
Information governance
arrangements are
planned to be further
reviewed and enhanced
by an Information
Governance Unit
provided through the
SORP process

9 Uneasy

Service Area

Title

Page 206

Potential Effect

Internal Controls

Responsible Officer Latest Note

report a breach would
result in a fine as well
as a fine for the breach
itself.

Account is taken of the
emerging UK based
legislation. The effect
within Services was
developed with the
assistance of
Information Asset
Owners. Budget
resources may be
required to update
processes particularly
where software is to be
used. The Cabinet
considered a report on
the proposals and
known resource
requirements in
January 2018.

BTLS provide the
technical ICT aspects of
the Council's cyber
security operations
The Council controls a
such as Firewall, Web
large amount of
and Email filtering,
sensitive data and
virus and malware
assets of value to cyber
protection. WLBC's role
criminals, although
is around measures
given the nature of the
complementing this,
Council's work unlikely
e.g. ensuring security
to be a specific primary
Corporate Director
Transformation &
Effective Management
of buildings and policies
target in comparison
of Transformation &
Resources Directorate of Cyber Security
around usage of ICT
with other
Resources
(the ICT & Data
organisations. This
Security Policy and
gives the potential for
Data Protection
harm via unauthorised
policies). A Cyber
access, destruction,
Security Action Plan
disclosure, modification
jointly agreed in April
of information and/or
2019 is in place
denial of service.
covering e.g. security
governance, technical
security measures, and
training and awareness

6

Cyber security risks
occur worldwide on a
daily basis and are ever
evolving making it
difficult to assess the
risk. The assessment
has accounted for the
technical defences in
place for all types of
cyber security
incidents, the nature of
attacks the Council has
experienced to date
and the governance
arrangements in place
to mitigate the risk.
The evidence suggests
the Council is most
likely to be impacted by
lower level individual
attacks than
organisational system
attacks. No
technological solution

Current Risk Matrix

Current Risk
Assessment and Score

12 Concerned

Service Area

Title

Potential Effect

Internal Controls

Responsible Officer Latest Note

for staff to manage the
risk further. Cyber risk
is a standing item on
the Information
Governance and Data
Protection Officer
Working Group.

Page 207

Wellbeing & Leisure
Services

Wellbeing & Leisure
Services

Current Risk Matrix

Current Risk
Assessment and Score

can stop all threats to
the council and it is
imperative that all
users remain vigilant.
As a corporate risk, the
current assessment
reflects the risk for an
incident with
organisation-wide
impact, rather than for
individual accounts
(considered human
error more likely).

Procurement of new
leisure provision

Impact on Council
services, finances and
reputation.
The Council has
adopted a leisure
strategy which identifies
new provision.
Failure to deliver will
impact on future service
delivery.
The potential financial
cost, both revenue and
capital, could seriously
impact on the Council's
ability to balance its
budget.

Project group, project
Board and cabinet
Project Group, Project
working group now well
Head of Wellbeing & Board, and cabinet
established and
Leisure Services
Working Group
regularly monitoring
meetings continuing
progress.
CCG partnership board

9 Uneasy

Leisure Contract

Leisure Contract
currently operating on a
No Net Loss, No Net
Gain arrangement with
West Lancs Community
Leisure Trust and
Serco. This runs under
a Letter of Intent until
31 July and a report is
being considered by
Cabinet and Council on
22 July for an 8 month
extension until 31

Weekly review
meetings are being
held with Serco along
with formal monthly
reviews. Cabinet
Working Group
established and being
informed in relation to
progress

9 Uneasy

7

Weekly oversight
meetings programmed
in. Formal monthly
Head of Wellbeing &
reviews programmed in
Leisure Services
and Cabinet Working
Group meetings
continuing

Service Area

Title

Potential Effect

Internal Controls

Responsible Officer Latest Note

Current Risk Matrix

Current Risk
Assessment and Score

March 2021. The
Council are currently
underwriting any
deficits incurred by
Serco during this period

Page 208

Failure to deliver
Growth &
Skelmersdale Town
Development Services
Centre Regeneration

Growth &
Development Services

Preparation of new
Local Plan

1. Continue to consult
with public where
relevant.
2. Collaboration
agreement in place.
Opportunity - The
3. Continue to engage
project will provide a
with the "other"
mix of residential,
landowners to
commercial, leisure and
encourage their
education
participation in the
accommodation
scheme.
Head of Growth &
opportunities.
4. This risk is reviewed Development
Threat - We could fail to
regularly as part of the Services
address the economic
ongoing project
issues, not address
management.
residents’ requirements
5. Maintaining regular
and have an impact on
contact with developer
the Council's
and potential
reputation.
retail/commercial/leisur
e occupiers.
6. Project Board meets
regularly to review
progress.

Purchase of Homes
England land is now
complete. Initial utility
works undertaken.
Development Funding
Agreement expected to
be signed late August
2020. Works on site
expected to begin Sept
2020, subject to
contractor mobilisation.
Discussions beginning
on Phase 2 scheme

The preparation of a
Local Plan is a
complicated and
lengthy process and so
a number of factors can
potentially cause delay.
Should the preparation
of a new Local Plan be
delayed, the existing
adopted Local Plan
becomes more and
more out-of-date over
time, potentially
weakening the ability of

Preparation of the new
Local Plan is at an early
stage, and while
COVID19 pandemic has
caused some delays, it
is anticipated the delay
will be able to be
made-up later in the
timetable

 Explore all
opportunities for joint
working and service
sharing.
 Maximise flexibility
across the Service.

Head of Growth &
Development
 Maintain close liaison Services
with latest national
guidance and its
preparation.
 Revise Local Plan
timetable if

8

9 uneasy

6 Uneasy

Service Area

Title

Potential Effect

Internal Controls

Responsible Officer Latest Note

Page 209

the Council to make
necessary.
decisions based upon it  Adequate budgetary
(as opposed to the
provision for
NPPF or other material
consultancy support
considerations).
if required.
New opportunities for

Keep in touch with
development are also
the Planning
restricted and likely to
Inspectorate and
come forward on an ad
advise them of
hoc, unplanned basis if
requests for
a new Local Plan is not
Examinations at the
put in place.
earliest possible time.
Potential for Gov't to
 The Council will
intervene in planmonitor Inspector's
making if insufficient
decisions elsewhere
progress is being made.
to seek to ensure the
Council is following
best practice.
 Ensure robust
evidence base and
use PAS Local Plan
toolkit.
 Draw on external
expertise where
necessary to ensure
evidence and
approach to policy is
robust.
 Ensure procedures,
Acts and Regulations
are complied with.
 Contact external
bodies at the earliest
opportunity for their
input and
communicate clearly
and regularly with
them to minimise risk
of no / poor
responses and

9

Current Risk Matrix

Current Risk
Assessment and Score

Service Area

Title

Potential Effect

Internal Controls

Responsible Officer Latest Note

therefore delays.
 Establish clear
working
arrangements with
other local authorities
when undertaking
joint work on Local
Plans and ensure
strong programme /
project management.
 Local Plan timetable
should be set on a
realistic basis taking
into account the staff
resources available.

Page 210

 Ensure quick
replacement of staff
wherever possible.
 Flexibility of staff
within the Growth
and Development
Service enables
opportunities for
planning officers from
other teams in the
Service to help with
workload.
 Some elements of
work can be
undertaken by
consultants, where
there is financial
resource available.
 Early consultation
and information
sharing with
Members will reduce
the likelihood of late
amendments being
required or
documents being

10

Current Risk Matrix

Current Risk
Assessment and Score

Service Area

Title

Potential Effect

Internal Controls

Responsible Officer Latest Note

Current Risk Matrix

Current Risk
Assessment and Score

rejected.
The Housing Strategy
and updated action plan
for 2020-2021 is based
on the following
housing objectives:

Growth &
Delivery of the
Development Services Housing Strategy

Page 211
Chief Operating
Officer

West Lancashire
Development
Company

. Achieve the right
supply of new homes
including maximising
affordable housing
. Regenerate and
remodel areas of
Skelmersdale
. Make the best use of
all existing homes
. Encourage well
managed and
maintained homes
across all tenures
. Encourage investment
to meet specialist
housing requirements
. Deliver the Council’s
Sustainable Energy
Strategy 2012- 2020
Residential and
Domestic Sector
objectives.
Development Company
offers opportunities of
generating income from
developments however,
volatility in
development / financial
markets can create
risks on investments,
which means there is
the potential that
significant sums of
money could be lost.

Regular monitoring will
occur via the Service
Action Plan (SAP)
monitoring process.
Each action contained
in the Housing Strategy
Action Plan will have its
own delivery risks,
Head of Growth &
however the current
Development
and target risk rating is Services
based upon an overall
consideration of risk
across all the intended
delivery actions that
are shown in the
Housing SAP.

A Cabinet Working
Group has been set up
to Monitor
Developments in this
area.
The annual Business
Plan will be approved
by the Council and site
appraisals and further
detailed analysis will
determine which

11

Chief Operating
Officer

In March 2020 Cabinet
agreed a new housing
strategy action plan
2020-2021. This
followed a full review of
all housing strategy
delivery actions and
achievements for the
2014-2019 period.
There are no delivery
concerns at this time.

The market will have
been impacted by
COVID and the
business plan needs to
be reconsidered in this
light. The score in the
risk matrix has been
revised to reflect this
developing situation.

4 Content

8 Uneasy

Service Area

Title

Potential Effect

Internal Controls

Responsible Officer Latest Note

schemes / projects are
viable. Performance
against the Business
Plan will be presented
to Council.

Page 212
12

Current Risk Matrix

Current Risk
Assessment and Score

Agenda Item 14
AGENDA ITEM:
EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW &
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:
24 September 2020
CABINET: 13 October 2020

PLANNING COMMITTEE:
15 October 2020

Report of:

Corporate Director of Place and Community

Relevant Portfolio Holder:

Councillor David Evans

Contact for further information: Mr Peter Richards (Extn. 5046)
(E-mail: peter.richards@westlancs.gov.uk)

SUBJECT: PLANNING FOR THE FUTURE WHITE PAPER AND CONSULTATION
ON CHANGES TO THE PLANNING SYSTEM

Wards affected: Borough wide

1.0

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1

To consider the proposed Council response to MHCLG's consultation on both
the Planning for the Future white paper and the technical changes to the
planning system.

2.0

RECOMMENDATIONS TO EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

2.1

That the proposed Council response to the Planning for the Future white paper
at Appendix A be considered and agreed comments of the committee on that
response be considered by Cabinet on 13th October.

2.2

That the proposed Council response to the technical consultation changes to the
planning system at Appendix B be considered and agreed comments of the
committee on that response be shared with the Corporate Director of Place and
Community for consideration prior to a final response on the technical
consultation being agreed in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning
and submitted before the deadline of 1st October.

Page 213

3.0

RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET

3.1

That the agreed comments of Executive Overview & Scrutiny Committee
provided at Appendix C be noted and considered.

3.2

That the proposed Council response to the Planning for the Future white paper
at Appendix A be agreed, subject to the consideration of the agreed comments
of Planning Committee on 15th October.

3.3

That authority to agree and submit the Council's response to the Planning for the
Future white paper be delegated to the Corporate Director of Place and
Community, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning, following
consideration of the agreed comments of Planning Committee on 15 th October.

4.0

RECOMMENDATIONS TO PLANNING COMMITTEE

4.1

That the proposed Council response to the Planning for the Future white paper
at Appendix A be considered and agreed comments of the committee on that
response be shared with the Corporate Director of Place and Community for
consideration prior to a final response being agreed in consultation with the
Portfolio Holder for Planning and submitted before the deadline of 29th October.

5.0

BACKGROUND

5.1

On 6th August 2020, the Government published their Planning for the Future
white paper as well as a separate (but related) technical consultation on changes
to the planning system.
The White Paper can be viewed at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future and the
technical consultation on changes to the planning system can be viewed at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-the-current-planningsystem.

5.2

The white paper sets out proposals for a wide-ranging change to the planning
system in England, with some of the key proposals being:


A new zonal-style of Local Plan that would involve automatically giving
outline planning permission for development in areas zoned for growth in
such a Local Plan. Local Plans would zone all parts of a district as either a
growth zone, a renewal zone or a protected zone, with different scales and
types of development allowed in each zone and different ways of securing
planning permission in each zone.
Instead of general policies for
development (which would be set nationally instead), Local Plans would be
required to set out site- and area-specific requirements for development,
alongside locally produced design codes.



A "binding" housing requirement would be introduced, calculated using an
updated standard method (see below), that local planning authorities would
have to deliver through their Local Plans.

Page 214

5.3



Large building sites would be split between multiple developers and
housebuilders to accelerate delivery of housing.



Local Planning Authorities would be given new powers to drive up design
and sustainability standards, with a greater focus on "placemaking" and
"building beautiful" and the use of design codes.



A new, nationally-set, flat rate, single Infrastructure Levy to replace CIL and
S106s and to fund both new infrastructure and affordable housing from the
same pot of funding.



The planning process would be increasingly digitised, with Local Plans and
policy moving from being document-based to a process driven by data and
expressed more visually and map-based in nationally standardised, open
and accessible formats.



Community consultation and engagement on specific sites for development
would be brought forward and upfront to the Plan-making stage, meaning
that consultation at the planning application stage would be streamlined and
reduced, because the principle of the development would have been
established at the Local Plan stage.

The separate technical consultation covers details of four key proposals that the
Government had been working on even prior to wider changes proposed in the
white paper:


A proposed change to the standard method for calculating housing
requirements for strategic plans (Local Plans) – which would become a
"binding" requirement under the white paper proposals.



Delivering the Government's "First Homes" concept



Supporting small and medium sized developers



Proposals to extend the Permission in Principle consent regime

6.0

PROPOSED COMMENTS

6.1

Appendices A and B set out a suggested Council response to the consultation
questions that the Government have posed in relation to the white paper and the
technical consultation respectively, and members are invited to consider this fully
and agree comments on possible improvements to those responses for Cabinet /
the Corporate Director of Place and Community to consider before agreeing a
final response to both consultations.

6.2

In relation to the white paper's proposals, it is quite difficult to be precise in
supporting or raising concerns about the proposals because there is very little
detail on how the proposals would be implemented, and whether they would be
positive changes would very much depend on the detail of how they would be
implemented. However, there are two major areas where officers have
Page 215

significant concerns that it is recommended should be flagged with MHCLG
through the consultation response, alongside the responses to the other
consultation questions. These two major areas are:


The new-style zonal Local Plan, with associated design codes and changes
to how permission is granted – while the overall idea of the new-style Local
Plan and granting outline planning permission automatically in growth zones
could potentially work, the lack of detail on the "how" it would be
implemented has generated quite a bit of concern in the planning sector. It
is likely to create a lot more work in preparing a Local Plan, including
preparing detailed design codes (which is not something local planning
authorities often have to do at the moment) and greater public engagement
on site-specific matters, and all within a shorter timescale for preparation
and examination (30 months). At the same time, local planning authorities
will have less control at planning application stage and likely reduced
planning application fee income.



The proposed new single Infrastructure Levy – this would replace the
existing CIL and S106 arrangements to fund not just infrastructure, but
affordable housing as well. It would involve setting a flat rate nationally, and
deducting any costs incurred providing on-site affordable housing. As such,
while it would ultimately depend on what the flat rate is set at, it is likely that
the new Infrastructure Levy would result in less funding for infrastructure
and / or less affordable housing being delivered.

6.3

In relation to the technical consultation on changes to the planning system,
officers do have some concerns about the precise way in which First Homes are
to be promoted above other forms of affordable housing, about the potential
temporary changes to affordable housing requirements on developments of up to
50 dwellings, and about the wider use of the Permission in Principle consent
route (which has not proved popular amongst local planning authorities or
applicants thus far, and could reduce planning fee income for local planning
authorities whilst doing little to reduce workload in dealing with such
applications). However, the proposed changes in technical consultation are fairly
modest and not wholly unreasonable.

6.4

The proposed revision to the standard methodology for calculating a district's
housing requirement would raise the housing requirement for West Lancashire
(based on the current data) from 193 dwellings a year under the current standard
method to 277 dwellings a year under the proposed new standard method, which
is more in line with what would be expected in West Lancashire based upon
experience over the past 10-20 years. However, while the proposed standard
method results in a more sensible housing requirement figure for West
Lancashire, it is not without criticism as it produces extremely high figures in
other parts of the country (most notably London and the South East) and there is
concern that it is still not a robust basis for housing requirements where it utilises
questionable household projections for some authorities.

Page 216

7.0

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

7.1

There are no direct implications for sustainability from the recommendations in
this report, as they are only considering a proposed Council response to the
Government's proposals to change the planning system in England.

8.0

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

8.1

The recommendations in this report have no financial and resource implications
for the Council. However, the Government's proposals to change the planning
system in England will likely have significant (negative) impacts on the Council's
finances and resources, but until the Government provides more detail on how
the new planning system would operate, it is not possible to estimate this impact.

9.0

RISK ASSESSMENT

9.1

There are no risks for the Council associated with the recommendations in this
report. However, the changes to the planning system proposed by Government
that are being considered in this report will likely bring significant risks for the
Council, but until the Government provides more detail on how the new planning
system would operate, it is not possible to estimate this risk.

10.0 HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS
10.1 There are no direct implications for health
recommendations in this report.

and

wellbeing

from

the

Background Documents
There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local
Government Act 1972) to this Report.

Equality Impact Assessment
This report does not have any direct impact on members of the public, employees,
elected members and / or stakeholders. Therefore, no Equality Impact Assessment is
required.

Appendices
Appendix A – Proposed Council response to the Planning for the Future white paper

Page 217

Appendix B – Proposed Council response to the technical consultation on changes to
the planning system
Appendix C – Minute of Executive Overview & Scrutiny Committee 24 September 2020
(Cabinet only)

Page 218

Planning for the Future White Paper August 2020
West Lancashire Borough Council Consultation Response (October 2020)

Pillar One – Planning for development
1. What three words do you associate most with the planning system in England?
Not appropriate to answer

2. Do you get involved with planning decisions in your local area?
[Yes / No]
Yes – West Lancashire Borough Council is the local planning authority.

2(a). If no, why not?
[Don’t know how to / It takes too long / It’s too complicated / I don’t care / Other – please specify]
N/A

3. Our proposals will make it much easier to access plans and contribute your views to planning
decisions. How would you like to find out about plans and planning proposals in the future?
[Social media / Online news / Newspaper / By post / Other – please specify]
N/A

4. What are your top three priorities for planning in your local area?
[Building homes for young people / building homes for the homeless / Protection of green spaces /
The environment, biodiversity and action on climate change / Increasing the affordability of housing /
The design of new homes and places / Supporting the high street / Supporting the local economy /
More or better local infrastructure / Protection of existing heritage buildings or areas / Other –
please specify]
Other – as a local planning authority, West Lancashire Borough Council considers that all of the
priorities listed in this question are important and a truly sustainable Local Plan and planning system
must address them all as best as possible bearing in mind that some of the priorities would
potentially conflict with one another. This Council also considers that protection of the Green Belt
and protection of the best and most versatile agricultural land should be considered as a priority
alongside the options provided.

Page 219

5. Do you agree that Local Plans should be simplified in line with our proposals?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Not Sure – Many of the proposals outlined in Planning for the Future could be positive and certainly
making the planning system simpler would be of benefit, but ultimately whether the proposals are
appropriate will depend on the detail of "how" the proposals will be achieved, as Planning for the
Future provides little detail on this. As such, the Council is responding with a "not sure" as there is a
real risk that over-simplification of the planning system will not achieve the aims that the White
Paper has set out. The Council sets out its concerns with regard each proposal in answer to the
relevant questions in this consultation.
In relation to the three-zone system outlined for Local Plans, this concept is reasonable and would
make Local Plans simpler and easier to understand, but it is imperative that local authorities be able
to apply distinctions within each zone as to what land-uses are allowed on different parcels of land,
otherwise employment land and town centres will be undermined by too much housing, and so the
economy will be affected.
This particularly applies to the "Renewal" zone, where a local authority needs to be able to
distinguish between, for example, a town centre / High Street area, an industrial estate and a
residential neighbourhood. "Renewal" of each of these areas would be welcome, but only for
development of uses that would fit in each of those contexts and not undermine the purpose of
those different areas.
Similarly, in "Growth" zones, the local authority needs to be able to demarcate areas for new
commercial and industrial development separate from residential development.
Likewise, in "Protected" zones, the precise nature of the area being protected will still need to be
reflected as different policies will apply, for example, Green Belt policy is different from policy in
flood zone 3, and policy in an AONB is different from policy related to a protected green space in an
urban environment.
As a result, the three zone system proposed would inevitably need to have a number of sub-zones
and will become more complex. This is not a negative, however, as it will allow the uniqueness of
each authority area to be reflected in Local Plans, while still enabling a clear zonal system with
precise details of what development is, and isn't, allowed in each sub-zone.
As such, the second of the alternatives proposed in the White Paper for this proposal may be more
workable, to ensure each zone is specific enough regarding the type of development and uses
allowed in a given area, either through the accompanying design code for a growth area, or the
more nuanced zones in a renewal area.
Furthermore, more detailed consideration should be given to how exception policies would work in
a "Protected" zone, for example the proposed First Homes exception sites, rural exception sites and
the exceptions to inappropriate development in the Green Belt.

Page 220

6. Do you agree with our proposals for streamlining the development management content of Local
Plans, and setting out general development management policies nationally?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Not Sure – While the principle of the approach outlined in the White Paper is understandable, and
its aims are laudable from the point of view of streamlining the process and making it simpler, the
Council would be concerned that prescriptive, nationally-set development management policies
would not necessarily be appropriate given that every part of England is different and the reason
why planning applications are considered on a case-by-case basis under the current planning system
is because every site is different as well. Having nationally prescribed policies may lead to a
uniformity of development across the country (rather than the "beautiful" building aimed for in the
White Paper) and mean that key, locally distinctive planning matters cannot be addressed properly.
As a result, local planning authorities may have reasonable control on design but would potentially
lose control over specific land uses, e.g. conversion of C3 residential uses to C4 HMO's. There would
be no scope for a local policy on a specific local issue. This would be of significant local concern in
West Lancashire in relation to HMOs.

7(a). Do you agree with our proposals to replace existing legal and policy tests for Local Plans with a
consolidated test of “sustainable development”, which would include consideration of environmental
impact?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Not Sure – As with other proposals, the Council's response to this question would depend on the
detail of what this sustainable development test would encompass. It would certainly be welcome
to replace the tests of soundness with more accessible tests that communities can better grapple
with, and reduce the reliance on reams and reams of evidence studies and assessments such as the
Sustainability Appraisal process, but the new test must enable an authority, communities and
planning professionals to grapple with the very critical issues that fall within the concept of
sustainable development in an informed way, based on robust and technical information. Given that
sustainable development is a very subjective term, and can carry different meanings in different
contexts, this may prove challenging to achieve in a single, consolidated test.

7(b). How could strategic, cross-boundary issues be best planned for in the absence of a formal Duty
to Cooperate?
Firstly, the option of Joint Local Plans should still very much be available to local authorities under
any new planning system. However, where a Joint Local Plan is not appropriate, strategic, crossboundary issues tend to revolve around housing requirements, commuting / travel patterns,
strategic infrastructure and ecological impact. In relation to housing requirements, the proposals in
the Planning for the Future would remove the ambiguity over housing requirements under the
current system, and so there should be very limited basis for housing requirements to be redistributed between neighbouring authorities, which is a welcome proposal. With regard
commuting/travel patterns and strategic infrastructure, these are matters which local authorities
routinely co-operate on and seek to ensure Local Plans address or take account of, and so no formal
Duty to Co-operate is necessary for those factors. In relation to ecological impact (because nature
does not adhere to administrative boundaries), this is a more challenging and complex matter to

Page 221

deal with and cross-boundary co-operation is definitely still required for it, but it does not
necessarily have to involve a Duty to Co-operate. Instead, the detail of how the new planning
system will manage mitigation for ecological impact, biodiversity net gain and the requirements of
the Habitats Regulations Assessment should be formulated such that cross-boundary co-operation
on ecological matters is maintained through the new planning system.

8(a). Do you agree that a standard method for establishing housing requirements (that takes into
account constraints) should be introduced?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Yes, but the precise methodology for that standard method must be appropriate. The Council will
be making submissions in relation to the separate consultation underway on the standard method,
but it is welcomed that the new method seeks to ensure the overall aim to deliver 300,000 new
homes a year nationally is delivered, giving a fixed figure to work from, as opposed to the everchanging household projections. However, while the new method is better than the existing method
in this regard, there is still a predisposition of the method to require more housing in the south-east
than would previously have been provided and less in the north of the country. This will reinforce
inequality and the north-south divide in England.

8(b). Do you agree that affordability and the extent of existing urban areas are appropriate
indicators of the quantity of development to be accommodated?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Not Sure – Affordability should certainly be a factor in identifying the quantity of development to be
accommodated in an area, but it is not the only factor and can lead to the aforementioned
reaffirmation of the north-south divide, as inevitably those areas with the greatest affordability
issues are in the south-east of England. The use of existing numbers of households helps to rebalance this slightly, but, again, the most densely populated places are generally in the south-east
(or London more specifically). This then creates a challenge for the large cities in England (especially
London) as they inevitably have the highest housing requirements, but can be more constrained
(relatively speaking) in relation to deliverable housing land. Ultimately therefore, the NPPF and
other Government policy should be seeking to do more to re-balance the country's economy
through concepts such as the Northern Powerhouse and so, alongside those direct economic
interventions, ensure more housing and infrastructure is planned for in the north of England to
support that economic boost to the north of England.

9(a). Do you agree that there should be automatic outline permission for areas for substantial
development (Growth areas) with faster routes for detailed consent?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Not sure – the precise approaches for granting those detailed consents must be robust and consider
all relevant site-specific and technical matters, otherwise the ambition to "build beautiful" will not
be achieved, and environmental impacts will likely be greater. While the technically detailed
matters that a new development needs to consider can mean an application takes longer to process,
this is because such matters are complex and require diligent attention, and so the desire for
efficiency and speed must not compromise making sure that developments meet all technical
requirements and that the right decision is made. Any such consent process must all be able to levy

Page 222

an appropriate charge for applications to ensure that local authorities' costs in considering those
applications on detailed matters are covered in full.
The Council envisage the proposed approach in the white paper would be very costly for the Council,
with the amount of detailed, site-specific background surveys needed prior to a site being allocated
at plan-making stage. It moves the costs from applicants to the local planning authority, particularly
if the application fee for these faster routes for detailed consent are lower than the current
application fee. As a result, the proposed timescales for plan making (30 months) are unreasonable
given what would be needed, and the resource implications are severe.
Guidance would also be appreciated on whether pre-application enquiries would/could still be
accommodated in this new system, as the Council considers that this important element of the
planning system, which has become so widely used in recent years, should be retained to help
applicants formulate appropriate development proposals.

9(b). Do you agree with our proposals above for the consent arrangements for Renewal and
Protected areas?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Not Sure – a general presumption in favour of development would be appropriate in Renewal areas,
but the subsequent new processes for granting automatic consent for pre-specified forms of
development and for the faster planning application for other types of development would need to
be robust and local authorities must be able to levy an appropriate charge for such applications /
consents to ensure that local authorities' costs in considering those applications / consents are
covered in full. Given the lack of detail on these proposals at present, the Council's response must
be "not sure".
The Council is also concerned at how difficult it will be to develop a design code that covers all forms
of development within a renewal area, as renewal areas tend to be so mixed in character.
Consent arrangements in Protected areas would quite correctly still need to be through a traditional
planning application, but the policies for assessing such applications should not be restricted to
simply that within a new NPPF, as local authorities should be able to set bespoke policies to reflect
characteristics particular to their area that should be protected. These should not repeat national
policy though.
Guidance would also be appreciated on whether pre-application enquiries would/could still be
accommodated in this new system, as the Council considers that this important element of the
planning system, which has become so widely used in recent years, should be retained to help
applicants formulate appropriate development proposals.

9(c). Do you think there is a case for allowing new settlements to be brought forward under the
Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects regime?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
No – local planning authorities are the most appropriate organisations to consider development
proposals for their local area. There is also the risk that any such proposal for a new settlement
could be slowed down through the NSIP route. Utilisation of the NSIP route would also harm
planning application fee income for Councils, harming the sustainability of local planning authorities.

Page 223

10. Do you agree with our proposals to make decision-making faster and more certain?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Not sure – as with the Council's answers to the previous questions, it depends on the detail of how
the proposals would be implemented, which is not yet available. Any approach which risks "cutting
corners" on key issues would not be supported by this Council, as any faster process must ensure all
the technical issues in a development proposal are fully explored and resolved to the satisfaction of
the local planning authority and any statutory consultees to ensure that the development is
appropriate before permission is granted.
The Council is also concerned about the rigid application of the 8 and 13 week target date, as this
will prevent negotiations that promote betterment in the design of schemes, and so would fail to
create beautiful places. Rigid targets may also lead to more refusals and uncertainty for the
developer, if it is apparent that the scheme cannot be modified in time.
The proposal to integrate validation with the submission of an application also concerns the Council.
This seems to point to the fact that a national body will receive and validate applications, resulting in
valid applications being forwarded to local planning authorities. This will have implications for staff
in the local planning authority who currently undertake the validation of applications and customers
who may not be easily able to engage with a national body who may not be easily accessible and
understand the digitised process.
Whilst the idea of limiting applicants to the submission of a 50 page supporting document is a
laudable aim, the Council is concerned that the information submitted will not be sufficiently
detailed and robust and it will be difficult to interrogate the information to ensure all relevant
matters have been considered and addressed fully. It would be very difficult to provide standardised
technical supporting information and Design Guides will struggle to address every site specific issue.
Whilst a suite of national planning conditions would be welcomed, this should not prevent the local
planning authority using additional site specific bespoke conditions.
In terms of resourcing, the Council would be very concerned about the proposal to refund fees
where appeals are lost or the local planning authority has not determined an application within the
time limits. The local planning authority will have already used resources to process the application
and without security of fee income, this will undermine our ability to deliver a planning service.

11. Do you agree with our proposals for accessible, web-based Local Plans?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Yes – West Lancashire Borough Council would welcome support and guidance from MHCLG in
moving to such a web-based format, and would recommend that one system is created that all local
planning authorities use so that there is consistency across the country.
In addition, more support should be provided to local authorities to help move planning into more
digital formats, for example how the data needed to make planning decisions could be displayed

Page 224

digitally and in map-based software to reduce the reliance on publishing lengthy evidence studies as
documents.
However, like many other authorities, West Lancashire has an ageing population, many of whom still
engage with the Council by telephone, face to face and by letter. Some will struggle to engage with
the digital format and consideration should be given to how such groups can still be effectively
engaged.

12. Do you agree with our proposals for a 30 month statutory timescale for the production of Local
Plans?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
No – while the speed at which local planning authorities could prepare a new-style Local Plan would
depend on the details yet to be provided on what such Local Plans would cover and how they would
be prepared/formatted, 30 months seems too short, at least for the initial new-style Local Plan for
each local planning authority. However, West Lancashire Borough Council acknowledges the White
Paper's point that the current process for Plan-making is too long and drawn out and can lead to
Local Plans being out-of-date almost as soon as they are adopted.
The other issue with a 30 month window is whether this would allow sufficient time for in-depth
public consultation and preparation of detailed site-specific design codes, given that the new system
is intended to focus public participation in the planning process at his Plan-making stage and is to be
more site-focused. If such consultations are to be more than paying lip-service to the idea of
consultation, and if deliverable and robust design codes for each site are to be developed, more time
will be needed at the Plan-making stage, or more resources provided to local planning authorities to
undertake the work faster.
The 30 month window would also be challenging because there is a national lack of planners with
design skills, as these are areas which have been cut back by local planning authorities due to
funding issues over recent years, and so there would be a steep learning curve involved for current
local planning authority officers under the proposed new system.

13(a). Do you agree that Neighbourhood Plans should be retained in the reformed planning system?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Not sure – it is unclear how Neighbourhood Plans would fit in a zonal planning system that seeks to
set development management policy at a national level and then have sufficient site-specific design
codes alongside / as part of a new-style zonal Local Plan. Currently, Neighbourhood Plans do not
typically set strategic policy but focus on development management / design code matters as well as
allocating sites sometimes. In a zonal system such as that suggested by the White Paper, the zones
would be a strategic matter and set by the Local Plan and the Development Management policies
would be set nationally. As such, a neighbourhood plan would not be able to set new zones (i.e.
identify new sites any more) and would not be able to set locally-specific development management
policies. As such, Neighbourhood Plans could only look at locally-derived design codes for specific
sites, which would need to be prepared alongside the Local Plan. This is a very different role to that
which they currently take.

Page 225

13(b). How can the neighbourhood planning process be developed to meet our objectives, such as in
the use of digital tools and reflecting community preferences about design?
Whatever role Neighbourhood Plans could take in a new zonal planning system, to ensure they
utilise digital tools a standard format should be set nationally that local councils and neighbourhood
forums can then use, and to make it clear the scope of what neighbourhood plans can cover under
the new system.

14. Do you agree there should be a stronger emphasis on the build out of developments? And if so,
what further measures would you support?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Yes – this is a fundamental issue and a deficiency in the process which needs to be resolved.
However, it is unclear how local planning authorities could enforce a requirement to have multiple
builders developing substantial development sites, given that the majority of sites are privatelyowned and the subject of sales / options between private parties. As such, this proposal would
involve quite significant intervention in the market.

Pillar Two – Planning for beautiful and sustainable places
15. What do you think about the design of new development that has happened recently in your
area?
[Not sure or indifferent / Beautiful and/or well-designed / Ugly and/or poorly-designed / There hasn’t
been any / Other – please specify]
Other – Design of new development in recent times has been led by volume house builders building
standard house types with limited local distinctiveness. Given Government pressure on local
planning authorities to meet housing targets, it has been difficult to secure design improvements
and attempts to do so have not been supported at appeal. Given the proposed re-introduced
determination targets and planning appeal fee refunds in Pillar 1, the Council does not see how
introducing Design Codes will reverse this trend if other aspects of the proposed new planning
system will reinforce volume housebuilding.

16. Sustainability is at the heart of our proposals. What is your priority for sustainability in your area?
[Less reliance on cars / More green and open spaces / Energy efficiency of new buildings / More trees
/ Other – please specify]
Other – By definition, sustainability cannot have a single priority. It is, by nature, about finding a
balance between the sometimes competing priorities of the environment, social issues and
economic growth. The Council's concern over the proposals in the White Paper is that they do not
properly address this point, and yet a robust planning system must address all aspects of
sustainability and try and find that appropriate balance between the three factors for the good of
the current generation and future generations.

Page 226

17. Do you agree with our proposals for improving the production and use of design guides and
codes?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Yes – however, the Council is concerned that there will be a conflict between national design codes
and local design codes, e.g. even though the National Design Guide recommends tree lined streets,
the local Highway Authority do not consider this to be acceptable as there is a maintenance
implication. Additional resources will also need to be given to local authorities to improve the
production and use of design guides and codes.

18. Do you agree that we should establish a new body to support design coding and building better
places, and that each authority should have a chief officer for design and place-making?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Yes – local planning authorities would require support to draw up local design codes, as there is little
in-house expertise in this area. However, any national body should be properly and consistently
resourced to support local planning authorities in this work. Specific details on the resourcing of
local planning authorities is key to the delivery of a more effective planning services and any funding
should be ring-fenced for planning to help local planning authorities to recruit officers with design
experience.

19. Do you agree with our proposal to consider how design might be given greater emphasis in the
strategic objectives for Homes England?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Yes – however, like local planning authorities, Homes England will need to recruit specialists in
design as well.

20. Do you agree with our proposals for implementing a fast-track for beauty?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Not Sure – as this proposal will depend on the detail that is yet to be worked up that would be
needed to make this a reality. Planning is a subjective profession and there is unlikely to be
consensus on what constitutes a beautiful design. Even if Design Codes are prepared, there will be
grey areas as site specific circumstances must be taken into account. Reliance on pattern books,
design codes or prior approval may result in standard forms of development which will remove
variety and innovation, impacting on the likelihood of creating beautiful spaces.

Pillar Three – Planning for infrastructure and connected places
21. When new development happens in your area, what is your priority for what comes with it?

Page 227

[More affordable housing / More or better infrastructure (such as transport, schools, health
provision) / Design of new buildings / More shops and/or employment space / Green space / Don’t
know / Other – please specify]
Other – all of the above. In order to deliver a sustainable development, all of the options provided
as an answer to this question are needed, and no single one should be given over-riding priority
unless there is an acute need for it in a specific circumstance. The Council has a concern that the
proposals in the White Paper will force a choice between some of the above in specific
developments / areas, and this will therefore lead to development that is not sustainable.

22(a). Should the Government replace the Community Infrastructure Levy and Section 106 planning
obligations with a new consolidated Infrastructure Levy, which is charged as a fixed proportion of
development value above a set threshold?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Not sure.
CIL is by no means perfect, and is more complicated than was perhaps intended. S106s can take time
to negotiate, although as the recent study led by the University of Liverpool
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/section-106-planning-obligations-and-thecommunity-infrastructure-levy-in-england-2018-to-2019-report-of-study) stated, this is perhaps
'unavoidable' delay, rather than 'avoidable' delay. A simplified levy would be welcome. However,
there are concerns with the proposals for the proposed Infrastructure Levy, including the
assumptions that it would help address the following issues:
[The IL would] Be charged on the final value of a development, or an assessment of the sales value
where the development is not sold, based on the rate at the point planning permission is granted:
This generates questions of reliability of expected final values (i.e. will a developer undervalue, what
happens if the planning permission is not built for a few years and values increase/decrease in that
time) and complexities of calculation (what happens if house types are latterly substituted post
approval – the current CIL abatement process gets very complicated in relation to varying index
rates, transitional arrangements and the effects of the type of planning permission used to make any
variations). Would high quality design developments pay more than a poorer quality scheme? What
about sites including abnormal costs?
Be levied at point of occupation, with prevention of occupation being a potential sanction for nonpayment: The current CIL payment trigger is commencement, and this is a much easier point to
monitor than occupation. A monitoring officer (or, if transparency is truly sought, a member of the
public) can easily determine whether a site has started or not. It is much harder to monitor and
assess occupation – not everyone will notify through relevant processes (e.g. council tax, electoral
roll) and it is not always clear 'from the outside' of the property.
There is no information provided on what "occupation" is to be defined as – for example, on a 1000
house development, is payment due on occupation of the first or 1000th dwelling, and how is this
affected by any relevant phasing? What happens if one unit out of 1000 is forever left unoccupied to
avoid payment of the IL (CIL can run to millions on one site so just leaving one house unoccupied
would deliver a significant saving)?

Page 228

Whilst 'prevention of occupation' is identified as a potential sanction for non-payment, no details of
how this sanction would be enforced, or due monies recovered, are provided. Currently, under CIL,
payment is due following commencement, which enables enforcement action to be taken to stop
development until payment is received. Often the threat of stopping development is enough to
generate payment. However, under the IL proposals, this 'threat' of enforcing payment would not
exist because the payment would only be due upon completion of units, meaning LAs would need to
pursue unpaid due amounts via legal action – creating additional costs, time and resources.
Requiring payment at later stages of a development build, also increases the risks for LAs with
regards borrowing for infrastructure delivery. Often significant infrastructure needs to be delivered
upfront, or alongside development, not after. There is a lack of information from the government
with regards where/who this money is borrowed from, and at what rates of interest / repayment
plans etc.
Payment should remain due at the point of commencement, subject to instalment periods.
Include a value-based minimum threshold below which the levy is not charged, to prevent low
viability development becoming unviable, reflecting average build costs per sqm, with a small, fixed
allowance for land costs. Where the value of development is below the threshold, no levy would be
charged. Where the value of the development is above the threshold, the levy would only be charged
on the proportion of the value that exceeded the threshold:
Concern relates to how the threshold is to be set, as there is insufficient detail provided as to how
the IL flat rate would be calculated, and how this would affect viability. Critically, viability varies at a
sub-local level, with different parts of the LA area affected by different viability rates – there is no
detail as to how these differences would be identified and calculated at appropriate lower levels.
It is acknowledged that low value development can be rendered unviable through the imposition of
a levy, although that development can still have impacts on infrastructure. In areas of poor viability,
where no IL could be charged, and the introduction of the IL removes the ability to secure
infrastructure through planning obligations, how would necessary infrastructure be secured,
including that to address site specific needs?
For example, as a result of a new development site coming forward, extra capacity is needed at a
local secondary school. Under S106, the LA could request this site specific need through a planning
obligation. Under the reforms, the cost of this would be collected via IL. However, not all areas will
be able to support an IL – so how is this need now to be funded? And S106s make an unacceptable
development acceptable – so from the developers perspective, without a S106 to secure an
education contribution, how are they now able to get planning permission? Even where IL is
charged, and collected, the education need now competes with many other equal needs across the
LA area / development sites, and its likelihood of delivery will be dependent on the level of IL
receipts generated and all other competing projects.
Provide greater certainty for communities and developers about what the level of developer
contributions are expected alongside new development: Current CIL Charging Schedules can appear
simple, but by the time you've factored in indexation, Neighbourhood CIL splits dependent on
whether there is Neighbourhood Plan or not, splits across parish areas, parish capping,
Neighbourhood CIL payment transfers across financial years, abatement, transitional arrangements
and the various exemptions granted through the regulations, it's not a clear, transparent or 'certain'
process. Current reporting requirements are too onerous and complicated, skewing and confusing

Page 229

information. Any new IL should ensure it is simple enough for communities and developers to
understand and be easy to manage and report.

22(b). Should the Infrastructure Levy rates be set nationally at a single rate, set nationally at an areaspecific rate, or set locally?
[Nationally at a single rate / Nationally at an area-specific rate / Locally]
Locally – the Council could not support a national rate as there is little information in the White
Paper about how this would work, and it is clear there is much variety in viability rates across the
country. Different parts of a district can have different levels of viability; how much more so is there
between different parts of England?
An IL should be led by information on land values / development viability which vary by (low-level)
locality and use. For example, financial returns on residential uses are typically expected to be
higher than other land uses, but this may be affected by the former use of the land or condition
(brownfield/greenfield) and the local housing market. As such, an Infrastructure Levy's rates should
be set locally to reflect local circumstances.

22(c). Should the Infrastructure Levy aim to capture the same amount of value overall, or more value,
to support greater investment in infrastructure, affordable housing and local communities?
[Same amount overall / More value / Less value / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
More value. Although this should be informed by local viability evidence and would depend on what
an area's current CIL charge / affordable housing policy is.
Ultimately, landowners see a remarkable return on land value when a planning permission is granted
compared to the existing use value, particularly if the site is greenfield and the planning permission
is for residential. More of this uplift in land value should be captured by an Infrastructure Levy to
enable greater investment in infrastructure, affordable housing and local communities.
If affordable housing can no longer be secured through planning obligations then the IL should at
least capture sufficient value to fund i) that affordable housing which would have been secured
through planning obligations AND ii) that additional value which would have been secured through
any CIL / other obligations. Otherwise, insufficient values will be created with which to fund
necessary infrastructure and affordable housing, and local authorities will be forced to choose
between the two, meaning that developments will not be sustainable.

22(d). Should we allow local authorities to borrow against the Infrastructure Levy, to support
infrastructure delivery in their area?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Yes – However, there is risk in this for local authorities, depending on how the IL is calculated and
implemented. To help reduce this risk, the point of payment by developers should be
commencement of development, not occupation, or possibly captured at the point of land sale,
directly from the landowner.

Page 230

23. Do you agree that the scope of the reformed Infrastructure Levy should capture changes of use
through permitted development rights?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Yes – changes of use can have an impact on local infrastructure and therefore should not be exempt
from contributions. However, the current process of CIL Notice of Chargeable Development does
not work well – there is too much reliance on the developer to notify changes through PD, or for the
local planning authority to identify potentially liable developments through prior-notifications, which
then often lack the information necessary to calculate a charge. Requiring developers to submit IL
information, as a validation requirement, with their prior-notification would allow LA's to better
ascertain and capture charges.
There are no details on how the IL would work to capture uplift in land value (either upwards or
downwards) arising from a change of use. Different start and end uses would vary the charge, as
would development on brownfield/greenfield sites. There is no information on what uses the charge
would be levied on – all or only some use classes, nor how this would be decided?

24(a). Do you agree that we should aim to secure at least the same amount of affordable housing
under the Infrastructure Levy, and as much on-site affordable provision, as at present?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Yes – ideally more affordable housing should be delivered (not less as the proposed reforms seek by
raising the threshold at which affordable housing is required).
However, this Council feels very strongly that affordable housing provision should not be merged
with an Infrastructure Levy. Affordable housing is not infrastructure, it is a range of housing tenures
that are specifically intended to meet identified affordable housing need.
While the White Paper proposals seek to ensure some affordable housing is provided on-site
(resulting in a deduction of IL received from those developments that do so), it shifts the onus onto
local councils to deliver affordable housing using financial contributions from the IL. This will
ultimately cost more to provide a similar amount of affordable housing, with local authorities (or
others acting on their behalf) having to identify and purchase land which is affordable and suitable
for building affordable housing on, the additional construction costs of establishing a separate
construction site(s) and additional competition for skilled labour for constructing new homes,
something which is already in short supply, driving up costs for that labour.
It is also important to note, that the existing proposal assumes there is local authority capacity and
an appropriate skillset to undertake or co-ordinate the use of IL to deliver affordable housing. It will
be inevitable that the delivery of affordable housing will slow down and the affordable housing
numbers achieved, in our opinion, will be less than those numbers that would be achieved under the
current system, due to the loss of economies of scale that an on-site contribution would provide.
Furthermore, those existing economies help subsidise the delivery of rented affordable housing
which would likely be more challenging to deliver if the current proposal was introduced, therefore
meaning that the provision of increased Homes England grant funding for genuinely affordable
homes to rent may become all the more important going forward.

Page 231

It is unclear whether it is proposed that any IL received in lieu of affordable housing on a particular
application site will be expected to be ring-fenced for the development of affordable housing in that
immediate locality or whether the IL received for affordable housing will be pooled and spent on
sites perhaps located somewhere else in the local authorities administrative area. If the latter, then
the local community located nearest to the application site may have concerns that an affordable
housing obligation, brought about by virtue of a development site in their area, is not providing the
full affordable housing obligation in their locality. Conversely, if the expectation is the former, then
the funds received, will likely be insufficient to develop a viable affordable housing scheme in the
general locality of the application site. This helps to demonstrate why financial contributions in lieu
of affordable housing are not the most appropriate solution in most parts of England.
The White Paper makes no mention of broader investment in social housing and provides no detail
on the role of local authority-led housing delivery. The proposal does not seem to take account of
the fact that providing affordable housing off-site also reduces the ability to mix housing tenures
within communities and provide "tenure blind" developments. This is not sustainable planning.
This Council is concerned that the proposal as it stands does not provide enough details to give
comfort that, in the absence of a Section 106 agreement, affordable housing of the right mix of
tenures, delivered to the right quality and in the right places, will be achieved.

24(b). Should affordable housing be secured as in-kind payment towards the Infrastructure Levy, or
as a ‘right to purchase’ at discounted rates for local authorities?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
No – affordable housing should be secured separately from the proposed Infrastructure Levy.

24(c). If an in-kind delivery approach is taken, should we mitigate against local authority
overpayment risk?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Yes

24(d). If an in-kind delivery approach is taken, are there additional steps that would need to be taken
to support affordable housing quality?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Not sure – this is unlikely to be necessary where on-site affordable housing provision is transferred
to a Registered Provider, but where (for example) discount market sales are handled by the
developer themselves, they must be required to ensure the discount market product is the same as
the market housing product. It would also depend on how much ability the local authority has to
require a certain mix of affordable tenures, to ensure all affordable and specialist housing needs are
met.

Page 232

25. Should local authorities have fewer restrictions over how they spend the Infrastructure Levy?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Yes – the IL should be spent on infrastructure only (not affordable housing), but the range of this
should be more flexible so as to allow use on a wider range of schemes etc. It is thought an 'excess'
of IL will be unlikely for most local authorities once core infrastructure obligations have been met.
The IL should not be used for things like reducing council tax payments - IL would be better spent on
funding infrastructure improvements.
It is noted that the Government intend to retain the 'neighbourhood share' to incentivise
communities to accept development. A number of research studies have shown this to be
ineffective, and CIL does not encourage communities to accept development. Moreover, in the
majority of cases, Neighbourhood CIL is not being effectively spent (often because the amounts
collected in a given area can be very small) and this simultaneously diminishes the amount of
revenue that local authorities have to spend on infrastructure delivery. It is strongly suggested that
the neighbourhood share should not be given to local councils – instead the Neighbourhood CIL
share should be retained and ring-fenced for spending in the community where the development
took place but managed by local planning authorities in conjunction with greater community
consultation – for example, utilising crowdfunding schemes to gain additional funding to top-up the
often small amounts of Neighbourhood CIL collected in an area.

25(a). If yes, should an affordable housing ‘ring-fence’ be developed?
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]
Yes – if affordable housing is to be secured solely through IL (though that approach is not supported
by this Council), a certain (minimum) proportion of IL should be ring-fenced for affordable housing
delivery to avoid competition with other projects/needs. This will, no doubt, create greater
complexity in the administration of the levy, in terms of further apportionment of receipts. For
example, how will the neighbourhood share relate to any monies ring-fenced for affordable housing,
or payments in kind for affordable housing? Similar technicalities relate to how affordable housing
provision will be offset against the levy.
However, such a ring-fenced approach may result in insufficient IL be collected for infrastructure (as
opposed to affordable housing), hence why this Council believes affordable housing provision should
be required separately from the IL, and both based on locally set requirements.

Equality Duty
27. Do you have any views on the potential impact of the proposals raised in this consultation on
people with protected characteristics as defined in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010?

Page 233

Ultimately, the proposals in the White Paper leave many questions to be answered over details of
how the proposals would be implemented, and this gives rise to concerns that the benefits (or
consequences) of a new system would not be felt equally by all. However, aside from ensuring
sufficient provision for the elderly, disabled and certain protected ethnic groups (e.g. Travellers),
planning decisions and development do not tend to impact people with protected characteristics
differently from other groups. The absence of any reference to Travellers in the White Paper is
concerning, especially as planning for this protected ethnic group can be extremely challenging.

Page 234

Changes to the Current Planning System August 2020
West Lancashire Borough Council Consultation Response (October 2020)

Standard Method
Q1: Do you agree that planning practice guidance should be amended to specify that the appropriate
baseline for the standard method is whichever is the higher of the level of 0.5% of housing stock in
each local authority area OR the latest household projections averaged over a 10-year period?
Yes – the household projections can be a flawed basis for setting a housing requirement for the
future, because they merely roll forward what has happened with household growth in the past.
That past household growth may have been unusually low or unusually high because of a variety of
reasons (e.g. recession, economic boom, specific local planning policy) and so would set an
inappropriate housing requirement going forward. As such, a better approach would be to use
existing housing stock as the sole starting point of the standard method calculation.
Utilising the existing housing stock level as a basis would be an appropriate alternative basis, as it is
reasonable to consider that an area should grow broadly in proportion to its existing housing stock
levels. However, the proposals in the Planning for the Future White Paper and this consultation on
the standard methodology are not clear what would happen where a local authority simply hasn't
got sufficient available and suitable sites for development to meet its housing requirement. This
scenario may happen more when using existing housing stock as a basis, as the larger, more densely
populated cities would inevitably have the highest housing requirements, but may not have
sufficient available land to meet those higher requirements, and so how would this housing need be
met?

Q2: In the stock element of the baseline, do you agree that 0.5% of existing stock for the standard
method is appropriate? If not, please explain why.
Yes

Q3: Do you agree that using the workplace-based median house price to median earnings ratio from
the most recent year for which data is available to adjust the standard method’s baseline is
appropriate? If not, please explain why.
Yes, although this inevitably puts more pressure on places like London and South-East, where
arguably there is insufficient land to meet those higher requirements. This then reinforces the
north-south divide in England, and so the standard methodology should also factor in the need to
overcome the north-south divide and re-distribute growth more equally across the country.

Q4: Do you agree that incorporating an adjustment for the change of affordability over 10 years is a
positive way to look at whether affordability has improved? If not, please explain why.
Yes

Page 235

Q5: Do you agree that affordability is given an appropriate weighting within the standard method? If
not, please explain why.
Yes, but it shouldn’t be the only factor, as per the Council's answer to Q3.

Do you agree that authorities should be planning having regard to their revised standard method
need figure, from the publication date of the revised guidance, with the exception of:
Q6: Authorities which are already at the second stage of the strategic plan consultation process
(Regulation 19), which should be given 6 months to submit their plan to the Planning Inspectorate for
examination?
Yes

Q7: Authorities close to publishing their second stage consultation (Regulation 19), which should be
given 3 months from the publication date of the revised guidance to publish their Regulation 19 plan,
and a further 6 months to submit their plan to the Planning Inspectorate?
If not, please explain why. Are there particular circumstances which need to be catered for?
Yes

First Homes
Q8: The Government is proposing policy compliant planning applications will deliver a minimum of
25% of onsite affordable housing as First Homes, and a minimum of 25% of offsite contributions
towards First Homes where appropriate.
Which do you think is the most appropriate option for the remaining 75% of affordable housing
secured through developer contributions? Please provide reasons and / or evidence for your views (if
possible):
i) Prioritising the replacement of affordable home ownership tenures, and delivering rental
tenures in the ratio set out in the local plan policy.
ii) Negotiation between a local authority and developer.
iii) Other (please specify)
The Council supports option (i). The Council does not see the need to specifically prioritise one
tenure over another in such a blanket policy manner. It should be up to the Local Authority to
determine, based on local housing need analysis, which type of affordable housing tenures are
required and then, within that tenure mix, to determine which particular affordable housing
products are appropriate.
If the First Homes proposal turns into working policy, then this Council would wish to see any
remaining affordable housing tenures still also delivered in line with local plan policy.
As a further point, if First Homes is introduced as proposed, then such homes should be delivered in
accordance with the National Described Space Standards, irrespective of whether a local plan policy
has set out space standards as part of its policy. In essence, if the First Homes policy is being

Page 236

introduced as a government "requirement", then it follows that the government should be keen to
ensure that its own space standards are being delivered in order to improve the quality of the
housing offer.
The Council assumes that there has been no change to the operation of First Homes as set out in the
First Homes consultation of February 2020, namely, that Sellers of First Homes will be required to
sell at the same level of discount to market price that applied at the initial purchase, and to another
eligible First Homes purchaser, where it is demonstrated that those households cannot ordinarily
afford to buy open market housing. The Council is supportive of an approach that ensures that First
Homes are available in perpetuity.

With regards to current exemptions from delivery of affordable home ownership products:
Q9: Should the existing exemptions from the requirement for affordable home ownership products
(e.g. for build to rent) also apply to apply to this First Homes requirement?
Yes – the existing exemption for build to rent schemes to provide home ownership products as part
of the housing offer on site should remain. It makes for a cleaner approach and such an approach
will assist with the overall management of the site, as opposed to a site being spilt between a build
to rent landlord and other parties.

Q10: Are any existing exemptions not required? If not, please set out which exemptions and why.
No comments to be provided.

Q11: Are any other exemptions needed? If so, please provide reasons and /or evidence for your
views.
Exemptions should apply on sites where extreme viability issues impact the site and the delivery of a
policy compliant affordable housing offer can only be realistically achieved by virtue of Homes
England grant (whether for rent, shared ownership or rent to buy) in the form of additionality being
achieved on a site.

Q12: Do you agree with the proposed approach to transitional arrangements set out above?
Broadly agree, but would suggest that local plans and neighbourhood plans that are submitted for
Examination within 12 months as opposed to 6 months of this new policy being enacted should not
need to reflect the First Homes policy requirements, given how such a late change in a proposed
Local Plan can be difficult after a Pre-Submission version of a Local Plan has been published for
representation.

Q13: Do you agree with the proposed approach to different levels of discount?
Yes, but would also point out that it may be necessary to vary the discount across different property
types provided using First Homes on a site by site basis if affordability / household income data
suggests such an approach is appropriate to address issues of affordable housing need.

Page 237

Q14: Do you agree with the approach of allowing a small proportion of market housing on First
Homes exception sites, in order to ensure site viability?
No. Where viability is an issue, then other Homes England funded tenures should be considered in
order to maximise the use of the site in terms of ensuring that all properties on the site are used to
meet affordable housing need. To allow cross subsidy from market housing may inadvertently raise
landowners' expectations in terms of a potential increased capital receipt from the land value.
There may be some mileage in exploring viability scenarios further. For example, is a site not viable
because of landowners' expectation of land value or is a site not viable because of site abnormals
attributed to the site itself, e.g. peat or other matters that are raising build costs such as the need
for the housing to look a certain way to satisfy a planning requirement. Notwithstanding our
comment above that no market housing should be provided, perhaps whether the approach is
acceptable or not could be linked to the "nature" of the viability scenario being presented.

Q15: Do you agree with the removal of the site size threshold set out in the National Planning Policy
Framework?
Yes. However, NPPF paragraph 71(b) should also be clarified in relation to where such a policy
stands in relation to Green Belt policy. In a borough like West Lancashire, which is over 90% Green
Belt, the Green Belt boundary is drawn tightly around existing settlements, and so, in West
Lancashire, the requirement for First Homes exception sites to be "adjacent to existing settlements"
would involve development on Green Belt. If exception sites are to be allowed in the Green Belt
(which paragraph 71(b) does not do so due to footnote 34), a site size threshold would be required
to ensure a proliferation of exception sites were not sought resulting in an over-delivery of housing
at the expense of the Green Belt. If they are not to be allowed in Green Belt, then a borough like
West Lancashire could not allow the development of exception sites across most of the borough or
on the edge of its most sustainable settlements.
The Council is also unsure how this exception sites policy would fit with the proposals for a zonal
planning system in the Planning for the Future White Paper. If an area is zoned for growth or
renewal, any housing development would be permitted, meaning that exception sites could only
come forward in areas zoned for protection from development. Many protection zones will be
protected because of a protected characteristic that is covered by footnote 34, and so exception
sites could not be brought forward.

Q16: Do you agree that the First Homes exception sites policy should not apply in designated rural
areas?
Yes – this would include on the edge of small villages inset into the Green Belt, as well as those
"washed over" by the Green Belt.

Page 238

Supporting SME Developers / Small Sites Policy
For each of these questions, please provide reasons and / or evidence for your views (if possible):
Q17: Do you agree with the proposed approach to raise the small sites threshold for a time-limited
period?
No – While the Council supports SME developers and the promotion of smaller development sites,
the experience in West Lancashire does not suggest that such developments have any difficulty in
delivering affordable housing or contributing towards infrastructure, Furthermore, cumulatively,
such sites and developments do add to the burden on infrastructure and form a substantial part of
the housing land supply in West Lancashire, so it is only appropriate that they continue to provide
affordable housing and contribute towards infrastructure.

Q18: What is the appropriate level of small sites threshold?
i) Up to 40 homes
ii) Up to 50 homes
iii) Other (please specify)
iii) Other – do not change the threshold, as there is no need at this time.

Q19: Do you agree with the proposed approach to the site size threshold?
See answer to Q17

Q20: Do you agree with linking the time-limited period to economic recovery and raising the
threshold for an initial period of 18 months?
See answer to Q17

Q21: Do you agree with the proposed approach to minimising threshold effects?
See answer to Q17

Q22: Do you agree with the Government’s proposed approach to setting thresholds in rural areas?
Yes – it is essential that the lower threshold is maintained for rural areas such as West Lancashire so
that it can be applied if necessary to deliver affordable housing in rural areas.

Q23: Are there any other ways in which the Government can support SME builders to deliver new
homes during the economic recovery period?
No further comments.

Page 239

Permission in Principle
Q24: Do you agree that the new Permission in Principle should remove the restriction on major
development?
No, because dealing with such applications still requires a certain level of information, which
currently is lacking upon submission of a PiP. The work involved in assessing such applications is still
great when matters such as drainage, ecology, highways, etc. are to be considered.

Q25: Should the new Permission in Principle for major development set any limit on the amount of
commercial development (providing housing still occupies the majority of the floorspace of the
overall scheme)? Please provide any comments in support of your views.
This would depend on the detail of how any new zoning system would work. For example, a growth
area may be zoned as such because the local planning authority sees it as an area for predominantly
housing growth or as an area for predominantly commercial development, but both could benefit
from PiP. In the latter, no limit should be set on commercial development, but in the former a limit
would be necessary. As such, it would be more appropriate to allow local planning authorities to set
any limit on commercial in design codes for specific growth or renewal areas as they prepare a newstyle zonal Local Plan.
Also, having no limit on commercial floorspace may have significant negative impacts on town
centres or have other wider implications and it would be difficult to assess this through PiP if there
was no limit on commercial development.

Q26: Do you agree with our proposal that information requirements for Permission in Principle by
application for major development should broadly remain unchanged? If you disagree, what changes
would you suggest and why?
Timescales are extremely tight dealing with a major PIP in 5 weeks and full consultation for only 14
days. The public perception would be that planning permission is just being rushed through. This is
especially the case given that the significant impact that highways, drainage etc. can have on a
development need to be considered fully at PiP stage.

Q27: Should there be an additional height parameter for Permission in Principle? Please provide
comments in support of your views.
Yes, as this is a critical element to assessing a development and its impact.

Q28: Do you agree that publicity arrangements for Permission in Principle by application should be
extended for large developments? If so, should local planning authorities be:
i) required to publish a notice in a local newspaper?
ii) subject to a general requirement to publicise the application or
iii) both?
iv) disagree

Page 240

If you disagree, please state your reasons.
ii) - The current publicity arrangements are outdated (as experienced in the current pandemic) and
we consider the best means of publicity would be advertising on the Council's website and through
social media.

Q29: Do you agree with our proposal for a banded fee structure based on a flat fee per hectarage,
with a maximum fee cap?
Agree there should be a banded fee but that the fee rate proposed is too low and does not cover
costs of the local planning authority considering the application.

Q30: What level of flat fee do you consider appropriate, and why?
More equivalent to existing fees for an outline planning application.

Q31: Do you agree that any brownfield site that is granted Permission in Principle through the
application process should be included in Part 2 of the Brownfield Land Register? If you disagree,
please state why.
Yes

Q32: What guidance would help support applicants and local planning authorities to make decisions
about Permission in Principle? Where possible, please set out any areas of guidance you consider are
currently lacking and would assist stakeholders.
Some form of guidance akin to the Permitted Development Technical Guidance would be helpful.

Q33: What costs and benefits do you envisage the proposed scheme would cause? Where you have
identified drawbacks, how might these be overcome?
No comments

Q34: To what extent do you consider landowners and developers are likely to use the proposed
measure? Please provide evidence where possible.
Use of PIP has been minimal, and it is unlikely that the new proposals will increase use significantly.

Page 241

Public Sector Equality Duty
Q35: In light of the proposals set out in this consultation, are there any direct or indirect impacts in
terms of eliminating unlawful discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity and fostering good
relations on people who share characteristics protected under the Public Sector Equality Duty?
If so, please specify the proposal and explain the impact. If there is an impact – are there any actions
which the department could take to mitigate that impact?
No comments

Page 242

